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NOTICE

NOTICE is hereby given that the One Hundred and Fifth 
Annual General Meeting of the Members of Alfred Herbert 
(India) Limited will be held on Friday, 5th September 2025 at 
10.30 a.m. through Video Conferencing (“VC”) / Other Audio 
Visual Means (“OAVM”) to transact the following business:-

ORDINARY BUSINESSES:

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited (Standalone 
and Consolidated) Financial Statements of the Company 
for the financial year ended 31st March, 2025, together 
with the Reports of the Board of Directors and the 
Auditors thereon; and 

2. To declare Dividend on Equity Shares for the Financial 
Year 2024-25.

3. To appoint a director in place of Mr. Aditya Vikram Lodha 
(DIN: 00036158), who retires by rotation and being 
eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

4. To consider and approve appointment of M/s Suprabhat 
& Co., Company Secretaries, as Secretarial Auditors of 
the Company for period of 5 consecutive years and if 
thought fit, pass with or without modification(s) the 
following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

 “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 
204 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with rules 
made thereunder and Regulation 24A of SEBI (Listing 
Regulations and Disclosures Requirements) Regulations, 
2015 (including any statutory modification(s) or re-
enactment thereof, for the time being in force) and 
on the recommendation of Board of Directors, the 
consent of the Members be and is hereby accorded to 
appoint M/s Suprabhat & Co., Company Secretaries as 
the Secretarial Auditors of the Company for period of 
5 consecutive years effective from Financial year 2025-
26 on such terms and conditions as may be decided by 
the Board of Directors of the Company subject to overall 
remuneration (excluding out of pocket expenses) of ` 
Rs.15,000/- (Rupees Fifteen Thousand only) per annum.”

By the Order of the Board of Directors
For Alfred Herbert (India) Ltd

DATE : 23rd May, 2025  Partha Pratim Das
Place : Kolkata Chief Executive Officer
     
   
NOTES:

1. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) vide its General 
Circular Nos. 14/2020 dated April 8, 2020 and 17/ 2020 
dated April 13, 2020, followed by General Circular Nos. 
20/2020 dated May 5, 2020, No.02/2021 dated January 
13, 2021, 19/2021 dated December 8, 2021, and No. 
21/2021 dated December 14, 2021, (collectively referred 
to as “MCA Circulars”) has permitted the holding of the 
annual general meeting through Video Conferencing 
(“VC”) or through other audio-visual means (“OAVM”), 
without the physical presence of the Members at a 

common venue. In compliance with the provisions 
of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”), SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015 (“Listing Regulations”) and MCA Circulars, the 
105th Annual General Meeting (“Meeting” or “AGM”) 
of the Company is being held through VC / OAVM on 
Friday, 5th September 2025 at 10.30 a.m. The deemed 
venue for the AGM shall be the Registered Office of the 
Company.

2. The Register of Members and the Share Transfer books 
of the Company will remain closed from Saturday, 30th 
August, 2025 to Friday, 5th September 2025 (both 
days inclusive) for annual closing and determining the 
entitlement of the shareholders to the dividend for 
2024-25.

3. A statement giving the relevant details of the 
Director seeking re-appointment under Item 3 of the 
accompanying Notice as required under Sub clause 3 
of Regulation 36 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, is annexed 
hereto.

4. Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, a Member entitled 
to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint a 
proxy to attend and vote on his/her behalf and the proxy 
need not be a Member of the Company. Since this AGM 
is being held pursuant to the MCA Circulars through 
VC / OAVM, physical attendance of Members has been 
dispensed with. Accordingly, the facility for appointment 
of proxies by the Members will not be available for the 
AGM and hence the Proxy Form and Attendance Slip are 
not annexed to this Notice.

5. Since the AGM will be held through VC/ OAVM, the route 
map of the venue of the Meeting is not annexed hereto.

6. In compliance with the MCA Circulars and SEBI Circular 
dated 15th January, 2021 read with Circular dated 12th 
May, 2020 and 3rd October, 2024 Notice of the AGM 
along with the Annual Report 2024-25 is being sent only 
through electronic mode to those Members whose e-mail 
address is registered with the Company/ Depository 
Participants. Members may note that the Notice and 
Annual Report 2024-25 will also be available on the 
Company’s website www.alfredherbert.co.in , website 
of the Stock Exchange i.e. BSE Limited at www.bseindia.
com respectively. The AGM Notice is also disseminated 
on the website of CDSL (agency for providing the Remote 
e-Voting facility and e-voting system during the AGM) 
i.e., www.evotingindia.com.

7. For receiving all communication (including Annual 
Report) from the Company electronically:

a) Members holding shares in physical mode and who have 
not registered / updated their e-mail address with the 
Company are requested to register / update the same by 
writing to the Company with details of folio number and 
attaching a self-attested copy of PAN card at kolkata@
alfredherbert.com. 

b) Members holding shares in dematerialized mode are 
requested to register / update their e-mail address with 
the relevant Depository Participant.
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8. Dividend on Equity Shares when sanctioned will be made 
payable to those shareholders whose name stand on 
the Company’s Register of Members as on the end of 
business hours on Friday, 29th August, 2025. In respect 
of shares held in electronic form, the dividend will be 
paid on the basis of beneficial ownership as per details 
furnished by the Depositories for this purpose. Dividend 
on Equity Shares, if declared at the Meeting will be paid/
dispatched on and from Saturday, 6th September 2025.

9. Members holding shares in electronic form are hereby 
informed that Bank particulars registered against their 
respective depository accounts will be used by the 
Company for payment of dividend. The Company or its 
Registrars cannot act on any request received directly 
from the Members holding shares in electronic form 
for any change of Bank particulars or changing bank 
particulars already registered against their respective 
folios for payment of dividend are requested to write to 
the Company’s Registrar.

10. In accordance with the proviso to Regulation 40(1) 
of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015, effective from 1st April, 2019, transfers of 
securities of the Company shall not be processed unless 
the securities are held in the dematerialized form with 
a depository. Accordingly, shareholders holding equity 
shares in physical form are urged to have their shares 
dematerialized so as to be able to freely transfer them.

11. The Members can join the AGM in the VC/OAVM mode 
15 minutes before and after the scheduled time of 
the commencement of the Meeting by following the 
procedure mentioned in the Notice.

12. Non-resident Indian shareholders are requested to inform 
about the following immediately to the Company or its 
Registrar and Share Transfer Agent or the concerned 
Depository Participant(s), as the case may be:

 a)  the change in the residential status on return to India for 
permanent settlement, and 

 b)  the particulars of the NRE account with a Bank in India, if 
not furnished earlier.

13. Members are requested to note that, dividends if not 
encashed for a consecutive period of 7 years from the 
date of transfer to Unpaid Dividend Account of the 
Company, are liable to be transferred to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund (“IEPF”). The shares in 
respect of such unclaimed dividends are also liable to be 
transferred to the Demat account of the IEPF Authority. 
In view of this, Members are requested to claim their 
dividends from the Company, within the stipulated 
timeline. The Members, whose unclaimed dividends/
shares have been transferred to IEPF, may claim the same 
by making an online application to the IEPF Authority in 
web Form No. IEPF-5 available on www.iepf.gov.in.

14. Members attending the AGM through VC / OAVM shall 
be counted for the purpose of reckoning the quorum 
under Section 103 of the Act.

15. Pursuant to Finance Act 2020, dividend income will be 

taxable in the hands of shareholders w.e.f. 1st April, 2020 
and the Company is required to deduct tax at source 
from dividend paid to shareholders at the prescribed 
rates. For the prescribed rates for various categories, 
the shareholders are requested to refer to the Finance 
Act, 2020 and amendments thereof. The shareholders 
are requested to update their PAN with the Company (in 
case of shares held in physical mode) and depositories 
(in case of shares held in Demat mode). 

 A Resident individual shareholder with PAN and who 
is not liable to pay Income Tax can submit a yearly 
declaration in Form No. 15G/15H, to avail the benefit of 
non-deduction of tax at source by visiting the link www.
mdpl.in/form. Shareholders are requested to note that in 
case their PAN is not registered, the tax will be deducted 
at a higher rate of 20%. 

 Non-resident shareholders can avail beneficial rates 
under tax treaty between India and their country of 
residence, subject to providing necessary documents i.e. 
No Permanent Establishment and Beneficial Ownership 
Declaration, Tax Residency Certificate, Form 10F, any 
other document which may be required to avail the tax 
treaty benefits by visiting the link www.mdpl.in/form. 
The aforesaid declarations and documents need to be 
submitted by the shareholders by Friday, 22nd August 
2025.

 No TDS will be deducted in case of resident individual 
shareholders who furnish their PAN details and whose 
dividend does not exceed Rs. 10,000/-. However, 
where the PAN is not updated in Company/ Depository 
Participant records or in case of an invalid PAN, the 
Company will deduct TDS u/s 194 without considering 
the exemption limit of  Rs. 10,000/-.

 All the shareholders are requested to update their PAN 
with their Depository Participant (if shares are held 
in electronic form) and Company (if shares are held 
in physical form) against all their folio holdings at the 
earliest.

16. The Register of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel 
and their shareholding maintained under Section 170 
of the Act, the Register of Contracts or Arrangements 
in which the Directors are interested, maintained under 
Section 189 of the Act, and the relevant documents 
referred to in the Notice will be available for inspection 
by the Members.

 Members seeking any information with regard to the 
accounts or any matter to be placed at the AGM, are 
requested to write to the Company on or before Friday, 
22nd August, 2025 by sending e-mail at kolkata@
alfredherbert.com. The same will be replied by the 
Company suitably.

17. Instructions for e-voting and joining the AGM are as 
follows:

A. VOTING THROUGH ELECTRONIC MEANS

i. Pursuant to the provisions of Section 108 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 20 of the 
Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 



4

2014 (as amended) and Regulation 44 of SEBI (Listing 
Obligations & Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 
2015 (as amended), and MCA Circulars dated 8th April, 
2020, 13th April, 2020 and 5th May, 2020 the Company 
is providing facility of remote e-voting to its Members 
in respect of the business to be transacted at the AGM. 
For this purpose, the Company has entered into an 
agreement with Central Depository Services (India) 
Limited (CDSL) for facilitating voting through electronic 
means, as the authorized e-Voting’s agency. The facility 
of casting votes by a member using remote e-voting as 
well as the e-voting system on the date of the AGM will 
be provided by CDSL.

ii. The Board of Directors of the Company has appointed 
Mr. Abhijeet Jain (Membership No. FCS 4975) Proprietor 
of M/s A J & Associates, Company Secretaries as the 
Scrutinizer to scrutinize the e-voting process in a fair 
and transparent manner and he has communicated his 
willingness to be appointed and will be available for the 
same purpose.

iii. The Members who have cast their vote by remote 
e-voting prior to the AGM may also attend/ participate in 
the AGM through VC / OAVM but shall not be entitled to 
cast their vote again. 

iv. The voting rights shall be reckoned on the Paid Up value 
of the shares registered in the name of the Member/ 
Beneficial Owner (in case of electronic shareholding) as 
on the cut-off date i.e.  Friday, 29th August, 2025.

v. The Scrutinizer, after scrutinizing the votes cast at the 
Meeting and through e-voting, will, not later than 2 
days of conclusion of the Meeting, make a consolidated 
scrutinizer’s report and submit the same to the Chairman. 
The results declared along with the consolidated 
scrutinizer’s report shall be placed on the website of the 
Company www.alfredherbert.co.in and on the website 
of CDSL www.evotingindia.com . The results shall 

simultaneously be communicated to the Stock Exchange.

vi. The instructions for shareholders voting electronically 

are as under:

 • The remote e-voting period commences on Tuesday, 

2nd September, 2025 at 10:00 a.m. and ends on 

Thursday, 4th September, 2025 at 5.00 p.m. During 

this period, Members of the Company, holding shares 

either in physical form or in dematerialized form, as on 

the cut-off date of Friday, 29th August, 2025, may cast 

their votes electronically as per the process detailed 

in this Notice. The remote e-voting module shall be 

disabled for voting thereafter. Once the vote on a 

resolution(s) is cast by the Member, the Member shall 

not be allowed to change it subsequently. A person 

who is not a Member as on the cut-off date should 

treat this Notice for information purposes only.

 • The voting rights of Members shall be in proportion 

to their share of the paid-up equity share capital of 

the Company as on the cut-off date i.e. Friday, 29th 

August, 2025.

 • Members who are unable to retrieve User ID/Password 

are advised to use “Forgot User ID”/“Forgot Password” 

options available on the websites of Depositories/

Depository Participants.

 • On the voting page, enter the number of shares 

(which represents the number of votes) as on the 

cut-off date Friday, 29th, August 2025   under “FOR/

AGAINST” for each item of the notice separately or 

alternatively, you may partially enter any number 

“FOR” and partially “AGAINST” but the total number 

in “FOR/AGAINST” taken together shall not exceed 

your total shareholding as on the Cut-off date. You 

may also choose the option “ABSTAIN”. If the Member 

does not indicate either “FOR” or “AGAINST”, it will be 

treated as “ABSTAIN” and the shares held will not be 

counted under either head.

 • Members holding multiple folios/demat accounts shall 

choose the voting process separately for each folio/ 

demat account.

 • You can also update your mobile number and e-mail 

id in the user profile details of the folio which may be 
used for sending future communication(s).

 • As per circular of SEBI on e-Voting Facility provided 

by Listed Entities, dated 9th December, 2020, all 

“individual shareholders holding shares of the 

Company in demat mode” can cast their vote, by 

way of a single login credential, through their demat 

accounts / websites of Depositories / Depository 

Participants. The procedure to login and access remote 

e-voting, as devised by the Depositories / Depository 

Participant(s):

National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL) Central Depository Services Limited (CDSL)

1.  Users already registered for IDeAS e-Services facility of 

NSDL may follow the following procedure:

i. Type in the browser / Click on the following e-Services link: 

https://eservices.nsdl.com 

ii.  Click on the button “Beneficial Owner” available for login 
under ‘IDeAS’ section.

iii. A new page will open. Enter your User ID and Password 

for accessing IDeAS.

Users already registered for Easi / Easiest facility of CDSL may 

follow the following procedure: 

i.    Type in the browser / Click on any of the following links:         

      https:// web.cdslindia.com/myeasi/home/login

      or

      www.cdslindia.com  and click on New System Myeasi / Login 

to My Easi option under Quick Login (best operational in 

Internet Explorer 10 or above and Mozilla Firefox)
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iv.  On successful authentication, you will enter your IDeAS 

service login. Click on “Access to e-Voting” under Value 

Added Services on the panel available on the left hand 

side.

v. Click on “Active E-voting Cycles” option under E-voting.

vi. You will see Company Name: “ALFRED HERBERT (INDIA) 

LIMITED” on the next screen. Click on the e-Voting link 

available against ALFRED HERBERT (INDIA) LIMITED and 

you will be re-directed to the e-Voting page to cast your 

vote without any further authentication.

vii. Members who have not registered for IDeAS facility may 

follow the below steps:

a)   To register for this facility, visit the URL: https://eservices.

nsdl.com 

b)   On the home page, select “Register Online for IDeAS”

c) On completion of the registration formality, follow the 

steps provided above.

viii. Members may alternatively vote through the e-voting 

website of NSDL in the manner specified below: 

a) Visit the URL: https://www.evoting.nsdl.com 

b)    Click on the “Login” icon available under the “Shareholder/

Member” section. 

c)    Enter User ID (i.e. 16-digit demat account number 

held with NSDL), Password/OTP, as applicable, and the 

verification code shown on the screen. 

d)   Post successful authentication, you will be redirected to 

the NSDL IDeAS site wherein you can see the e-voting 

page.

e)   Click on company name or e-Voting service provider name 

i.e. NSDL and you will be redirected to NSDL website for 

casting your vote.

ix. For any technical assistance, Members may contact NSDL 

helpdesk by writing to evoting@nsdl.co.in  or calling the 

toll free no.: 18001020990 or 1800224430.

ii.   Enter your User ID and Password for accessing Easi / Easiest. 

iii.  You will see Company Name: “ALFRED HERBERT (INDIA) 

LIMITED” on the next screen. Click on the e-Voting link 

available against ALFRED HERBERT (INDIA) LIMITED and 

you will be re-directed to the e-Voting page to cast your 

vote without any further authentication.

iv. Members who have not registered for Easi/ Easiest facility 

may follow the below steps:

a) To register for this facility, visit the URL:https://web.

cdslindia.com/myeasi/Registration/EasiRegistration.

 b) On completion of the registration formality, follow the 

steps provided above.

v.  Members may alternatively vote through the e voting 

website of CDSL in the manner specified below: 

a) Visit the URL: www.cdslindia.com

b)   Enter the demat account number and

      PAN

c)    Enter OTP received on mobile number and email registered 

with the demat account for authentication.

d)  Post successful authentication, the member will receive 

links for the respective e-voting service provider i.e. CDSL 

where the e-voting is in progress.

vi.  For any technical assistance, Members may contact CDSL 

helpdesk by writing to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com  

or calling at 022-23058738 or 022- 23058542-43.

vii. Login method for e-voting and joining virtual meeting for shareholders other than individual shareholders holding in 
demat form & physical shareholders.

1) The shareholders should log on to the e-voting website www.evotingindia.com.

2) Click on “Shareholders” module.

3) Now enter your User ID

 a. For CDSL: 16 digits beneficiary ID, 

 b. For NSDL: 8 Character DP ID followed by 8 Digits Client ID, 

 c. Shareholders holding shares in Physical Form should enter Folio Number registered with the Company.

4) Next enter the Image Verification as displayed and Click on Login.

5) If you are holding shares in demat form and had logged on to www.evotingindia.com and voted on an earlier e-voting of 
any company, then your existing password is to be used.
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6) If you are a first-time user follow the steps given below:

For Shareholders holding shares in Demat 

Form other than individual and Physical Form

PAN Enter your 10 digit alpha-numeric *PAN 

issued by Income Tax Department (Applicable 

for both demat shareholders as well as 

physical shareholders)

• Shareholders who have not updated 

their PAN with the Company/Depository 

Participant are requested to use the 

sequence number sent by Company/RTA 

or contact Company/RTA.

Dividend 

Bank Details 

OR Date of 

Birth (DOB)

Enter the Dividend Bank Details or Date of 

Birth (in dd/mm/yyyy format) as recorded 

in your demat account or in the company 

records in order to login.

•  If both the details are not recorded with 

the depository or company, please enter 

the member id / folio number in the 

Dividend Bank details field as mentioned 

in instruction (v).

7) After entering these details appropriately, click on 

“SUBMIT” tab.

8) Shareholders holding shares in physical form will then 

directly reach the Company selection screen. However, 

shareholders holding shares in demat form will now 

reach ‘Password Creation’ menu wherein they are 

required to mandatorily enter their login password in 

the new password field. Kindly note that this password 

is to be also used by the demat holders for voting for 

resolutions of any other company on which they are 

eligible to vote, provided that company opts for e-voting 

through CDSL platform. It is strongly recommended not 

to share your password with any other person and take 

utmost care to keep your password confidential.

9) For shareholders holding shares in physical form, the 

details can be used only for e-voting on the resolutions 

contained in this Notice.

10) Click on the EVSN for the “ALFRED HERBERT (INDIA) 

LIMITED” on which you choose to vote.

11) On the voting page, you will see “RESOLUTION 

DESCRIPTION” and against the same the option “YES/

NO” for voting. Select the option YES or NO as desired. 

The option YES implies that you assent to the Resolution 

and option NO implies that you dissent to the Resolution.

12) Click on the “RESOLUTIONS FILE LINK” if you wish to view 

the entire Resolution details.

13) After selecting the resolution, you have decided to 

vote on, click on “SUBMIT”. A confirmation box will 

be displayed. If you wish to confirm your vote, click on 

“OK”, else to change your vote, click on “CANCEL” and 

accordingly modify your vote.

14) Once you “CONFIRM” your vote on the resolution, you 

will not be allowed to modify your vote.

15) You can also take a print of the votes cast by clicking on 

“Click here to print” option on the Voting page.

16) If a demat account holder has forgotten the login 

password then Enter the User ID and the image 

verification code and click on Forgot Password & enter 

the details as prompted by the system.

viii. Note for non-individual shareholders and custodians:

* Non-individual shareholders (i.e. other than individuals, 

HUF, NRI etc.) and Custodian are required to log on to www.

evotingindia.com  and register themselves as Corporates.

*A scanned copy of the Registration Form bearing the stamp 

and sign of the entity should be emailed to helpdesk.evoting@

cdslindia.com.

* After receiving the login details a Compliance User should be 

created using the admin login and password.  The Compliance 

User would be able to link the account(s) for which they wish 

to vote on

* The list of accounts linked in the login should be mailed 

to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com   and on approval of the 

accounts they would be able to cast their vote.

*   A scanned copy of the Board Resolution and Power of 

Attorney (POA) which they have issued in favour of the 

Custodian, if any, should be uploaded in PDF format in the 

system for the scrutinizer to verify the same.

In case you have any queries or issues regarding e-voting, 

you may refer the Frequently Asked Questions (“FAQS”) and 

e-voting manual available at www.evotingindia.com  under 

help section or write an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.

com. 

ix. The instructions for attending the AGM through VC/

OAVM

 • The Company has opted to provide the same electronic 
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voting system at the Meeting, as used during remote 

e-voting, and the said facility shall be operational till all 

the resolutions proposed in the Notice are considered 

and voted upon at the Meeting and may be used for 

voting only by the Members holding shares as on the 

Cutoff Date who are attending the Meeting and who 

have not already cast their vote(s) through remote 

e-voting.

 • Shareholder will be provided with a facility to attend 

the AGM through VC/OAVM through the CDSL e-Voting 

system. Shareholders may access the same at https://

www.evotingindia.com under shareholders/members 

login by using the remote e-voting credentials. The link 

for VC/OAVM will be available in shareholder/members 

login where the EVSN of Company will be displayed.

 • The facility for joining the AGM shall open 15 minutes 

before the scheduled time for commencement of the 

AGM and shall be closed after the expiry of 15 minutes 

after such scheduled time.

 • Members are encouraged to join the Meeting using 

Google Chrome (preferred browser), Safari, Internet 

Explorer, Microsoft Edge or Mozilla Firefox 22.

 • Members are advised to use stable Wi-Fi or LAN 

connection to participate at the AGM through VC in a 

smooth manner. Participants may experience audio/

video loss due to fluctuation in their respective networks.

 •  Shareholders who would like to express their views or 

ask questions during the AGM may register themselves 

as a speaker by sending their request from their 

registered email address mentioning their name, DPID 

and Client ID/Folio No. at kolkata@alfredherbert.com 

from Tuesday, 2nd September, 2025 (10:00 a.m.) and 

upto Wednesday, 3rd September, 2025 (5:00 p.m.). 

Those Members who have registered themselves as a 

speaker will only be allowed to express their views/ask 

questions during the AGM. The Company reserves the 

right to restrict the number of speakers depending on 

the availability of time for the AGM. Those shareholders 

who have registered themselves as a speaker will only be 

allowed to express their views/ask questions during the 

meeting.

x. Process for those shareholders whose email/mobile 

no. are not registered with the Company/Depositories.

1. For Physical shareholders- please provide necessary 

details like Folio No., Name of shareholder, scanned 

copy of the share certificate (front and back), PAN (self-

attested scanned copy of PAN card), AADHAR (self-

attested scanned copy of Aadhaar Card) by sending an 

email to Company at kolkata@alfredherbert.com or by 

visiting the link of the RTA at https://mdpl.in/form/email-

update

2. For Demat shareholders - Please update your email id & 

mobile no. with your respective Depository Participant 

(DP).

3. For Individual Demat shareholders – Please update your 

email id & mobile no. with your respective Depository 

Participant (DP) which is mandatory while e-Voting & 

joining virtual meetings through Depository.

4. For Individual Shareholders holding Securities in demat 

mode with NSDL

 For OTP based login click on https://eservices.nsdl.

com/SecureWeb/evoting/evotinglogin.jsp. Shareholder 

will have to enter 8-digit DP ID, 8-digit Client ID, PAN 

No., Verification code and generate OTP. Enter the 

OTP received on registered email id/ mobile number 

and click on login. After successful authentication, 

shareholder will be redirected to NSDL Depository site 

wherein shareholder can see e-Voting page. Click on 

company name or e-Voting service provider name and 

the shareholder will be re-directed to e-Voting service 

provider website for casting the vote during the remote 

e-Voting period or joining virtual meeting & voting 

during the meeting.
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ANNEXURE TO ITEM NO 3 OF THE NOTICE

Details of Director seeking re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting (in pursuance of Sub-clause 3 of Regulation 

36 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulation, 2015 of the Listing Agreement (As on 31st March, 2025)

Name of Director Aditya Vikram Lodha

Director Identification Number (DIN) 00036158

Date of Birth 11th October 1965

Nationality Indian

Date of Appointment on the Board 24th September, 1987

Qualification Chartered Accountant

Expertise He has over 33 years of experience in providing advisory services to diverse 

client base across a wide spectrum of industries. He has handled various 

consultancy assignments in fields of Corporate restructuring, mergers & 

acquisitions, joint ventures, collaborations, business strategy etc. He has 

also assisted Large Indian Corporate to raise resources from the overseas 

capital markets.

Mr. Lodha served as the President of the Indian Chamber of Commerce (ICC), 

Kolkata twice i.e. in 1998-99 and in 2001-02 in its 75th year Platinum Jubilee 

year as well as the Chairman of its Banking and Finance Committee. He has 

also served as a Member of the National Council of CII (Confederation of 

Indian Industry) and was National Committee Chairman of its Accounting 

Standards & Corporate Disclosures and tax committees. He served as 

a member of the High level Naresh Chandra Committee for Corporate 

Audit & Governance, appointed by the Government of India, governing 

body of Indian Council of Arbitration. Governing Council of the Central 

Manufacturing, Technology Institute, Bangalore, Peer Review Board of 

Institute of Chartered Accountants of India,  Industrial Development Bank of 

India’s eastern regional Advisory Board, State Advisory Board on Investment 

Promotion in Tripura and was the Honorary Secretary of the Alumnorum 

Societies, the Old Boys association of St. Xavier’s Collegiate School, Kolkata.

Mr. Lodha is the Chairman of Alfred Herbert (India) Limited. 

Shareholding in AHIL 38043 Shares

List of Directorship held in other Companies 

(excluding foreign, private and Section 8 

Companies)

Graphite India Limited

Memberships / Chairmanships of  Committees 

across Public Companies

Member Audit Committee & Investment Committee: Graphite India Limited 

Nomination & Remuneration Committee: Alfred Herbert (India) Limited

Relationship between Directors inter-se Brother of Mr. H V Lodha and husband of Mrs. Simika Lodha.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their One Hundred Fifth Annual Report with the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended March 
31, 2025. The Financial Results are as under:

(Rs. in lakhs)

Particulars Standalone Consolidated

For the year 
ended

31st March 2025

For the year 
ended

31st March 2024

For the year 
ended

31st March 2025

For the year 
ended

31st March 2024

Profit before Tax and Exceptional items 695.22 52.71 711.47 51.43

Exceptional Items - - - -

Provision for Tax (including deferred tax) 72.18 (19.55) 76.75 (16.04)

Profit after Tax 623.04 72.26 634.72 67.47

Surplus from earlier years brought forward 1478.82 1547.28 1574.12 1649.69

Amount available for Appropriation 2101.86 1619.54 2208.84 1717.16

Appropriations:

       Dividend 30.86 27.00 30.86 27.00

General Reserve 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00

Special Reserve       124.61 14.45 127.31 16.77

1846.39 1478.09 1950.67 1573.39

Transfer to Retained Earnings 1.78 0.73 1.78 0.73

Surplus carried to Balance Sheet 1848.17 1478.82 1952.45 1574.12

Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2025 have been 

prepared in conformity with Indian Accounting Standards 

(‘Ind AS’) notified under section 133 of Companies Act, 
2013(“the Act”) read with Companies (Indian Accounting 

Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended by Companies (Indian 

Accounting Standards) Rules, 2016 from 1st April, 2019, 

leading to major changes in the Accounting policies.

OPERATIONS

The Standalone Operating Income of the Company is derived 

from a mix of dividend, interest income, rental income and 

capital gains from sale of investment property.

The Company’s gross income for the financial year ended 31st 
March 2025 stood at Rs. 1025.23 lakhs as against Rs. 195.05 

lakhs in 2023-24. Profit before tax stood at Rs. 695.22 lakhs in 
2024-25 as against Rs. 52.71 lakhs profit before tax in 2023-
24. Profit after tax of the Company stood at Rs. 623.04 lakhs 
as against Rs. 72.26 lakhs in 2023-24.  As on 31st March, 

2025 other comprehensive income net of tax amounted to Rs. 

(686.33) lakhs for the year. The profit realized on sale of some 
non-current investments was transferred to Retained earnings 

in conformity with the Accounting Standards.

The Company has completed development of its property 

in Kolkata and has received the completion certificate from 
Kolkata Municipal Corporation dated 30th May, 2024. 

Though the building was initially constructed for own use by 

the company, after careful consideration of the requirements 

it was decided that some floors of the same may be sold 
to unlock value. Accordingly, one floor of the building was 

sold during the period under review.The Building has been 

certified as Platinum Green Building by LEED.

DIVIDEND

Your Directors take pleasure in recommending for approval 

of the payment of Dividend of Rs. 5 (per share) on 7,71,429 

Equity Shares of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 

2025 subject to the approval of the Members in the 105th 

Annual General Meeting of the Company.

TRANSFER TO RESERVES

The Company has transferred Rs.100 lakhs to the General 

Reserve Account and Rs. 124.61 lakhs to the Special Reserve 

Account.

CHANGE IN NATURE OF BUSINESS

There has been no change in the nature of business of the 

Company during the financial year 2024-25.

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD

Four meetings of the Board were held during the year under 

review. For details of meetings of the Board, please refer to 

the Corporate Governance Report, which is a part of this 

report. The intervening gap between the meetings was within 

the period prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013. 

ANNUAL RETURN

Pursuant to Section 92(3) read with Section 134(3)(a) of the 

Act, the Annual Return as on March 31, 2025 is available on 

the Company’s website at www.alfredherbert.co.in. 
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DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, Mr. 

A. V. Lodha, Director, retires by rotation and being eligible, 

offers himself for re-appointment. Based on the performance 

evaluation and recommendation of the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee, the Board recommends his 

reappointment. A resolution seeking shareholders’ approval 

for his re-appointment forms part of the notice.

During the year under review, the following changes took 

place in the Office of Key Managerial Personnel (KMP)

• Mr. Vikram Matta ceased to be the CEO of the Company 

with effect from 31.05.2024 and Mr. Partha Pratim Das 

was appointed in his place with effect from 01.06.2024

• Mrs. Shobhana Sethi ceased to be the CFO and Company 

Secretary of the Company with effect from 08.11.2024 and 

Mr. Ananda Bhattacharyya was appointed in her place with 

effect from 09.11.2024

Pursuant to the Provisions of Section 203 of the Companies 

Act 2013, the Key Managerial Personnels of the Company as 

on March 31, 2025 are

- Mr. Partha Pratim Das – Chief Executive Officer

- Mr. Ananda Bhattacharyya – Chief Financial Officer and 
Company Secretary

INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS AND THEIR DECLARATION OF 

INDEPENDENCE

As on 31st March, 2025, Mr. Ashish Poddar, Mr. P K Madappa 

and Mrs. Alka Bhandari are the Independent Directors of the 

Company appointed pursuant to the provisions of Section 

149 of the Companies Act 2013 and Listing Regulations as 

per SEBI.   Each Independent Director has confirmed to the 
Company that he or she meets the criteria of independence 

as provided in Section 149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 

and Regulation 16 (1)(b) of the Listing Regulations. There 

has been no change in circumstances which may affect their 

status as an Independent Director during the year, which had 

been considered and taken on record by the Board.

All the Independent Directors are registered in the database 

maintained with Indian Institute of Corporate Affairs (IICA). 

In the opinion of the board, all the Independent Directors are 

persons of integrity and possess the relevant expertise and 

experience (including proficiency) as required under the Act 
and the Rules made thereunder. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS:

The Shareholders have been aware that since Financial 

Year 2019-2020 the Presentation of your Company’s 

Financial Statements have significantly changed with the 
implementation of IND AS.   Under IND AS, profit or loss on 
actual sale of Equity Investments and net gain or loss on fair 

value changer are recorded in Other Comprehensive Income 

[OCI] instead of being routed through the Statement of 

Profit and Loss.   These gains [net of taxes] are subsequently 
reclassified from OCI to retained earnings.   Thus, the income 
from Operations of our Company, being an Investment 

Company, includes mainly Dividends and Interest Income.   To 

augment the Operating Income over the medium term your 

Company plans to let out a part of the property in Strand 

Road and increase its investments significantly for greater 
dividend and interest income.  This forms part of our endeavor 

to increase operating income earning capacity.

GLOBAL ECONOMIC OUTLOOK 2025:

The “WORLD ECONOMIC OUTLOOK UPDATE” Report by the 

IMF of January 2025, stated that global growth is projected 

to remain stable at about 3.3% both in 2025 and 2026.   

However, the potential ramification of policies proposed by 
United States [US] has given rise to considerable uncertainty 

leading to lower expectations of global growth.

The volatility in the global economic scenario has become 

a defining feature of recent years, driven by factors such as 
geopolitical tensions, fluctuating energy prices, inflationary 
pressures, climate events and shifting monetary policies.   

Such volatility disrupts global supply chains, impacts investor 

confidence and leads to uncertainty in financial markets.   
For businesses and Government alike, it complicates long-

term planning and increases the cost of capital.   Currency 

fluctuations and trade imbalances can further strain emerging 
economies.   Overall, global economic volatility heightens 

the risks associated with investment, slows down growth 

trajectories and requires more resilient and adaptive economic 

strategies to safeguard stability.

INDIAN ECONOMIC SCENERIO:

India continues to stand out as a beacon of economic 

strength and resilience in the global landscape. As the world’s 

fifth-largest economy, it is well-positioned to maintain its 
status as the fastest-growing major economy, with GDP 

growth projected at a robust 6.5% for FY26. This momentum 

is supported by strong domestic consumption, a stable 

macroeconomic environment, and healthy foreign exchange 

reserves. Inflation remains within manageable levels, and the 
interest rate environment has stabilized, fostering a conducive 

backdrop for both public and private sector investment.

India’s growth story is underpinned by structural drivers that 

offer long-term sustainability. The country is capitalizing on 

its demographic dividend, with a young and aspirational 

workforce driving productivity and innovation. Continued 

enhancements in physical and digital infrastructure are 

accelerating connectivity, improving supply chains, and 

fostering greater economic integration. The government’s 

increased capital expenditure, along with targeted initiatives 

such as the Production Linked Incentive (PLI) schemes, are 

catalysing manufacturing growth, fostering self-reliance, and 

attracting both domestic and foreign investment.

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) has acknowledged 

India’s economic resilience, highlighting its progress in 

formalization, digital inclusion, and robust institutional 

frameworks. As India continues to advance reforms, embrace 

technology, and strengthen its global trade linkages, it 

remains poised to be a key engine of global growth in the 

coming decades.

COMPANY’S OUTLOOK:

Given this background, the Directors affirm that the Company’s 
investments are guided by a long-term vision, with a focus on 
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sustainable value creation. These investments are strategic in 

nature, aligned with the Company’s commitment to building 

enduring value over time rather than pursuing short-term 

gains.

As part of the Company’s capital allocation strategy, there is a 

clear emphasis on unlocking intrinsic value across its portfolio 

to enable greater value creation in the years ahead. The 

Company will continue to adopt a disciplined, patient capital 

approach—deploying funds prudently across a diversified mix 
of equities, real estate, fixed income instruments, alternative 
assets and/or operating businesses. Notably, subsequent to 

the financial year-end, the Company divested its stake in 
the property in Whitefield, representing a significant step 
towards unlocking value and strengthening the base for 

future growth.

Equities: The Company maintains a positive long-term outlook 

on equity markets, underpinned by improving macroeconomic 

indicators, a stable political environment, and strong 

corporate earnings momentum. India’s structural growth 

drivers—such as formalization of the economy, rising digital 

adoption, infrastructure expansion, and robust domestic 

consumption—are expected to continue supporting equity 

valuations. Easing inflationary trends and potential monetary 
policy easing by global and domestic central banks further 

enhance the outlook. Over the long term, equities remain 

a key driver of capital appreciation and are well-positioned 

to benefit from both cyclical and structural tailwinds in the 
Indian economy.

Fixed Income (Debt): The outlook for fixed income 
investments remains favorable, particularly as interest rate 

cuts are increasingly anticipated in response to a moderating 

inflation trajectory and slower global growth. In India, the 
Reserve Bank of India is expected to shift towards a more 

accommodative stance in the coming quarters, which could 

translate into lower yields and a corresponding rise in bond 

prices. Long-duration Indian Government Bonds (IGBs) are 

especially well-placed to benefit from this environment. 
Additionally, the inclusion of Indian government securities 

in global bond indices is likely to attract sustained foreign 

inflows, enhancing market depth and liquidity. The Company 
continues to view high-quality debt instruments as a stable 

component of its long-term portfolio, offering both income 

and capital preservation.

Real Estate: The real estate sector, after a prolonged period 

of subdued performance, is exhibiting signs of a structural 

recovery, supported by improving demand fundamentals and 

increased institutional participation. Urbanization trends, 

a revival in housing demand—particularly in mid-income 

and premium segments—and regulatory reforms such as 

RERA have enhanced transparency and investor confidence. 
Additionally, favourable borrowing conditions and improved 

affordability are driving real estate activity across both 

residential and commercial segments. The Company is 

actively evaluating select opportunities within this asset class, 

with a view to participating in its long-term growth trajectory. 

Real estate is expected to serve as both a store of value and 

a potential source of capital appreciation over time, thereby 

complementing the Company’s broader investment strategy.

Looking ahead, the Company will also evaluate opportunities 

across alternative asset classes and select operating 

businesses, with a view to further diversifying its investment 

portfolio and enhancing long-term value creation. This 

includes potential allocations to private equity, infrastructure 

platforms, and other high-conviction alternatives that 

offer differentiated return profiles and lower correlation to 
traditional asset classes. Investments in operating businesses 

may also be considered where strategic alignment, scalability, 

and sustainable cash flow generation can be achieved. These 
opportunities will be pursued with a disciplined and selective 

approach, consistent with the Company’s philosophy of 

deploying patient capital to unlock long-term growth.

BOARD EVALUATION

Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 

and Regulation 4(2)(f) and Regulation 17 of SEBI (Listing 

Obligations & Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, 

the Board has carried out an annual performance evaluation 

of its own performance, the Directors individually as well as 

the evaluation of the working of its committees.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

As on March 31, 2025, the Board has three Committees: 

the Audit Committee, the Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee, and the Stakeholders Relationship Committee. 

The Audit Committee and The Stake Holders Relationship 

Committee are constituted entirely with Independent 

Directors. During the year 4 meetings of Audit Committee, 

1 meeting of Stakeholders Relationship Committee and 

3 meetings of Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

were also held, the details of which viz., dates and number 

of meetings attended by each director etc., are given in the 

Corporate Governance Report. Also, all recommendations 

made by the committees were approved by the Board. 

A detailed note on the composition of the Board and its 

committees is provided in the Corporate Governance Report.

PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES OR INVESTMENTS

The Provisions of Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 

pertaining to Investments, Loans and Guarantees is not 

applicable to the Company since the Company is a Non-

Banking Financial Company.  

SHARE CAPITAL

The Paid –Up Equity Share Capital of the Company as on 

31st March 2025 was Rs.77.14 lakhs.  During the year under 

review, the Company has not issued shares with differential 

voting rights nor granted stock options nor sweat equity.

DISCLOSURE ON DEPOSIT UNDER CHAPTER V

The Company has not accepted any deposit from public and 

as such, no amount on account of principal or interest on 

deposits from public was outstanding as on the date of the 

Balance Sheet.

SECRETARIAL STANDARDS 

The Company complies with all applicable mandatory 

Secretarial Standards issued by the Institute of Company 

Secretaries of India.
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LISTING ON STOCK EXCHANGE

The Company’s shares are listed on Bombay Stock Exchange 

(BSE) Limited.  

SIGNIFICANT & MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY THE 

REGULATORS OR COURTS OR TRIBUNALS

There are no significant and material orders passed by the 
regulators or courts or tribunals for the period under review.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

As stipulated in Section 134(3) (C) of the Companies Act, 

2013, your Directors subscribe to the “Directors’ Responsibility 

Statement” and confirm as under:

a) that in the preparation of the annual financial statements 
for the year ended 31st March 2025, the applicable 

accounting standards have been followed along with 

proper explanation relating to material departures, if any;

b) that such accounting policies as mentioned in Note 

No.1 of the Notes to the Financial Statements have 

been selected and applied consistently and judgment 

and estimates have been made that are reasonable and 

prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of 

affairs of the Company as at 31st March 2025 and of the 

profit of the Company for the year ended on that date.

c) that proper and sufficient care has been taken for 
the maintenance of adequate accounting records in 

accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 

2013 for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for 

preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities;

d) that the annual financial statements have been prepared 
on a going concern basis;

e) that proper internal financial controls were in place 
and that the financial controls were adequate and were 
operating effectively;

f) that systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of 

all applicable laws were in place and  were adequate 

and operating effectively.

AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ REMARKS

STATUTORY AUDITORS

M/s. ALPS & Co. Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration No. 

FRN 313132E) existing Auditors of the Company were appointed 

for a period of 5(five) years by the Members of the Company in 
the 102nd Annual General Meeting held on 12th August, 2022 

from the conclusion of the 102nd Annual General Meeting till 

the conclusion of 107th Annual General Meeting.

INTERNAL AUDITORS

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 138 of the Companies 

Act, 2013 and the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, the 

Company has appointed M/s. Chaudhuri P & Associates, 

Chartered Accountants as Internal Auditor of the Company 

for the financial year 2024-25.

SECRETARIAL AUDITOR

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 204 of the Companies Act, 

2013 and the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration 

of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, the Company has 

appointed Mr. Suprabhat Chakraborty, Practicing Company 

Secretary as Secretarial Auditor of the Company for the 

financial year 2024-25.

AUDIT REPORTS

The Auditors’ Report for financial year 2024-25 does not 
contain any qualification, reservation or adverse remark. 
The Report is enclosed with the financial statements in this 
Annual Report. 

As required by the Listing Regulations, the Practicing 

Company Secretary’s certificate on corporate governance for 
financial year 2024-25 is enclosed to the Board’s report. The 
certificate does not contain any qualification, reservation or 
adverse remark.

The Secretarial Auditors’ Report for financial year 2024-25 
does not contain any qualification, reservation or adverse 
remark. The Secretarial Auditors’ Report is enclosed as 

‘Annexure A’ to the Board’s report in this Annual Report.

DETAILS IN RESPECT OF FRAUDS REPORTED BY AUDITORS 

UNDER SECTION 143(12) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013

During the year under review, no frauds were reported by the 

auditors to the Audit Committee or the Board under Section 

143(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 13 of the 

Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY:

The Provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 

did not apply to the Company. Thus no furtherance regarding 

formation of CSR Committee and framing of its policy was 

done.

PARTICULARS REGARDING CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, 

TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 

AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO

There were no foreign exchange earnings and expenditure 

during the year. The other particulars relating to Conservation 

of Energy and Technology Absorption stipulated under 

Section 134(3)(m) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 

8 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, are not applicable.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance 

code as stipulated under the Listing Agreement with the Stock 

Exchange. A separate section on Corporate Governance, along 

with Certificate from the Auditors confirming the compliance, 
is annexed and forms part of the Annual Report.

MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS IF ANY, 

AFFECTING THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 

WHICH HAVE OCCURRED BETWEEN THE END OF THE 

FINANCIAL YEAR OF THE COMPANY TO WHICH FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS RELATES AND THE DATE OF THE REPORT

The company has entered into a definitive registered Deed 
of Conveyance dated 8th May, 2025 for sale of its property 

situated at Whitefield Road, Bangalore, Karnataka, for a total 
sale consideration amount of Rs. 485,90,00,000/- (Rupees 

Four Hundred Eighty-Five Crores and Ninety Lakhs) only.

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES, JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATE 

COMPANIES

The Company has two Wholly Owned Subsidiaries (WOS) 

as on 31st March, 2025.  There are no associate or Joint 

Venture Companies within the meaning of Section 2(6) of the 
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Companies Act, 2013. There has been no material change in 

the nature of business of the Subsidiaries.

In accordance with the General Circular issued by the Ministry 

of Corporate Affairs, Government of India, the Balance Sheet, 

Statement of Profit & Loss and other documents of the 
Subsidiary Companies are not being attached with the Balance 

Sheet of the Company. However, the financial information of 
the Subsidiary Companies is disclosed in the Annual Report in 

compliance with the said circular in Form AOC 1.  

The consolidated financial statements presented by the Company 
include financial results of its Subsidiary Companies, Alfred 
Herbert Limited and Herbert Holdings Limited and is available 

on the website of the Company www.alfredherbert.co.in

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the 
Company in accordance with the applicable accounting standards. 

The Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, together with 

the Auditors’ Report, form a part of the Annual Report. 

A report on the performance and financial position of each of the 
subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements is 
presented in a separate section in this Annual Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The main identified risks at the Company are Commercial 
Risks, Financial Risks, Operational Risks and Legal & Regulatory 

Risks. Your Company has established a comprehensive Risk 

Management System to ensure that risk to the Company’s 

continued existence as a going concern and to its 

development are identified and addressed on timely basis.  
Risk Management strategy as approved by the Board of 

Directors is implemented by the Company Management

REMUNERATION DETAILS UNDER RULE 5[1] OF THE 

COMPANIES [APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION OF 

MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL] RULES 2014, AS AMENDED, 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH, 2025

No. PARTICULARS DISCLOSURES

1. The ratio of the Remuneration of each 
Whole-time Director to the median 
remuneration of the employees of the 
Company for the Financial Year:

N.A.

2. The percentage increase in remuneration 
of each Director, Chief Financial officer, 
Chief Executive Officer, Company Secretary 
or Manager, if any, in the Financial Year

KMP [#] % Increase in 
Remuneration

CEO 112.55%

CFO and 
CS

83.38%

3. The percentage increase in the median 
remuneration of employees in the Financial 
Year:

2.87%

4. The number of permanent employees on 
the rolls of the Company:

6

5. Average percentile increase already made 
in the salaries of employees other than the 
managerial personnel in the last Financial 
Year and its comparison with the percentile 
increase in the managerial remuneration 
and justification thereof and point out if 
there are any exceptional circumstances for 
increase in the managerial remuneration.

The average increase 
in the salaries of the 
employees was 2.87% 
and the average increase 
in the managerial 
remuneration was 
97.97%

Notes:

1. No employee falls under the purview of the Provisions 

of Rule 5(2) and (3) of the Companies (Appointment and 

Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014. 

Thus no information regarding to the same needs to be 

disclosed.

2. Sitting Fees paid to the Directors for attending Board 

and/or Committee Meetings have not been considered.

3. The remuneration paid to the Key Managerial Personnel 

is as per the recommendation of the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committees and approved by the Board.

MAINTENANCE OF COST RECORDS

The provisions of Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013 

relating to Cost Audit is not applicable to the business 

activities carried out by the Company and hence no cost record 

is required to be maintained and cost audit be conducted.

DEFAULT IN PAYMENT OF LOAN

The company is neither enjoying nor has availed any credit 

facility. Hence default in payment of loan facility availed from 

Bank or Financial Institution, details of difference between 

amount of valuation done at the time of one-time settlement 

and valuation done while taking loan from bank or financial 
institutions is not applicable.

VIGIL MECHANISM

Pursuant to the provisions of revised Regulation 22 of SEBI 

(Listing Obligations & Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 

2015 and Section 166 (9) & (10) of the Companies Act, 2013, 

the Company had established a Vigil Mechanism for Directors 

and Employees to report concerns of unethical behaviour, 

actual or suspected fraud or violation of the Company’s Code 

of Conduct. This policy is available on the Company’s website 

at www.alfredherbert.co.in .   

NOMINATION & REMUNERATION POLICY

The Board has, on the recommendation of the Nomination 

& Remuneration Committee framed a policy for selection 

and appointment of Directors, Senior Management and their 

remuneration.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS & THEIR ADEQUACY

The Company has an Internal Control System commensurate 

with the size and scale of its operations.  The Company has 

in place internal control systems and procedures which are 

commensurate with its size and nature of business. The 

objective of these procedures is to ensure efficient use and 
protection of the Company’s resources, accuracy in financial 
reporting and due compliance with statutes, corporate policies 

and procedures. Internal Audit is conducted periodically by 

Chartered Accountant/ Audit firms who verify and report on 
the efficiency and effectiveness of internal controls. 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

All the related party transactions that were entered during the 

year, were in the ordinary course of business. The Company 
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had not entered into any contract/arrangement/transaction 

with related parties which could be considered material in 

accordance with the policy of the Company materiality of 

related party transactions. Hence, the provisions of Section 

188 of the Companies Act, 2013 are not attracted. Thus, 

disclosure in Form AOC-2 is not required. 

Further, there are no materially significant Related Party 
Transactions during the year under review made by the 

Company with Promoters, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel 

or other designated persons. 

The Policy on materiality of related party transaction as 

approved by the Board may be accessed on the Company’s 

Website, www.alfredherbert.co.in. Your directors drew 

attention of the members to Note 36 to the Standalone 

financial statement which sets out related party disclosures.

PREVENTION OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT THE 

WORKPLACE

The Company is not required to set up an Internal Complaints 

Committee as per the provisions of Sexual Harassment of 

Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) 

Act, 2013.  The employees have however been informed 

about lodging their complaints if any, before the Board as 

well as before  the Local Complaints Committee (LCC) formed 

by the Government in the district. We affirm that adequate 
access has been provided to any complainant who wish to 

register a complaint.

No complaint was received during the year.

APPLICATION UNDER THE INSOLVENCY AND BANKRUPTCY 

CODE, 2016

No application has been made under the Insolvency and 

Bankruptcy Code either by or against the company, hence the 

requirement to disclose the details of application made or 

any proceeding pending under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy 

Code, 2016 during the year along with their status as at the 

end of the financial year is not applicable.

TRANSFER OF UNPAID AND UNCLAIMED AMOUNTS TO 

INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION FUND

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 125 of the Companies 

Act, 2013, the declared dividend for the financial year 2016-
17, which remained unpaid or unclaimed for a period of 

seven years, have been transferred by the Company on 6th 

September, 2024 to the IEPF established by the Central 

Government pursuant to Section 125 of the said Act. As on 

31st March, 2025, the Company has transferred Rs 27,520.00 

to Investor Education and Protection Fund. Pursuant to the 

provisions of Section 125 of the Companies Act, 2013, the 

declared dividend for the financial year 2016-17, which 
remained unpaid or unclaimed for a period of seven years, 

will be transferred by the Company to the IEPF established 

by the Central Government pursuant to Section 125 of the 

said Act. The company has uploaded the full details of Unpaid 

Dividend on its website at https://www.alfredherbert.co.in/

investors. 

TRANSFER OF UNPAID SHARES TO INVESTOR EDUCATION 

AND PROTECTION FUND 

The Company, in pursuance to the Investor Education and 

Protection Fund Authority (Accounting, Audit, Transfer and 

Refund) Rules, 2016 (“IEPF Rules 2016”), had transferred 

all shares in respect of which dividend has not been paid or 

claimed by the shareholders for seven consecutive years in 

the name of designated demat account of the IEPF Authority. 

A notice had been sent to all concerned shareholders at their 

registered address. The Company had also published such 

notice in English Newspaper i.e. ‘The Financial Express’ and 

in Bengali Newspaper i.e. Ekdin informing the concerned 

shareholders about the same. The company has uploaded the 

full details of such shareholders and shares transferred to IEPF 

account on its website at www.alfredherbert.co.in  

As on 31st March, 2025, the Company has transferred 1340 

no. of shares to IEPF Demat Account which accounts to 0.17% 

of total shareholding of the company.

CAUTIONERY STATEMENT

Statements in this Report, particularly those which relate 

to Management Discussion & Analysis, describing the 

Company’s objectives, projections, estimates, expectations 

or predictions and the Economic Scenario may be ‘forward 

looking statements’ within the meaning of applicable laws 

or regulations. Actual results could however differ materially 

from those expressed or implied.

PERSONNEL

Your Directors wish to place on record their appreciation 

for the services rendered by the employees of the Company 

during the year.

It was an exciting year and during our journey through the 

same we consolidated our position as an NBFC. We firmly 
believe that financial services will continue to play a crucial 
role in India’s growth story with the GDP growth expected to 

significantly outpace the global growth in near future. Moving 
into the next Fiscal we are confident of scaling new heights 
of growth and fulfillment of obligations to our esteemed 
shareholders.

 For & on behalf of the Board of Directors

 H. V. Lodha P. K. Madappa
Place: Kolkata Director Director
Date: 23th May, 2025 DIN: 00394094 DIN: 00058822
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FORM MR-3

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED ON 31st MARCH, 2025

[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No. 9 of the Companies
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,

The Members,

M/s Alfred Herbert (India) Ltd

CIN: L74999WB1919PLC003516

13/3 Strand Road,

Kolkata – 700001

West Bengal, India

I have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and the adherence to good corporate 

practices by M/s Alfred Herbert (India) Ltd (hereinafter called the Company). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner 

that provided me a reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing my opinion 

thereon.

Based on my verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained 
by the Company and also the information provided by the Company, its officers, agents and authorized representatives during 
the conduct of secretarial audit, I hereby report that in my opinion, the Company has, during the audit period covering the 

financial year ended on March 31st, 2025 complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that the Company 
has proper Board-processes and compliance mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and subject to the reporting made 

hereinafter.

I have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by the Company for 
the financial year ended on March 31st, 2025, according to the provisions of:

a) The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made there under;

b) The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and the rules made there under;

c) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed there under;

d) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made there under to the extent of Foreign Direct 

Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External Commercial Borrowings; 

e) The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI 

Act’):-

 (a) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011; 

 (b)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015;

 (c) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009; (Not 

applicable to the Company during the Audit Period)

 (d) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits) Regulation, 2014; (Not applicable to the 
Company during the Audit Period)

 (e) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008; (Not applicable to 

the Company during the Audit Period)

 (f) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regulations, 1993 

regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client;

 (g) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulations, 2009; (Not applicable to the 

Company during the Audit Period) and;

 (h) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 1998; (Not applicable to the Company 

during the Audit Period);

 (i) The Reserve Bank of India (RBI) Act, 1934 and rules, regulations, master-direction and guidelines issued thereunder as 

are applicable to Non-Deposit (ND) Non-Banking Financial Companies (NBFC) specifically applicable to the Company. 
The Company has complied with aforesaid provisions during the financial year.

I have relied on the representation made by the Company and its Officers for systems and mechanism formed by the Company 
for compliances under other applicable Acts, Laws and Regulations to the Company. 
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I have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following: 

1. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirement) Regulation, 2015 (the “LODR”);

2. Secretarial Standard issued by The Institute of Company Secretaries of India;

I further report that

• The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors 
and Independent Directors.

• Adequate notice is given to all directors to schedule the Board Meetings, agenda and detailed notes on agenda sent at least 
seven days in advance, and a system exists for seeking and obtaining further information and clarifications on the agenda 
items before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the meeting. 

• Majority decision is carried through while the dissenting members’ views are captured and recorded as part of the minutes. 

I further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the Company commensurate with the size and operations of 
the Company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines. 

I further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the Company commensurate with the size and operations of 
the Company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, Rules, Regulations and Guidelines.

I further report that during the audit period there was no other event/action having major bearing on the Company’s affairs in 
pursuance of the above referred laws, rules, regulations, guidelines, and standards.

M/s Suprabhat & Co
Company Secretary in Practice

Suprabhat Chakraborty.
Proprietor

ACS No. – 41030
 C.P No. – 15878
Place : Kolkata UDIN: A041030G000417032
Date  : 23rd May 2025 Peer Review Certificate no.:2284/2022

THIS REPORT IS TO BE READ WITH OUR LETTER OF EVEN DATE WHICH IS ANNEXED AS
ANNEXURE- A AND FORMS AN INTEGRAL PART OF THIS REPORT.

‘Annexure A’
To,
The Members,
M/s Alfred Herbert (India) Ltd
CIN: L74999WB1919PLC003516
13/3 Strand Road, Kolkata – 700001
WEST Bengal, India

My report of even date is to be read along with this letter.

1. Maintenance of Secretarial record is the responsibility of the management of the Company. My responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these secretarial records based on our audit.

2. I have followed the audit practices and process as were appropriate to obtain reasonable assurance about the correctness 
of the contents of the Secretarial records. The verification was done on test basis to ensure that correct facts are reflected 
in Secretarial records. I believe that the process and practices, I followed provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3. I have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and Books of Accounts of the Company.

4. Wherever required, I have obtained the Management representation about the Compliance of laws, rules and regulations 
and happening of events etc.

5. The Compliance of the provisions of Corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, standards is the responsibility 
of management. My examination was limitedto the verification of procedure on test basis.

6. The Secretarial Audit Report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of theCompany nor of the efficacy or effective-
ness with which the management has conductedthe affairs of the Company.

M/s Suprabhat & Co
Company Secretary in Practice

Suprabhat Chakraborty.
Proprietor

ACS No. – 41030
 C.P No. – 15878
Place : Kolkata UDIN: A041030G000417032
Date  : 23rd May 2025 Peer Review Certificate no.:2284/2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT FOR THE YEAR 2024-25

1. Company’s philosophy on Corporate Governance

 The Company believes that good corporate governance 

practices would ensure a better transparency, 

accountability, integrity and responsibility in corporate 

actions and thereby would help in boosting investors 

/ stake holder’s confidence in the Company. The focus 
of the Company has always been to ensure continuing 

value creation for its shareholders and above all, to 

achieve business excellence with the goal of long-term 

sustainable development.

2. Board of Directors

 The strength of the Board of Directors as on 31st March 

2025 is 6 out of which 3 are independent.  The Board is 

headed by Non-executive Chairman. The composition of 

the Board of Directors is in conformity with the Corporate 

Governance Code.

 Other directorships do not include directorships of 

Private Limited Companies, Foreign Companies and 

companies registered under Section 8 of the Act. None of 

the Directors is a member of more than 10 Committees 

and Chairman of more than 5 Committees as specified 
in Regulation 26 (1)(b) of SEBI Listing Regulations across 

in which all the Companies in which he is a director. 

For the purpose of determination of limit of the Board 

Committees, chairpersonship and membership of 

the Audit Committee and Stakeholders’ Relationship 

Committee has been considered as per Regulation 26(1)

(b) of SEBI Listing Regulations.       

 None of the Directors on the Board holds directorship 

in more than 10 (Ten) public companies. None of the 

Independent Directors serves as an Independent Director 

in more than 7 (Seven) listed entities.

 During the year, 4 meetings of the Board of Directors 

were held on 24.05.2024, 09.08.2024, 08.11.2024 and 

14.02.2025.

 During FY 2024-25, information as mentioned in Part A 

of Schedule II of the SEBI Listing Regulations, has been 

placed before the Board for its consideration. 

 During FY 2024-25, one meeting of the Independent 

Directors was held on February 14, 2025. The Independent 

Directors, inter-alia, reviewed the performance of Non-

Independent Directors, Board as a whole and Chairman 

of the Company, taking into account the views of 

Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors. 

 The Board periodically reviews the compliance reports of 

all laws applicable to the Company.

 The composition and category of the Directors on 

Board, their attendance at the Board Meetings during 

the year and at the last Annual General Meeting, as also 

number of Directorships and Committee Memberships / 

Chairmanships and number of shares held by them as on 

31st March 2025 are as follows : 

Name of Director
Relationship with 
other Directors Category

No. of Board 
Meetings 
attended

Attendance 
in last AGM

No. of 
Shares 
held

No. of 
other 
listed 

Director-
ships

Details of other 
Committee 

Membership

Member Chairman

Mr. A V Lodha Brother of Mr. H V 
Lodha & Husband of 
Mrs. Simika Lodha

Non-independent 
Non-Executive

4 Yes 38,043 1 1 –

Mr. H V Lodha Brother of Mr. A V 
Lodha & brother-in-
law of Mrs. Simika 
Lodha

Non-independent 
Non-Executive

4 Yes 43,590 6 11 1

Mr. Ashish Poddar None Independent*@
Non-Executive

4 No – – – –

Mr. P K Madappa None Independent*@
Non-Executive

5 Yes – 1 2 –

Mrs. Simika Lodha Wife of Mr. A V Lodha 
and Sister- In- law of 
Mr. H V Lodha

Woman
Non-independent 

Non-Executive

4 Yes 2,20,576 – – –

Mrs. A Bhandari None Independent*@
Non-Executive

4 Yes – – – –
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* including Alternate Directorships and Directorships of 
Private Companies.
@ including 1 meeting of Independent Directors

Code of Conduct:

The Company has always encouraged and supported ethical 
business practices in personal and corporate behaviour by its 
directors and employees. The Company has framed a specific 
Code of Conduct for the members of the Board of Directors 
and Senior Management Personnel of the Company.

3. Committees of the Board

i)  Audit Committee

 The Audit Committee of the Board of our Company 
comprises exclusively of Independent Non-executive 
Directors Mr. Ashish Poddar, Mr. P K Madappa and Mrs. 
A. Bhandari. 

 Mr. Ashish Poddar (DIN 00282980) is the Chairman of 
the Committee.

 Mr. Ashish Poddar is the Chairman of the Committee. 
The Committee acts as a link between the Statutory & 
Internal Auditors and the Board of Directors. The terms 
of reference of the Audit Committee are in accordance 
with sub-clause II of Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement 
entered into with the Stock Exchanges and inter-alia 
include:

• To ensure that the financial reporting process and the 
disclosure of its financial information at the financial 
statements are correct, sufficient and credible.   

• Recommend the appointment of Statutory Auditors and 
Fixation of Audit Fees. 

• Reviewing, with the Management, the annual financial 
statements. 

• Reviewing, with the Management, performance of 
Statutory and Internal Auditors and adequacy of the 
Internal Control Systems. 

• Reviewing the adequacy of Internal Audit Functions. 

• Discussion with Statutory Auditors and Internal Auditors 
on nature and scope of audit etc.

• Reviewing the Company’s Financial and Risk Management 
Policies.

The Company held 4 Audit Committee Meetings during the 
year – 24.05.2024, 09.08.2024, 08.11.2024 and 14.02.2025.

Attendances of Directors at these meetings are as under: -

Name of Member Status No. of Meetings 
attended 

Mr. Ashish Poddar Chairman 3

Mrs. A Bhandari Member 3

Mr. P K Madappa Member 4

ii) Nomination & Remuneration Committee

 The Nomination & Remuneration Committee shall act in 
accordance with the prescribed provisions of Section 178 of 

the Companies Act, 2013 and shall perform the following 
functions: -

• to formulate the criteria for determining qualifications;
• to frame and formulate positive attributes and 

independence of a director;

• to recommend to the Board a policy, relating to the 
remuneration for the directors, key managerial personnel 
and other employees;

• to identify persons who are qualified to become directors 
and who may be appointed a senior management in 
accordance with the criteria laid down;

• to recommend to the Board their appointment and 
removal and shall carry out evaluation of every director’s 
performance.

During the year, three Meetings of the Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee were held on 24.05.2024, 
08.11.2024 and 14.02.2025.

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee comprises of Mr. 
P K Madappa as its Chairman, with Mr. A.V. Lodha and Mrs. A 
Bhandari as its members.

Attendance of Directors at these Meetings is as under: -

Name of Member Status No. of Meetings 
attended 

Mr. P K Madappa Chairman 3

Mr. A V Lodha Member 3

Mrs. A Bhandari Member 3

iii) Stakeholders Relationship Committee

The Stakeholders Relationship Committee looks into issues 
relating to shareholders transfer of shares, redressal of 
Complaints from investors and shall consider and resolve the 
grievances of secretary holders of the Company.

During the year, one Meeting of the Committee was held on 
09.08.2024.

Mr. Ashish Poddar (DIN 00282980) is the Chairman of the 
Committee.

The composition and attendance of Directors/Members at 
these Meetings are as under:

Name of Member Status No. of Meetings 
attended 

Mr. Ashish Poddar Chairman 1

Mr. P K Madappa Member 1

Mrs. A Bhandari Member 0

During the year no complaints were received from the 
Shareholders  as on 31st March 2025.

4. Details of Sitting Fees paid to the Directors during 
the Financial Year ended 31st March 2025

Name of Director Sitting Fees
Rs.

Mr. A.V. Lodha … 55,000

Mr. H.V. Lodha … 40,000

Mrs. A. Bhandari …  60,000

Mrs. S. Lodha  … 40,000

Mr. P K Madappa …  80,000

Mr. Ashish Poddar …  50,000
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5. General Body Meetings

The last 3 Annual General Meetings were held as under: -

Year Venue Date Time

2023-24 Virtual Annual General Meeting 13.09.2024 10:30 a.m.

2022-23 Virtual Annual General Meeting 14.07.2023 10:30 a.m.

2021-22 Virtual Annual General Meeting 12.08.2022 10:30 a.m.

There was no Special Resolution, which required passing 
through postal ballot. At present no Special Resolution 
is proposed to be passed through a postal ballot or at the 
Annual General Meeting.

6. Disclosures

 i) Details of transactions with related parties during 
the year have been furnished in Schedule 36 of the 
Accounting Policies and Notes on Accounts of the 
Annual Accounts. There are no materially significant 
transactions with related parties i.e. Directors, 
Management, Subsidiaries and relatives conflicting 
with the Company’s interests.

 ii) The Company has complied with all the requirements 
of the Listing Agreement with the Stock Exchanges 
as well as Regulations & Guidelines of Securities 
and Exchange of Board of India (SEBI).  No penalties 
were imposed by SEBI, Stock Exchanges or any 
Statutory Authorities on matters relating to Capital 
Markets during the last three years.

 iii) The Company has complied with all the applicable 
mandatory requirements. The Company has not 
adopted the non- mandatory requirements of the 
Listing Agreement.

 iv) Subsidiary Companies- As per Regulation 24 of 
the SEBI Listing Regulations, the Audit Committee 
reviews the consolidated financial statements of 
the Company and the investments made by its 
unlisted subsidiary companies. The minutes of the 
Board meetings along with a report on significant 
developments of the unlisted subsidiary companies 
are periodically placed before the Board of Directors 
of the Company. 

 v) Disclosure under the Sexual Harassment of 
Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and 
Redressal) Act, 2018, the Company is not required 
to set up an Internal Complaints Committee as per 
the provisions of Sexual Harassment of Women at 
Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) 
Act, 2018.  The Company has not received any 

complaints during the year.

7. Means of Communications

The quarterly, half-yearly and the annual Financial Results are 

published in English and vernacular newspapers and are also 

furnished to the Stock Exchanges with whom the Company 

has listing arrangements to enable them to put them on their 

website.  The Company’s results are displayed on the Website 

www.alfredherbert.co.in.

8. General Shareholder information

i) Annual General Meeting for FY 2024-25

 Pursuant to the General Circular dated April 8, 2020, 

the General Circular dated April 13, 2020, the General 

Circular dated May 5, 2020, the General Circular dated 

June 15, 2020, the General Circular dated September 28, 

2020, the General Circular dated December 31, 2020 

and the General Circular dated January 13, 2021, 8th 

December, 2021, 14th December, 2021, 15th January, 

2021 and 3rd October, 2024 issued by the Ministry of 

Corporate Affairs (“MCA Circulars”), the 105th  Annual 

General Meeting (“AGM”) for the year ended 31st March, 

2025 is scheduled to be held on Friday, 5th September, 

2025 through Video Conferencing (“VC”).

 The Members may attend the 105th AGM scheduled 

to be held on Friday, 5th September, 2025 through VC. 

Detailed instructions for participation are provided in the 

notice of the 105th AGM.

ii) Next Financial Calendar

 Company’s Financial Year is based on 12 months starting 

from 1st April to 31st March

1st quarterly results :  Before 15th August 2025

2nd quarterly results : Before 15th November 2025

3rd quarterly results : Before 15th February 2026

Audited yearly results for : On or Before 30th May 2026

the year ending

31st March 2026

Date of Book Closure : From 30th August, 2025 to 5th 

September, 2025 (Both days 

inclusive)

Dividend Payment Date : On or after 6th September,2025

iii) Listing on Stock Exchange

The Company’s shares : Bombay Stock Exchange

are listed at   Limited  

Listing Fees as prescribed have been paid to the above Stock 
Exchange for the Financial Year 2024-25

Stock Code of Equity Shares of the Company is as under:

Bombay Stock Exchange : Scrip Code No. 505216

Limited

Corporate Identity (CIN) : L74999WB1919PLC003516

ISIN : INE782D01027

iv)  Market Price Data during the Financial Year 2024-25:

Month Bombay Stock Exchange Ltd.

High (Rs.) Low (Rs.)

April 1836.75  1420.30

May 1653.00 1225.00

June 1519.80 1125.25

July 1549.75 1355.60

August 1800.00 1359.00

September 1889.00 1530.00
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October 2099.05 1545.45

November 2320.00 1901.25

December 2350.00 1899.95

January 2130.00 1770.00

February 2200.00 1810.00

March 2100.00 1925.00

v) Registrar and Share : Maheshwari Datamatics Pvt. Limited

 Transfer Agent  23, R.N Mukherjee Road, 5th Floor,

   Kolkata – 700 001

    Telephone No. 2248 2248 / 2243 5809

   E-mail : mdpldc@yahoo.com

vi) Share Transfer System

All the transfers received are processed by the Registrar and 
Transfer Agents and are approved by the Company Secretary 
and Chief Financial Officer who has been authorised by the 
Board of Directors in this regard. Share Transfers are registered 
and returned within one month from the date of lodgment, if 
documents are complete in all respect.

9. Distribution of Shareholding as on 31st March 2025

No. of Equity 
Shares held

No. of 
Shareholders

No. of Equity 
Shares

Total % Total %

Upto 1000 1868 98.784 97344 12.619

1001 to 5000 12    0.635 22163 2.873

5001 to 10000 2    0.105 13390 1.736

10001 to 50000 7    0.370 197380 25.586

50001 and above 2    0.106 441152 57.186

Total 100.000 7,71,429 100.000

No. of Shareholders : 1891

Share Capital : 7,71,429

10. Shareholding Pattern as on 31st March 2025

Category No. of 
Share-
holders

No. of 
Shares 
held

Total Share-
holding as 

a % of Total 
Share

Promoter’s Holding

Indian Promoters 11 3,11,178 40.34

NRI Promoters 5 2,58,627 33.52

16 5,69,805 73.86

Non-Promoters Holding

Individuals 1774 136512 17.70

Non-Resident Individuals 24 1,464 0.19

Bodies Corporate 27 23807 3.08

Resident Individual (HUF) 42 2,449 0.32

Financial Institutions/ Banks 2 90 0.01

Trusts 1 90 0.01

Clearing Member 1 200 0.03

Investor Education & 
Protection Fund

1 31,587 4.09

Central Government/ State 
Government

1 84 0.01

LLP 2 5341 0.69

1875 201624 26.14

Total 1891 7,71,429 100.00

Dematerialization of Shares: - 96.93% of Equity Shares have 
been dematerialized as on 31st March 2025.

11. Share Reconciliation Audit

As stipulated by SEBI, a Practicing Company Secretary carries 
out the Share Reconciliation Audit to reconcile the total 
admitted Capital with NSDL and CDSL and the total issued 
and listed Capital. This audit is carried out every quarter and 
the report thereon is submitted to Stock Exchanges, NSDL and 
CDSL and is also placed before the Board of Directors.

Address for :  Alfred Herbert (India) Limited

correspondence   13/3 Strand Road,

    Kolkata – 700 001

 Telephone Nos : 2248 4801/ 2248 4802 / 2226 8619 / 

2229 9124

12. Declaration on Code of Conduct

This is to confirm that the Board of Directors of the Company 
has laid down a Code of Conduct for its Members and 
Senior Management Personnel of the Company. It is further 
confirmed that all the Directors and Senior Management 
Personnel of the Company has affirmed compliance with the 
Code of Conduct of the Company for the financial year ended 
31st March, 2025 as envisaged in Clause 49 of the Listing 
Agreement with the Stock Exchanges.

Place : Kolkata
Date  : 23rd May 2025
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CERTIFICATE OF NON-DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS
(Pursuant to Regulation 34(3) and Schedule V Para C clause (10)(i) of the SEBI

(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015)

To,

The Members,

M/s Alfred Herbert (India) Ltd

CIN: L74999WB1919PLC003516

13/3 Strand Road, Kolkata – 700001

WEST Bengal, India

I have examined the following documents:

a.  Declaration of non-disqualification as required under 
section 164 of the Companies Act, 2013,

b.  Disclosure of concern of interest as required under 

section 184 of the Act. (hereinafter referred to as relevant 

documents) as received from the Directors of Alfred Herbert 

(India) Ltd bearing CIN- L74999WB1919PLC003516, having its 

registered office at 13/3 Strand Road, Kolkata – 700001 (herein 
after referred to as ‘the Company’), and the relevant registers, 

records, forms, and returns maintained by the Company and 

made available to me by the Company for the purpose of 

issuing this certificate in accordance with regulation 34(3) 
read with schedule V Part C Clause 10(i) of the Securities and 

Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 

requirements) Regulations 2015.

Based on the examination as aforesaid, and such other 

verification carried out by us as deemed necessary and 
adequate (including Director Identification Number(DIN) 
status of the respective directors at the portal www.mca.

gov.in in our opinion and best of our belief, information and 

knowledge and according to the explanations provided by 

the Company its officers and authorised representatives and 
written representation made by the respective directors, we 

hereby certify that none of the Directors on the board of the 

Company as stated below for the financial year ending on 
31st March 2025 have been debarred or disqualified from 
being appointed or continuing as the director of the Company 

by the Securities and Exchange Board of India, Ministry of 

Corporate Affairs or any such other statutory authority.

Sr. 
No.

Name of Director DIN
Date of 

appointment 
in company

1 Alka Bhandari 07737342 27.02.2017

2 Aditya Vikram Lodha 00036158 24.09.1987

3 Simika Lodha 02460015 30.03.2015

4 Harsh Vardhan Lodha 00394094 20.09.1990

5 Pandanda Kariappa Madappa 0058822 14.11.2022

6 Ashish Poddar 00282980 27.12.2023

Ensuring the eligibility for the appointment/ continuity as the 

director of the board is the responsibility of the management 

of the Company. My responsibility is to express an opinion 

based on our verification and representation made by the 
respective directors.

This Certificate is neither an assurance as to the future viability 
of the Company nor the efficiency or effectiveness with which 
the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

 M/s Suprabhat & Co
Company Secretary in Practice

Suprabhat Chakraborty.
Proprietor

ACS No. – 41030
C.P No. – 15878

Place: Kolkata  UDIN: A041030G000417111
Date:23/05/2025  Peer Review Certificate no.:2284/2022

CERTIFICATION OF CODE OF CONDUCT

The Board of Directors 23rd May 2025

Alfred Herbert (India) Limited

13/3 Strand Road

Kolkata-700 001 

This is to confirm that the Board of Directors of the Company has laid down a Code of Conduct for its Members and Senior 
Management Personnel of the Company. It is further confirmed that all the Directors and Senior Management Personnel of the 
Company has affirmed compliance with the Code of Conduct of the Company for the Financial Year ended 31st March 2025 as 
envisaged under Schedule V of Regulation 34(3) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations & Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

For Alfred Herbert (India) Limited

Partha Pratim Das

Chief Executive Officer
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STATUTORY COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

The Board of Directors 23rd May 2025

Alfred Herbert (India) Limited

13/3 Strand Road

Kolkata-700 001 

Pursuant to Part B of Schedule II of Regulation 17(8) of SEBI (Listing Obligations & Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, 

this is to certify that:

a) We, have reviewed financial statements and cash flow statement for the year ended 31st March 2025 and that to the best 
of our knowledge and belief:

 i) These statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain statements that 

might be misleading;

 ii) These statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in compliance with existing 

accounting Standards, applicable laws and regulations.

b) There are, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the Company during the year which are 

fraudulent, illegal or violative of the Company’s code of conduct.

c) We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for financial reporting and that we have 
evaluated the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Company pertaining to financial reporting and we have 
disclosed to the Auditors and the Audit Committee, deficiencies in the design or operation of such internal controls if any, 
of which, we are aware and the steps we have taken or propose to take to rectify these deficiencies.

d) We have indicated to the Auditors and the Audit Committee

 i) Significant changes in internal control over reporting during the year;

 ii) Significant change in accounting policies during the year and that the same have been disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements, 

 iii) Instances of significant fraud of which they have become aware and the involvement therein, if any, of the management 
or an employee having a significant role in the Company’s internal control system over financial reporting.

.

For Alfred Herbert (India) Limited

Partha Pratim Das

Chief Executive Officer
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Independent Auditor’s Report on compliance with the conditions of Corporate Governance

as per provisions of Chapter IV of Securities and Exchange Board of India

(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended

The Members of

Alfred Herbert India Limited

1. This certificate is issued in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 24th May, 2024.

2. This report contains details of compliance of conditions of corporate governance by Alfred Herbert India Limited (‘the 

Company’) for the year ended 31st March, 2025 as stipulated in regulations 17 to 27, clause (b) to (i) of regulation 46 (2) 

and paragraphs C, D and E of Schedule V of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regulations, 2015 as amended from time to time (‘Listing Regulations’) pursuant to the Listing Agreement 

of the Company with the Bombay Stock Exchange Limited (hereinafter referred to as the ‘Stock exchange’).

Management’s Responsibility for compliance with the conditions of Listing Regulations

3. The compliance with the terms and conditions contained in the corporate governance as stipulated under the listing 

regulations is the responsibility of the Management of the Company including the preparation and maintenance of all 

relevant supporting records and documents. This responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of 

internal control and procedures to ensure the compliance with the conditions of Corporate Governance stipulated in the 

Listing Regulations.

Auditor’s Responsibility

4. Our examination was limited to procedures and implementation thereof adopted by the Company for ensuring the 

compliance of the conditions of Corporate Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial 
statements of the Company.

5. Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Regulations, it is our responsibility to provide a reasonable assurance whether 

the Company has complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the Listing Regulations for the 

year ended 31st March, 2025.

6. We conducted our examination in accordance with the Guidance Note on Reports or Certificates for Special Purposes 
(Revised 2016) (the ‘Guidance Note’) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (‘ICAI’). The Guidance Note 

requires that we comply with the ethical requirements of the Code of Ethics issued by ICAI.

7. We have complied with the relevant applicable requirements of the Standard on Quality Control (SQC) 1, Quality Control 

for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Historical Financial Information, and Other Assurance and Related Services 

Engagements.

Opinion

8. In our opinion, and to the best of our information and according to explanations given to us, we certify that the Company 

has complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the above-mentioned Listing Regulations.

9. We state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the efficiency or 
effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

A Restriction on use

10. The certificate is addressed and provided to the members of the Company solely for the purpose to enable the Company 
to comply with the requirement of the Listing Regulations, and it should not be used by any other person or for any other 

purpose. Accordingly, we do not accept or assume any liability or any duty of care for any other purpose or to any other 

person to whom this certificate is shown or into whose hands it may come without our prior consent in writing.

For A L P S & Co.

Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No.: 313132E

A.K.Khetawat

(Partner)

Place: Kolkata  Membership No. 052751

Date: May 23, 2025 Udin: 25052751BMKNQZ1808
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To

The Members of

ALFRED HERBERT (INDIA) LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

OPINION

We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of ALFRED HERBERT (INDIA) LIMITED (“the Company”), 

which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31,2025, the Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive 

Income), the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, and notes to the standalone 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes for the year ended on 

that date (“the standalone financial statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid standalone 

financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and 

give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards notified under section 133 of the Act read with 

the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended from time to time (“Ind AS”) and other accounting 

principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2025, its profit (including other 

comprehensive income), changes in equity and its cash flows for the year ended on that date.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (“SAs”) specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our 

responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial 

Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 

the standalone financial statements under the provisions of the Act, and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ICAI’s Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence 

we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the standalone financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the standalone 

financial statements for the financial year ended March 31, 2025. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 

the standalone financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 

on these matters. We have considered the matters described below to be the key audit matters for incorporation in our report.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial 

Statements” section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of 

procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements. 

The result of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our 

opinion on the accompanying standalone financial statements.
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Key Audit Matters Addressing the Key Audit Matters

Compliance with the guidelines issued by the Reserve 

Bank of India

Our audit procedures based on which we arrived at the 

conclusion regarding reasonableness of the compliances 

by the Company with respect to the various guidelines 

issued by the RBI includes the following:

The Company is a Non-Banking Financial Company 

registered with the Reserve Bank of India (RBI) as Non-

Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking Company vide 

Registration No. 05.04665 dated 29th November, 2001. The 

Company is in the category of “Base Layer” in accordance 

with the “Scale Based Regulation: A Revised Regulatory 

Framework”.

In accordance with the above rules and regulations, the 

Company is required to file necessary returns within 

stipulated time, ensure compliance with the Prudential 

Guidelines, maintain net owned fund, make necessary 

disclosures in the standalone financial statements, and 

others as applicable to the Company.

We considered this to be a key audit matter since the 

compliances of the RBI are widespread, stringent and 

technical in nature, and the impact of non-compliance, if 

any, can be material to the standalone financial statements.

• Assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 

controls and policies relating to filing of necessary returns, 

applicable to the Company, as specified by the RBI;

• Tested the adherence of the minimum provisioning and 

other requirements and required compliances as per the 

Prudential Guidelines and other Directions and Regulations;

• Re-calculated the net owned fund and ensured that the 

same is being maintained as per the guidelines in this 

respect; and

Assessed adequacy of the compliances with respect to the 

disclosures made and effect being given in the standalone 

financial statements as specified by the RBI and applicable to 

the Company.

Information other than the Standalone Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report thereon

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the Annual Report but does not include the standalone financial statements, consolidated financial 

statements and our auditors’ reports thereon. Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other 

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified 

above when it becomes available, and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 

the standalone financial statements, or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report with respect to the above.

Responsibilities of Management and those Charged with Governance for the Standalone Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation 

of these standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance (including 

other comprehensive income), changes in equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles 

generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards notified under section 133 of the Act read with relevant 

rules, as amended from time to time. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance 

with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other 

irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable 

and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating 

effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation 
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of the standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error.

In preparing the standalone financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for The Audit of The Standalone Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect 

a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

standalone financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout 

the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 

to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 

one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 

of internal controls;

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the 

Company has adequate internal financial controls system in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls;

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management;

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the standalone financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 

concern;

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the standalone financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the standalone financial statements that, individually or in aggregate, makes 

it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the standalone financial statements may be 

influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in 

evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the standalone financial 

statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 

to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the standalone financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 

these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 

rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by the Central Government of India in 

terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, we give in the “Annexure A” a statement on the matters specified in 

paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.

2. Further to our comments in the annexure referred to in the paragraph above, as required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we 

report that:

 a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief 

were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

 b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it appears from 

our examination of those books.

 c) The Standalone Balance Sheet, the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), 

the Standalone Statement of Changes in Equity and the Standalone Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this Report are 

in agreement with the books of account;

 d) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the Indian Accounting Standards notified 

under Section 133 of the Act, read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended from 

time to time;

 e) On the basis of the written representations received from the Directors as on March 31, 2025 taken on record by the 

Board of Directors, none of the directors are disqualified as on March 31, 2025 from being appointed as a director in 

terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act; and

 f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to the standalone financial statements 

of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure B”. Our 

report expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal control with 

reference to the standalone financial statements of the Company.

3. With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditors’ Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies 

(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended from time to time), in our opinion and to the best of our information and 

according to the explanations given to us:

 i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigation on its financial position in its financial statements – Refer 

Note no. 34 to the financial statements.

 ii. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any material 

foreseeable losses;

 iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts, required to be transferred, to the Investor Education and Protection 

Fund by the Company;

 iv. (a) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief as disclosed in Note No. 49(b) to 

the standalone financial statements, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed 
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funds or securities premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person(s) 

or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing 

or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities 

identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any 

guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

  (b) The Management has represented, that, to the best of it’s knowledge and belief, as stated in Note No. 49(b) 

to the standalone financial statements, no funds have been received by the Company from any person(s) or 

entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing 

or otherwise, that the Company shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities 

identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Parties (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide 

any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; and

  (c) Based on the audit procedures that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances, 

nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the representations under sub-clause (i) and 

(ii) of Rule 11(e) of the Companies(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended from time to time, as provided 

under (a) and (b) above, contain any material mis-statement;

 v. As stated in note no. 44(b) to the standalone financial statements, the dividend    pertaining to the previous year 

declared and paid during the year by the Company is in accordance with the provisions of section 123 of the Act;

  As stated in note no. 50(a) to the standalone financial statements, the Board of Directors of the Company have 

proposed final dividend for the current year which is subject to the approval of the shareholders at the ensuing Annual 

General Meeting. The dividend proposed is in accordance with the provisions of section 123 of the Act; and

 vi. Based on our examination which included test checks, the Company has used accounting software for maintaining its 

books of accounts having feature of recording audit trail facility and is operated throughout the year for all relevant 

transactions recorded in the software. Further, we did not come across any instance of the audit trail features have 

been tempered with and it has been preserved by the Company as per the statutory requirements for record retention.

4. With respect to the reporting under section 197(16) of the Act to be included in the Auditors’ Report, in our opinion and 

according to the information and explanations given to us, the remuneration (including sitting fees) paid by the Company 

to its Directors during the current financial year is in accordance with the provisions of section 197 of the Act and is not in 

excess of the limit laid down therein.

For A L P S & Co.

Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No.: 313132E

A.K.Khetawat

(Partner)

Membership No. 052751

Udin: 25052751BMKNQV2743

Place: Kolkata

Date: May 23, 2025
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ANNEXURE “A” TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

(Referred to in paragraph 1 under “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” section of our report of even 
date to the members of M/S ALFRED HERBERT (INDIA) LIMITED)

i. In respect of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets

 a. A. The Company has maintained proper records 
showing full particulars, including quantitative 
details and situations of its property, plant and 
equipment; and

  B. The Company does not have any intangible 
assets and accordingly, reporting under clause 
(i)(a)(B) of paragraph 3 of the Order is not 
applicable to the Company;

 b. During the year, property, plant and equipment 
have been physically verified by the management 
according to a regular program of verification 
which, in our opinion, is reasonable having regard to 
the size of the Company and the nature of its assets. 
According to the information and explanations 
given to us, no material discrepancies were noticed 
on such verification;

 c. According to the information and explanations 
given to us and based on our examination of the 
relevant records of the Company, the title deeds of all 
immovable properties (other than properties where 
the Company is lessee and lease agreements are 
duly executed in favour of the lessee), as disclosed 
in note no. 11 on property, plant and equipment to 
the standalone financial statements, are held in the 
name of the Company as on the balance sheet date;

 d. The Company has not revalued any of its property, 
plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) 
during the year. The Company does not have any 
intangible assets. Accordingly, reporting under 
clause (i)(d) of paragraph 3 of the Order is not 
applicable to the Company; and

 e. According to the information and explanations 
given to us and as represented by the management, 
no proceeding has been initiated during the year or 
are pending against the Company as at March 31, 
2025 for holding any benami property under the 
Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 (45 of 
1988) and rules made thereunder, as amended from 
time to time. Accordingly, reporting under clause (i)
(e) of paragraph 3 of the Order is not applicable to 
the Company.

ii) a) The Company, being a non-banking financial 
company, primarily engaged in investment in 
securities and granting of loans, does not hold any 
inventories and accordingly, reporting under clause 
(ii)(a) of paragraph 3 of the Order is not applicable 
to the Company; and

 b) The Company has not been sanctioned any working 
capital limits at any point of time during the year, 
from banks or financial institutions on the basis of 
security of current assets and accordingly, reporting 
under clause (ii)(b) of paragraph 3 of the Order is 
not applicable to the Company.

iii) The Company has made investments in mutual funds 
during the year. The Company has not provided any 
guarantee or security or granted any loans or advances in 
the nature of loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, 
firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties 
during the year.

 (a) The Company is a non-banking financial company 
and its principal business is to give loans, accordingly, 
reporting under clause (iii)(a) of paragraph 3 of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company; 

 (b) In our opinion and according to the information 
and explanations given to us, the investments made 
during the year are, prima facie, not prejudicial to 
the interest of the Company; 

 (c) According to information and explanations 
given to us and based on our examination of the 
books of account, the Company has not provided 
any guarantee or security or granted any loans 
or advances in the nature of loans, secured or 
unsecured, to companies, firms, Limited Liability 
Partnerships or any other parties during the year, 
accordingly, reporting under clause (iii)(c) and (d) 
of paragraph 3 of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company;

 (d) The Company is a non-banking financial company 
and its principal business is to give loans, accordingly, 
reporting under clause (iii)(e) of paragraph 3 of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company; and

 (e) According to information and explanations given to 
us and based on our examination of the books of 
account, the Company has not granted any loans or 
advances in the nature of loan either repayable on 
demand or without specifying any terms or period 
of repayment during the year.

iv) In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the Company has not granted 
any loans in contravention of provisions of section 185 of 
the Act. The Company has complied with the provisions 
of section 186(1) of the Act; other provisions of section 
186 of the Act are not applicable to the Company.

v) In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the Company being a non-
banking financial company, the provisions of sections 73 
to 76 or any other relevant provisions of the Act and 
rules framed thereunder, with regards to acceptance of 
deposits are not applicable to the Company. Accordingly, 
reporting under clause (v) of paragraph 3 of the Order is 
not applicable to the Company.

vi) The Central Government has not prescribed the 
maintenance of cost records under sub-section (1) of 
section 148 of the Act for the business activities carried 
out by the Company. Accordingly, reporting under clause 
(vi) of paragraph 3 of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company. 
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vii) According to the information and explanations given 
to us and based on our examination of the books of 
account:

 a) During the year, the Company has generally been 
regular in depositing with appropriate authorities 
undisputed statutory dues including goods and 
services tax, provident fund, employees’ state 
insurance, income tax, sales tax, service tax, duty of 
customs, duty of excise, value added tax, cess and 
any other statutory dues, as applicable to it. There 
are no undisputed amounts in respect of goods 
and services tax, provident fund, employees’ state 
insurance, income tax, sales tax, service tax, duty 
of customs, duty of excise, value added tax, cess 
and any other material statutory dues, in arrears as 
at March 31, 2025 for a period of more than six 
months from the date they became payable; and

 (b) There are no statutory dues referred to in clause 
(vii)(a) above which have not been deposited on 
account of any dispute.

viii) In our opinion and on the basis of information and 
explanations given to us and as represented by the 
management, we have neither come across nor have 
been informed of transactions which were previously 
not recorded in books of account and that have been 
surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in 
the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961(43 
of 1961) and accordingly, reporting under clause (viii) 
of paragraph 3 of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company.

ix) In our opinion and on the basis of information and 
explanations given to us and based on our examination 
of the books of account of the Company:

 a) The Company has not taken any loans or other 
borrowings from any lender. Accordingly, reporting 
under clause (ix)(a) of paragraph 3 of the Order is 
not applicable to the Company;

 b) The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter 
by any bank or financial institution or any other 
lenders;

 c) The Company has not taken any term loan during 
the year and there are no outstanding term loans at 
the beginning of the year and accordingly, reporting 
under clause (ix)(c) of paragraph 3 of the Order is 
not applicable to the Company;

 d) The Company has not raised any loans on short 
term basis and accordingly, reporting under clause 
(ix)(d) of paragraph 3 of the Order is not applicable 
to the Company;

 e) The Company has not taken any funds from any 
entity or person on account of or to meet obligation 
of its subsidiaries. The Company does not have any 
associates or joint ventures. Accordingly, reporting 
under clause (ix)(e) of paragraph 3 of the Order is 
not applicable to the Company; and

 f) The Company has not raised loans during the year 
on the pledge of securities held in its subsidiaries. 
The Company does not have any associates or joint 
ventures. Accordingly, reporting under clause (ix)(f) 

of paragraph 3 of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company

x)  According to the information and explanations given 
to us and based on our examination of the books of 
account of the Company:

 a. The Company has not raised any money by way of 
initial public offer or further public offer (including 
debt instruments) during the year and accordingly, 
reporting under clause (x)(a) of paragraph 3 of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company; and

 b. The Company has not made any preferential 
allotment or private placement of shares or 
convertible debentures (fully, partially, or optionally 
convertible) during the year and accordingly, 
reporting under clause (x)(b) of paragraph 3 of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company.

xi) a. During the course of our examination of books and 
records of the Company carried out in accordance 
with generally accepted auditing practices in India, 
and according to the information and explanation 
given to us, we have neither come across any 
instance of fraud by the Company or on the 
Company noticed or reported during the year, nor 
have we been informed of any such cases by the 
management;

 b. According to the information and explanations 
given to us and based on our examination of the 
books and records of the Company, no report under 
sub-section (12) of section 143 of the Act, in Form 
ADT-4, as prescribed under Rule 13 of Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended 
from time to time) has been filed with the Central 
Government. Accordingly, reporting under clause 
(xi)(b) of paragraph 3 of the Order is not applicable 
to the Company; and

 c. According to the information and explanation given 
to us and based on our examination of the books 
of account of the Company, no whistle blower 
complaints have been received by the Company 
during the year. Accordingly, reporting under clause 
(xi)(c) of paragraph 3 of the Order is not applicable 
to the Company.

xii) In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the Company is not a Nidhi 
Company and accordingly, the Nidhi Rules, 2014 is not 
applicable to it. Accordingly, the reporting under clauses 
(xii)(a), (xii)(b) and (xii)(c) of paragraph 3 of the Order is 
not applicable to the Company.

xiii) According to the information and explanations given 
to us and based on our examination of the records of 
the Company, transactions with the related parties 
are in compliance with provisions of sections 177 and 
188 of the Act, where applicable, and details of such 
transactions have been disclosed in the standalone 
financial statements as required by the applicable 
accounting standards.

xiv) a. The Company has appointed a firm of Chartered 
Accountants to carry out the internal audit of the 
Company. In our opinion and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, the 
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internal audit system is commensurate with the size 
and nature of its business; and 

 b. We have considered, during the course of our audit, 
the reports of the internal auditor for the year 
under audit, issued to the Company during the year 
and till date, in determining the nature, timing and 
extent of our audit procedures in accordance with 
the guidance provided in SA 610 “Using the work of 
Internal Auditors”.

xv) According to the information and explanations given 
to us and as represented to us by the management and 
based on our examination of the records of the Company, 
the Company has not entered into non-cash transactions 
with directors or persons connected with them and 
accordingly, reporting under clause (xv) of paragraph 3 
of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

xvi) (a) The Company is required to be registered under 
section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 
and has obtained the requisite registration vide 
Registration No. 05.04665 dated November 29, 
2001;

 (b) The Company has not conducted any non–banking 
financial activities without a valid Certificate of 
registration from Reserve Bank of India as per the 
Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934;

 (c) According to information and explanation given to 
us by the management, the Company is not a Core 
Investment Company as defined in the regulations 
made by the Reserve Bank of India; and

 (d) According to the information and explanations 
given to us and representation received from the 
management, there is no core investment company 
within the group and accordingly, reporting under 
clause (xvi)(d) of paragraph 3 of the Order is not 
applicable to the Company.

xvii) Based on the examination of the books of accounts, we 
report that the Company has not incurred cash losses in 
the current financial year covered by our audit and in the 
immediately preceding financial year.

xviii) There has been no resignation of statutory auditors 
during the year and accordingly, reporting under clause 
(xviii) of paragraph 3 of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company.

xix) According to the information and explanations given 
to us and based on the financial ratios (refer note no. 
44) to the standalone financial statements), ageing 
and expected dates of realization of financial assets 
and payment of financial liabilities, other information 
accompanying standalone financial statements, our 
knowledge of the Board of Directors and management 
plans and based on our examination of the evidences 
supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to our 
attention, which causes us to believe that any material 
uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that 
Company is not capable of meeting its liabilities existing 
at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due 
within a period of one year from the balance sheet date. 
We, however, state that this is not an assurance as to 
the future viability of the Company. We further state 
that our reporting is based on the facts up to the date 
of the audit report and we neither given any guarantee 
nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due within a 
period of one year from the balance sheet date, will get 
discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.

xx) According to the information and explanations given 
to us and based on our examination of the books of 
account, the requirement for making expenditure 
towards corporate social responsibility activities is not 
applicable as per the criteria specified under section 135 
of the Act read with relevant rules issued thereunder 
from time to time and accordingly, reporting under 
clauses (xx)(a) and (xx)(b) of paragraph 3 of the Order is 
not applicable to the Company. 

xxi) The reporting under clause (xxi) of paragraph 3 of the 
Order is not applicable in respect of audit of standalone 
financial statements.

 For A L P S & Co.

 Chartered Accountants

 Firm’s Registration No: 313132E

 A.K.Khetawat

 (Partner)

Place: Kolkata Membership No. 052751

Date: May 23, 2025 UDIN: 25052751BMKNQV2743

ANNEXURE “B” TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

(Referred to in point (f) of paragraph 2 under “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” section of our 

report of even date to the members of M/S ALFRED HERBERT (INDIA) LIMITED)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to 

standalone financial statements under Clause (i) of Sub-
section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 

(hereinafter referred to as “the Act”).

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference 
to the standalone financial statements of ALFRED HERBERT 
(INDIA) LIMITED (hereinafter referred “the Company”) as 

at March 31, 2025 in conjunction with our audit of the 

standalone financial statements of the Company for the year 

ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility For Internal Financial 

Controls With Reference To The Standalone Financial 

Statements

The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for 

establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based 
on the internal control with reference to the standalone 

financial statements criteria established by the Company 
considering the essential components of internal control 
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stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 

Controls over Financial Reporting (hereinafter referred to as 

“the Guidance Note”) issued by the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants of India (hereinafter referred to as “the ICAI”). 

These responsibilities include the design, implementation and 

maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were 
operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient 
conduct of its business, including adherence to company’s 

policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and 

detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness 

of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of 

reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s 

internal financial controls with reference to the standalone 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with the Guidance Note issued by the 

ICAI and the Standards on Auditing notified under section 
143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of 

internal financial controls. Those Standards on Auditing 
and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal 

financial controls with reference to the standalone financial 
statements was established and maintained and if such 

controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls 
system with reference to the standalone financial statements 
and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal 

financial controls with reference to the standalone financial 
statements included obtaining an understanding of internal 

financial controls with reference to the standalone financial 
statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness 

exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating 

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 

including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 

of the standalone financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system 
with reference to the standalone financial statements.

Meaning Of Internal Financial Controls With Reference To 

The Standalone Financial Statements

A Company’s internal financial control with reference to 
the standalone financial statements is a process designed 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 

financial reporting and the preparation of the standalone 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. A Company’s 

internal financial control with reference to the standalone 
financial statements includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 

reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions 
and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide 

reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as 

necessary to permit preparation of the standalone financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company 

are being made only in accordance with authorizations 

of management and directors of the Company; and (3) 

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 

detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of 

the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 

standalone financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls With 

Reference To The Standalone Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial 
controls with reference to the standalone financial 
statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper 

management override of controls, material misstatements 

due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, 

projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls 
with reference to the standalone financial statements to 
future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial 
control with reference to the standalone financial statements 
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 

that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 

may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, to the best of our information and according 

to the explanations given to us, the Company has, in all 

material respects, an adequate internal financial controls with 
reference to the standalone financial statements and such 
internal financial controls with reference to the standalone 
financial statements were operating effectively as at March 
31, 2025, based on the internal control with reference to the 

standalone financial statements criteria established by the 
Company considering the essential components of internal 

control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal 

Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

 For A L P S & Co.

 Chartered Accountants

 Firm’s Registration No: 313132E

 A.K.Khetawat

 (Partner)

Place: Kolkata Membership No. 052751

Date: May 23, 2025 UDIN: 25052751BMKNQV2743
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Standalone Balance Sheet
as at March 31, 2025

(₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Note

Number

 As at
31st March, 

2025 

 As at
31st March, 

2024 

ASSETS

(I) Financial assets

(a)   Cash and cash equivalents 5  3.91  8.30 

(b)   Other bank balances 6  804.92  4.81 

(c)   Investments 7  6,836.84  7,474.55 

(d)   Other financial assets 8  38.10  29.99 

Total financial assets  7,683.77  7,517.65 

(II) Non financial assets

(a)   Current tax assets (net) 9  2.88  13.78 

(b)   Investment property 10  3,042.27  284.26 

(c)   Property, plant and equipment 11  721.56  83.60 

(d)   Capital work-in-progress 12  –    3,606.26 

(e)   Intangible assets 13  0.34  0.44 

(f)   Other non financial assets 14  61.60  47.51 

Total non financial assets  3,828.65  4,035.85 

TOTAL ASSETS  11,512.42  11,553.50 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities

(I) Financial liabilities

(a)   Lease liabilities 15  0.86  0.87 

(b)   Other financial liabilities 16  30.93  32.25 

Total financial liabilities  31.79  33.12 

(II) Non financial liabilities

(a)   Current tax liabilities (net) 9A  30.99  –

(b)   Deferred tax liabilities (net) 17  520.42  496.39 

(c)   Other non financial liabilities 18  6.79  7.41 

Total non financial liabilities  558.20  503.80 

(III) Equity

(a)   Equity share capital 19  77.14  77.14 

(b)   Other equity 20  10,845.29  10,939.44 

Total equity  10,922.43  11,016.58 

Total liabilities  589.99  536.92 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  11,512.42  11,553.50 

Accompanying notes to standalone Financial Statements 1-52

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the standalone financial statements    
As per our report of even date attached    
For A L P S & CO. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s Registration No.: 313132E
A. K. Khetawat    H. V. Lodha
Partner  Director
Membership No. 052751    DIN- 00394094

 Partha Pratim Das P. K. Madappa
Place: Kolkata Chief Executive Officer Director
Date: May 23, 2025  PAN- ADEPD0664L DIN- 00058822
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Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss
for the year ended March 31, 2025

(₹ in Lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars
Note 
no.

For the year 
ended

March 31, 2025

For the year 
ended

March 31, 2024

Revenue from operations

(i)    Interest income 21  64.69  47.17 

(ii)   Dividend income 22  39.70  35.13 

(iii)  Rental income 23  49.64  40.38 

(iv)  Net gain on fair value changes 24  68.15  72.09 

(v)  Profit on sale of investment property (net) 25  802.81  –   

(I) Total revenue from operations  1,024.99  194.77 

(II) Other income 26  0.24  0.28 

(III) Total income (I + II)  1,025.23  195.05 

Expenses

(i)     Finance costs 27  1.37  1.44 

(ii)    Impairment on financial instruments 28 –    0.55 

(iii)   Employee benefits expense 29  55.19  44.52 

(iv)   Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 30  77.76  17.39 

(v)   Other expenses 31  195.69  78.44 

(IV) Total expenses  330.01  142.34 

(V) Profit before exceptional item and tax (III - IV)  695.22  52.71 

(VI) Exceptional item –  –  

(VII) Profit before tax (V - VI)  695.22  52.71 

(VIII) Tax expense

Current tax  51.00 –

Deferred tax- charge/ (credit) 32  21.18  (19.60)

Income tax for earlier years –   0.05

(IX) Profit for the year (VII - VIII)  623.04  72.26

(X) Other comprehensive income

(i)   Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  (683.48)  1,636.87

(ii)  Income tax relating to above 33

      - Current tax –   –   

      - Deferred tax  2.85  232.54 

Total other comprehensive income for the year (i - ii)  (686.33)  1,404.33 

(XI) Total comprehensive income for the year (Comprising of profit 
and other comprehensive income for the year) (IX + X)

 (63.29)  1,476.59 

(XII) Earnings per equity share (Face value of ₹ 10 each) 37

Basic (₹)  80.76  9.37 

Diluted (₹)  80.76  9.37 

Accompanying notes to standalone financial statements 1-52

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the standalone financial statements    
As per our report of even date attached    
For A L P S & CO. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s Registration No.: 313132E
A. K. Khetawat    H. V. Lodha
Partner  Director
Membership No. 052751    DIN- 00394094

 Partha Pratim Das P. K. Madappa
Place: Kolkata Chief Executive Officer Director
Date: May 23, 2025  PAN- ADEPD0664L DIN- 00058822
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Standalone Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended March 31, 2025                                                                                                                              (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2024 

A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax 695.22 52.71

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expense  77.76  17.39 

Finance costs  1.37  1.44 

Rental income as per EIR method  (0.37)  (0.37)

Net gain on fair value changes  (68.15)  (72.09)

Impairment on financial instruments –    0.55 

Loss on discard of property, plant and equipment  0.19 –

Profit on sale of investment property  (802.81) –

Operating profit/ (loss) before working capital changes  (96.79)  (0.37)

Movement in working capital:

Decrease/ (increase) in loans and advances –  (0.55)

Decrease/ (increase) in other receivables  (19.83)  (10.14)

Increase/ (decrease) in other payables  9.38  (0.98)

Cash generated from/ (utilised in) operations  (107.24)  (12.04)

Taxes refund/ (paid)  (10.07)  1.94 

Net cash generated from/ (utilised in) operating activities  (117.31)  (10.10)

B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to investment property, property, plant and equipment, 
capital work-in-progress and intangible assets

 (313.37)  (227.12)

Proceeds from sale of investment property  1,237.25 – 

Purchase of investments  (557.01)  (469.72)

Proceeds from sale of investments  577.02  757.24 

Fixed deposits placed with banks  (800.00) –   

Net cash generated from/ (utilised in) investing activities  143.89  60.40 

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payment of lease liabilities  (0.11)  (18.82)

Dividend paid  (30.86)  (27.00)

Net cash generated from/ (utilised in) financing activities  (30.97)  (45.82)

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (4.39)  4.48 

Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the year  8.30  3.82 

Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the year  3.91  8.30 

Notes to standalone statement of cash flows:

(i) The above Standalone Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in the Indian 
Accounting Standard 7 “Statement of Cash Flows”.

(ii) Cash and cash equivalents do not include any amount which is not available to the Company for its use.
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(iii) Cash and cash equivalents (Refer note no. 5) as at the Balance Sheet date consists of:

(₹ in Lakhs)

                              Particulars As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Cash on hand  0.20  0.04 

Balances with banks

In current accounts  3.71  8.26 

Total  3.91  8.30 

(iv) Change in Company’s liabilities arising from financing activities:

Particulars  Amount (₹ in Lakhs) 

Lease liabilities (Refer note no. 15)

As at March 31, 2023  18.53 

Cash flows  (18.82)

Non cash flows  1.16 

As at March 31, 2024  0.87 

Cash flows  (0.11)

Non cash flows  0.10 

As at March 31, 2025  0.86 

(v) Additions to investment property, property, plant and equipment, capital work-in-progress and intangible assets include 
movement in capital advances and creditors for capital expenditure (retention money).

(vi) Direct taxes paid is treated as arising from operating activities and is not bifurcated between investing and financing 
activities.  

Accompanying notes to standalone financial statements              1-52

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the standalone financial statements    

Standalone Statement of Cash Flows (Contd.)
for the year ended March 31, 2025                                                                                                                    

As per our report of even date attached    

For A L P S & CO. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm’s Registration No.: 313132E

A. K. Khetawat    H. V. Lodha

Partner  Director

Membership No. 052751    DIN- 00394094

 Partha Pratim Das P. K. Madappa

Place: Kolkata Chief Executive Officer Director

Date: May 23, 2025  PAN- ADEPD0664L DIN- 00058822
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Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025

1 Corporate Information

 The Alfred Herbert (India) Limited (‘the Company”) is 

a Non-Banking Finance Company (NBFC) having the 

registered office at Herbert House 13/3, Strand Road, 
Kolkata-700 001 , engaged in non-banking financial 
activities financial service activities. It has been registered 
with the Reserve Bank of India (RBI) as a Non-Banking 

Finance Company (NBFC) and is therefore governed by 

directions and laws issued for NBFC by RBI.

2 Statement of Compliance with Ind AS and Recent 

Pronouncements

 2.1 Statement of Compliance

 “These financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind AS”) 

prescribed under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 

(“Act”) read with the Companies (Indian Accounting 

Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended from time to time). 

Ind ASs issued and notified by the Ministry of Corporate 
Affairs under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 

Rules, 2015 (as amended) till the financial statements 
approved for issue by the Board of Directors have been 

considered in preparing these financial statements. 
Accounting policies have been consistently applied 

except where a newly issued Indian Accounting Standard 

is initially adopted or a revision to an existing Indian 

Accounting Standard requires a change in the accounting 

policy hitherto in use.”

 2.2 Application of new and revised standards

 “On March 31, 2023, Ministry of Corporate Affairs 

(MCA) has made certain amendments to existing 

Indian Accounting Standards vide Companies (Indian 

Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2023. 

 These amendments to the extent relevant to the 

Company’s operations were relating to:

 Ind AS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” which 

requires the entities to disclose their material accounting 

policies rather than their significant accounting policies,  
 

Ind AS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors” whereby definition of ‘accounting 
estimates’ has been introduced and include amendments 

to help entities distinguish changes in accounting policies 

from changes in accounting estimates.

 Further, consequential amendments with respect to the 

concept of material accounting policies have also been 

made in Ind AS 107 ”Financial Instruments: Disclosures” 

and Ind AS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”.

 There are other amendments in various standards 

including Ind AS 101 ”First-time Adoption of Indian 

Accounting Standards”, Ind AS 103 ”Business 

Combinations”, Ind AS 109 ”Financial Instruments”, Ind 

AS 115 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, Ind 

AS 12 “Income Taxes” which has narrowed the scope of 

the initial recognition exemption so that it does not apply 

to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting 

temporary differences and Ind AS 102 “Share-based 

Payment” which have not been listed herein above since 

these are either not material or relevant to the Company. 

 

Revision in these standards did not have material impact 

on the profit/ loss and earnings per share for the year.”

 2.3 Recent accounting pronouncements

 Standards issued but not yet effective 

 Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) has not issued, 

under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 

Rules, any new standards or made amendments to the 

existing standards under the said Rule, which are effective 

from April 1, 2024 and applicable to the Company.

3 Significant Accounting Policies

 3.1 Basis of Preparation

 The Standalone Financial Statements have been 

prepared under the historical cost convention on accrual 

basis excepting certain financial instruments which 
are measured in terms of relevant Ind AS at fair value/ 

amortized costs at the end of each reporting period.

 Historical cost convention is generally based on the fair 

value of the consideration given in exchange for goods 

and services.

 The Standalone Financial Statements are presented 

in Indian Rupees and all values are rounded off to the 

nearest lakhs upto two decimal places.

 3.2 Fair Value Measurement

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 

asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date 

under current market conditions.

 The Company categorizes assets and liabilities measured 

at fair value into one of three levels depending on 

the ability to observe inputs employed for such 

measurement: 

 Level 1: Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 

markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within 

level 1 that are observable either directly or indirectly for 

the asset or liability.

 Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability which are not 
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based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

 The company has an established control framework 

with respect to the measurement of fair values. This 

includes a finance team that has overall responsibility 
for overseeing all significant fair value measurements 
who regularly review significant unobservable inputs, 
valuation adjustments and fair value hierarchy under 

which the valuation should be classified.

 3.3 Property Plant and Equipment

 Property, Plant and Equipment are stated at cost of 

acquisition, construction and subsequent improvements 

thereto less accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses, if any. For this purpose cost include deemed cost 

on the date of transition and comprises purchase price 

of assets or its construction cost including duties and 

taxes, inward freight and other expenses incidental to 

acquisition or installation and adjustment for exchange 

differences wherever applicable and any cost directly 

attributable to bring the asset into the location and 

condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in 

the manner intended for its use.

 Parts of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment having 

different useful lives and material value and subsequent 

expenditure on Property, Plant and Equipment arising 

on account of capital improvement or other factors are 

accounted for as separate components.

 The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant 

and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of 

the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits 
embodied within the part will flow to the Company and 
its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-

to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are 

recognised in the income statement when incurred.

 3.4 Investment Property

 “Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals 

or for capital appreciation, or both. Investment properties 

are measured initially at their cost of acquisition. The cost 

comprises purchase price, borrowing cost, if capitalisation 

criteria are met and directly attributable cost of bringing 

the asset to its working condition for the intended use. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 

amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 

only when it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Company. All 
other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in the 

Statement of Profit and Loss as incurred.”

 3.5 Derecognition of Tangible Assets and Investment 

Property

 An item of Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment 

Property is de-recognised upon disposal or when no 

future economic benefits are expected to arise from its 
use or disposal. Gain or loss arising on the disposal or 

retirement of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment 

and Investment Property is determined as the difference 

between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of 

the asset and is recognised in the Statement of Profit and 
Loss.

 3.6 Impairment of Tangible Assets and Investment 

Property

 Tangible assets and Investment Property are reviewed at 

each balance sheet date for impairment. In case events 

and circumstances indicate any impairment, recoverable 

amount of assets is determined. An impairment loss is 

recognized in the statement of profit and loss, whenever 
the carrying amount of assets either belonging to Cash 

Generating Unit (CGU) or otherwise exceeds recoverable 

amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of asset’s 

fair value less cost of disposal and its value in use. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
from the use of the assets are discounted to their present 

value at appropriate rate.

 Impairment losses recognized earlier may no longer exist 

or may have come down. Based on such assessment at 

each reporting period the impairment loss is reversed 

and recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss. In 
such cases the carrying amount of the asset is increased 

to the lower of its recoverable amount and the carrying 

amount that have been determined, net of depreciation, 

had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in 

prior years.

 3.7 Capital work in progress and Capital Advances

 Cost of assets not ready for intended use, as on the 

Balance Sheet date, is shown as Capital work in progress. 

Advances given towards acquisition of Property, Plant 

and Equipment outstanding at each Balance Sheet date 

are disclosed in Other Non Financial Assets.

 3.8 Foreign Currency Transactions

 Transactions in foreign currencies are accounted for at the 

exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. 

Foreign currency assets and liabilities are translated at 

exchange rates prevailing at the year end. The loss or 

gain thereon and also on the exchange differences on 

settlement of the foreign currency transaction during the 

year are recognized in the Statement of Profit & Loss, 
except in the cases where any fixed asset acquired from 
a country outside India, in such case, these are adjusted 

to the cost of respective fixed assets.

 3.9 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (financial 
instruments) are recognised when the Company becomes 
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a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets 
and financial Liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are 
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial 
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 

acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss. However, trade 
receivables that do not contain a significant financing 
component are measured at transaction price.

 The classification of financial instruments whether to 
be measured at Amortized Cost, at Fair Value through 

Profit or Loss (FVTPL) or at Fair Value through Other 
Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI) depends on the 

objective and contractual terms to which they relate. 

Classification of financial instruments are determined on 
initial recognition.

 (i) Cash and cash equivalents

 All highly liquid financial instruments, which are readily 
convertible into determinable amounts of cash and 

which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in 
value and are having original maturities of three months 

or less from the date of purchase, are considered as cash 

equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents includes balances 

with banks which are unrestricted for withdrawal and 

usage.

 (ii) Investment in subsidiaries

 The Company has chosen to carry investments in 

subsidiaries at cost less impairment, if any in the 

standalone financial statements.

 (iii) Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities measured 

at amortised cost

 Financial Assets held within a business whose objective 

is to hold these assets in order to collect contractual 

cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial 
asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 

amount outstanding are measured at amortized cost.

 The above Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

subsequent to initial recognition are measured at 

amortized cost using Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method.

 The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts 

estimated future cash payments or receipts (including all 

fees and points paid or received, transaction costs and 

other premiums or discounts) through the expected life 

of the Financial Asset or Financial Liability to the gross 

carrying amount of the financial asset or to the amortised 
cost of financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter 
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

 (iv) Financial Asset at Fair Value through Other 

Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI)

 Financial assets are measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income if these financial assets are held 
within a business whose objective is achieved by both 

collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial 
assets and the contractual terms of the financial asset 
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 

amount outstanding. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

they are measured at fair value and changes therein are 

recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

 (v) For the purpose of para (iii) and (iv) above, principal 

is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition 
and interest consists of consideration for the time value 

of money and associated credit risk.

 (vi) Financial Assets or Liabilities at Fair value through 

profit or loss

 Financial Instruments which does not meet the criteria of 

amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 

income, as applicable in each case, are classified as Fair 
Value through Profit or loss. These are recognised at 
fair value and changes therein are recognized in the 

statement of profit and loss.

 (vii) Impairment of financial assets

 A financial asset is assessed for impairment at each 
balance sheet date. A financial asset is considered to 
be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or 

more events have had a negative effect on the estimated 

future cash flows of that asset.

 The company measures the loss allowance for a financial 
asset at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit 

losses if the credit risk on that financial instrument has 
increased significantly since initial recognition. If the 
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the company 
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument 
at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses.

 However, for trade receivables or contract assets 

that result in relation to revenue from contracts with 

customers, the company measures the loss allowance at 

an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

 (viii) Derecognition of financial instruments

 The Company derecognizes a financial asset or a group 
of financial assets when the contractual rights to the 
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cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the asset to another party.

 On derecognition of a financial asset (except for equity 
instruments designated as FVTOCI), the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 

consideration received and receivable are recognized in 

statement of profit and loss.

 On derecognition of assets measured at FVTOCI the 

cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to 
profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

 Financial liabilities are derecognized if the Company’s 

obligations specified in the contract expire or are 
discharged or cancelled. The difference between the 

carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in 

Statement of Profit and Loss.

 3.10 Equity Share Capital

 An equity instrument is a contract that evidences residual 

interest in the assets of the company after deducting all 

of its liabilities. Par value of the equity shares is recorded 

as share capital and the amount received in excess of par 

value is classified as Securities Premium.

 Costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares 

are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax 

effects.

 3.11 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 

Assets

 Provisions involving substantial degree of estimation in 

measurement are recognized when there is a legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of past events and it 

is probable that there will be an outflow of resources 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 

of obligation. Provisions are not recognised for future 

operating losses. The amount recognized as a provision 

is the best estimate of the consideration required to 

settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting 

period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 

surrounding the obligation.

 Contingent liabilities are not recognized and are disclosed 

by way of notes to the standalone financial statements 
when there is a possible obligation arising from past 

events, the existence of which will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 

uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 

the Company or when there is a present obligation that 

arises from past events where it is either not probable 

that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 

same or a reliable estimate of the amount in this respect 

cannot be made.

 Contingent assets are not recognised but disclosed in 

the Standalone Financial Statements by way of notes 

to accounts when an inflow of economic benefits is 
probable.

 3.12 Employee Benefits

 Employee benefits are accrued in the year in which 
services are rendered by the employees. Short term 

employee benefits are recognized as an expense in the 
statement of profit and loss for the year in which the 
related service is rendered.

 (i) Gratuity (Defined Benefit Plan) : The Company 
has a Gratuity Fund administered by the Trustees, 

which is independent of the Company’s finance. The 
liability in respect of Gratuity has been determined 

by actuarial valuation following Projected Unit Credit 

Method. 

 (ii) Leave Encashment : According to the prevailing 

practice of the Company, the employees are allowed to 

enjoy the leave within the year. No encashment of leave 

is allowed. 

 iii) Provident Fund (Defined Contribution Scheme) : 
Accounted for on accrual basis based on the monthly 

contribution made to the appropriate authorities.

 3.13 Recognition of Dividend and Interest Income

 “Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable 

that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. 

Dividend Income is recognised when the Company’s 

right to receive the payment is established. 

Under Ind AS 109, interest income is recorded using 

the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method for all financial 
instruments measured at amortised cost. The EIR is 

the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 

receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, 

to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
The EIR (and therefore the amortised cost of the asset) 

is calculated by taking into account any discount or 

premium on acquisition, fees and costs that are an 

integral part of the EIR.”

 3.14 Leases

 As a lessee

 “A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract 

conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

The Company’s lease asset class primarily consist of leases 
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for Land. At the inception of the contract, Company 

assess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A 

contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys 

the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess 

whether a contract conveys the right to control the use 

of an identified asset, the Company assesses whether:  
(i) the contract involves the use of an identified asset  
(ii) Company has substantially all of the economic benefits 
from the use of the asset through the period of the lease and  

(iii) Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. 

 

At the date of commencement of the lease, Company 

recognizes a right-of-use asset (“”ROU””) and a 

corresponding lease liability for all lease arrangements 

in which it is a lessee, except for leases with a term of 

twelve months or less (short-term leases) and low-value 

leases. For these short-term or low-value leases, the 

Company recognizes the lease payments as an operating 

expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at 

cost, which comprises the initial amount of the 

lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made 

at or before the commencement date of the lease 

plus any initial direct cost less any lease incentives. 

They are subsequently measured at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Certain lease arrangements includes the options to extend 

or terminate the lease before the end of the lease term. 

ROU assets and lease liabilities include these options 

when it is reasonably certain that they will be exercised. 

The lease liability is initially measured at amortized 

cost at the present value of the future lease payments. 

The lease payments are discounted using the 

interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily 

determinable, using the incremental borrowing rates. 

Lease liabilities are remeasured with a corresponding 

adjustment to the related right of use asset if the 

Company changes its assessment if whether it 

will exercise an extension or a termination option. 

On the Balance Sheet, ROU assets have been included in 

property, plant and equipment and lease liabilities have 

been presented separately.”

 3.15 Taxes on Income

 Income tax expense representing the sum of current 

tax expense and the net charge of the deferred taxes is 

recognized in the income statement except to the extent 

that it relates to items recognized directly in equity or 

other comprehensive income.

 Current tax is provided on the taxable income and 

recognized at the amount expected to be paid to or 

recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates 

and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

 Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences 

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

in the Standalone Financial Statements and the 

corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 

taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred 

tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible 

temporary differences to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profits will be available against which those 
deductible temporary differences can be utilized.

 Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the 

tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 

which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based 

on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 

at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 

the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax asset to be utilized.

 3.16 Earnings Per Share

 Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing 

the net profit attributable to the equity shareholders 
of the company by the weighted average number of 

equity shares outstanding during the period. Diluted 

earnings per share is computed by dividing the net profit 
attributable to the equity shareholders of the company 

by the weighted average number of equity shares 

considered for deriving basic earnings per share and 

also the weighted average number of equity shares that 

could have been issued upon conversion of all dilutive 

potential equity shares.

4 Critical accounting judgments, assumptions and key 

sources of estimation and uncertainty

 The preparation of the standalone financial statements 
in conformity with the measurement principle of Ind AS 

requires management to make estimates, judgments 

and assumptions. These estimates, judgments and 

assumptions affect the application of accounting policies 

and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 

the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at 

the date of the standalone financial statements and 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 

the period. Accounting estimates could change from 

period to period. Actual results could differ from 

those estimates. Appropriate changes in estimates are 

made as management becomes aware of changes in 

circumstances surrounding the estimates. Differences 



43

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 (Contd.)

between the actual results and estimates are recognized 

in the year in which the results are known / materialized 

and, if material, their effects are disclosed in the notes to 

the financial statements.

 Application of accounting policies that require significant 
areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgments 

and the use of assumptions in the financial statements 
have been disclosed below. The key assumptions 

concerning the future and other key sources of 

estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that 

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the 

next financial year are discussed below:

 4.1 Depreciation and impairment on property, plant 

and equipment and investment property

 Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on 

straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives in 

accordance with Schedule II of the Companies Act, 

2013, taking into account the estimated residual value, 

wherever applicable.

 The company reviews its carrying value of its Tangible 

Assets and Investment Property whenever there is 

objective evidence that the assets are impaired. In 

such situation Asset’s recoverable amount is estimated 

which is higher of asset’s or cash generating units (CGU) 

fair value less cost of disposal and its value in use. In 

assessing value in use the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted using pre-tax discount rate which reflect 
the current assessment of time value of money. In 

determining fair value less cost of disposal, recent market 

realisations are considered or otherwise in absence of 

such transactions appropriate valuations are adopted. 

The Company reviews the estimated useful lives of the 

assets regularly in order to determine the amount of 

depreciation and amount of impairment expense to be 

recorded during any reporting period. This reassessment 

may result in change estimated in future periods.

 4.2 Current Tax and Deferred Tax

 “Significant judgment is required in determination of 

taxability of certain income and deductibility of certain 

expenses during the estimation of the provision for 

income taxes. 

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused losses 

(carry forward of prior years’ losses) and unused tax 

credit to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
would be available against which the losses could be 

utilised. Significant management judgment is required 
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that 

can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the 

level of future taxable profits together with future tax 
planning strategies.”

 4.3 Defined Benefit Obligations (DBO)

 Critical estimate of DBO involves a number of critical 

underlying assumptions such as standard rates of 

inflation, mortality, discount rate, anticipation of future 
salary increases, etc as estimated by Independent Actuary 

appointed for this purpose by the Management. Variation 

in these assumptions may significantly impact the DBO 
amount and the annual defined benefit expenses.

 4.4 Provisions and Contingencies

 “Provisions and liabilities are recognized in the period 

when it becomes probable that there will be a future 

outflow of funds resulting from past operations or 
events and the amount of cash outflow can be reliably 
estimated. The timing of recognition and quantification 
of the liability requires the application of judgement to 

existing facts and circumstances, which can be subject to 

change.

 Management judgment is required for estimating 

the possible outflow of resources, if any, in respect of 
contingencies/claim/litigations/ against the Company 

as it is not possible to predict the outcome of pending 

matters with accuracy.

 The carrying amounts of provisions and liabilities and 

estimation for contingencies are reviewed regularly 

and revised to take account of changing facts and 

circumstances.”
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5 Cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                                             (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Refer

note no.
As at

March 31, 2025
As at

March 31, 2024

Cash on hand  0.20  0.04 

Balances with banks :

      In current accounts  3.71  8.26 

Total  3.91  8.30 

6 Other bank balances                                                                                                                                       (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Refer

note no.
As at

March 31, 2025
As at

March 31, 2024

Earmarked balances with banks in unpaid dividend account  4.92  4.81 

Fixed deposits with banks  800.00 – 

Total  804.92  4.81 

7 Investments                                                                                                                                                         (₹ in Lakhs) 

Sl. no. Particulars As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

I Amortised cost

i) Bonds  411.60 549.97

 411.60 549.97 

II Fair value through other comprehensive income

i)   Quoted equity shares  5,212.21 5,899.64 

ii)  Unquoted equity shares  16.87 15.28 

     Less: Allowance for impairment loss  (1.00)  (1.00)

 5,228.08 5,913.92 

III Fair value through profit or loss

i)   Debt oriented mutual funds  1,127.16 940.66 

 1,127.16 940.66 

IV Others

i)   Unquoted equity shares in subsidiary companies at cost  160.00 160.00 

     Less: Allowance for impairment loss  (90.00)  (90.00)

 70.00 70.00 

Total  6,836.84 7,474.55

Note :
a) The scrip wise details of the investments are given in note 7.1

b) All investments are within India

c) Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investment  91.00 91.00

d) Details of subsidiaries in accordance with Ind AS 112 “Disclosure of interests in other entities” and Ind AS 27 “Separate 
financial statements”

Name of the subsidiary company Principal 
business 
activity

Country of 
incorporation

Proportion of ownership interest/ voting 
rights held by the Company

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Investment in equity shares
Investment

Operations are 
discontinued

   Herbert Holdings Limited India 100.00% 100.00%

   Alfred Herbert Limited India 100.00% 100.00%

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 (Contd.)
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e) The Company has elected an irrevocable option to designate its investment in equity instruments (other than investment in 

subsidiary companies) through FVTOCI, as these investments are not held for trading and the Company continues to invest 

in these securities on long-term basis. This includes investments made in equity of the companies which are leaders in their 

respective sectors and the Company believes that these investments have potential to remain accretive over the long-term.

f) The Company’s investments in unquoted equity shares have been valued based on latest available audited financial 

statements. 

g) Out of the total dividend recognised during the year from investment in equity instruments designated at FVTOCI, Nil 

(March 31, 2024- Nil) is relating to investments derecognised during the period and ₹ 39.70 Lakhs (March 31, 2024- ₹ 35.13 

Lakhs) pertains to investments held at the end of the reporting period (Also refer note no. 22).

h) During the year, pursuant to issue of bonus shares in the ratio of 1:1, the Company has received 1,18,667 equity shares of 

Rs. 10 each of Reliance Industries Limited, taking the total shareholding of the Company to 2,37,334 equity shares of Rs. 

10 each as on March 31, 2025.

i) During the year, pursuant to demerger of the hotels business of ITC Limited, the Company has been allotted, in the ratio 

of 1:10, 9,000 equity shares of Re. 1 each of ITC Hotels Limited for 90,000 fully paid-up equity shares of Re. 1 each held by 

the Company in ITC Limited.

j) The other disclosures regarding fair value and risk arising from financial instruments are explained in note no. 42 & 43.

k) Movement in allowance for impairment loss                                                                                                        (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars For the year ended 

March 31, 2025

For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Balance as at the beginning of the year  91.00 91.00 

Recognised during the year – –

Written back/ adjusted during the year – –

Balance as at the end of the year  91.00 91.00 

7.1 Details of investments                                                                                                                                           (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Refer 
note no.

Face value 
as on March 

31, 2025

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Number/ 
units

Amount Number/ 
units

Amount

Investment in mutual funds- Unquoted
Measured at fair value through profit or loss

HDFC Low Duration Fund- Regular Plan- Growth –  –  –  91,762.730  48.32

HDFC Banking and PSU Debt Fund- Regular Plan- Growth 10 5,40,554.099  121.70 5,40,554.099  112.59

ICICI Prudential Banking and PSU Debt Fund- Growth 10 17,22,786.721  552.07 17,22,786.721  510.91

Axis Overnight Fund- Regular Plan- Growth –  –  –  18,905.624  238.78

Baroda BNP Paribas Overnight Fund- Regular Plan- Growth –  –  –  2,397.721  30.06

ICICI Prudential Short Term Fund- Regular Plan- Growth 10  4,50,381.241  264.95  –  –

ICICI Prudential Bluechip Fund- Growth 10  1,83,090.171  188.44  –  –

(a) Total investment in mutual funds  1,127.16 940.66

Investment in bonds- Quoted
Measured at amortised cost

8.30% NHAI Tax Free Bonds –  –  –  3,743  38.37

8.50% NHAI Tax Free Bonds 1000  20,000  200.00  30,000  300.00

8.75% NHAI Tax Free Bonds 1000  21,200  211.60  21,200  211.60

(b) Total investment in bonds  411.60 549.97
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Particulars Refer 
note no.

Face value 
as on March 

31, 2025

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Number/ 
units

Amount Number/ 
units

Amount

Investment in equity instruments (fully paid-up)- Quoted
Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Grasim Industries Limited 2  157  4.10  157  3.59

HDFC Bank Limited 1  10,900  199.31  10,900  157.85

Hindalco Industries Limited 1  45,750  312.18  45,750  256.41

Reliance Industries Limited 7(h) 10  2,37,334  3,026.01  1,18,667  3,532.10

Jio Financial Services Limited 10  1,18,667  269.85  1,18,667  419.84

ITC Limited 1  90,000  368.82  90,000  385.70

ITC Hotels Limited 7(i) 1  9,000  17.78  –  –

Vedanta Limited 1  6,012  27.90  6,012  16.33

Birla Corporation Limited 10  50,000  527.60  50,000  712.20

ICICI Bank Limited 2  25,000  337.10  25,000  273.96

Nestle India Limited 1  5,400  121.56  5,400  141.66

Sub-total- investment in quoted equity instruments (i)  5,212.21 5,899.64

Investment in equity instruments (fully paid-up)- Unquoted
Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Woodlands Multispeciality Hospital Limited 10  1,780  15.87  1,780  14.28

Kirloskar Computer Services Limited 10  10,000  1.00  10,000  1.00 

Less: Allowance for impairment loss 7(k)  (1.00)  (1.00)

Sub-total- investment in unquoted equity instruments (ii)  15.87 14.28

Investment in equity instruments of subsidiaries (fully paid-
up)- Unquoted
Measured at cost

Herbert Holdings Limited 10  2,20,000  70.00  2,20,000  70.00

Alfred Herbert Limited 10  9,00,007  90.00  9,00,007  90.00 

Less: Allowance for impairment loss 7(k)  (90.00)  (90.00)

Sub-total- investment in equity instruments of subsidiaries (iii)  70.00 70.00

(c) Total investment in equity instruments (i+ii+iii)  5,298.08 5,983.92

Total (a+b+c)  6,836.84 7,474.55
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8. Other financial assets (Unsecured, considered good)                                                                                         (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer

note no.
As at

March 31, 2025
As at

March 31, 2024

At amortised cost

Security deposits  16.40  26.43 

Interest accrued but not due on financial assets measured at amortised 
cost

 20.98  3.47 

Others 8.1  0.72  0.09 

Total  38.10  29.99 

    
8.1 Represents receivable from subsidiary company for reimbursement of expenses
    
9 Current tax assets (net)                                                                                                                                  (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer

note no.
As at

March 31, 2025
As at

March 31, 2024

Advance tax including tax deducted at source (net of provision for tax) 9.1  2.88  13.78 

Total  2.88  13.78 

9.1 Advance tax, including tax deducted at source is net of provision for tax of ₹ 0.18 Lakhs (March 31, 2024- ₹ 0.18 Lakhs).

10.  Investment property

 As at March 31, 2025                                                                                                                                          (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Land Building Total

Gross Block

As at March 31, 2024  21.75  262.51  284.26 

Additions during the year  –    3,238.13  3,238.13 

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  3.01  435.35  438.36 

As at March 31, 2025  18.74  3,065.29  3,084.03 

Accumulated depreciation

As at March 31, 2024  –    –    –   

Charge during the year  –    45.68  45.68 

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  –    3.92  3.92 

As at March 31, 2025  –    41.76  41.76 

Net block as at March 31, 2025  18.74  3,023.53  3,042.27 
    

 As at March 31, 2024                                                                                                                                     (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Land Building Total

Gross Block

As at March 31, 2023  21.75  262.51  284.26 

Additions during the year  –    –    –   

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  –    –    –   

Accumulated depreciation

As at March 31, 2023  –    –    –   

Charge during the year  –    –    –   

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  –    –    –   

As at March 31, 2024  –    –    –   

Net block as at March 31, 2024  21.75  262.51  284.26 
    

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 (Contd.)
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10.1 Disclosure pursuant to Ind AS 40 “Investment Property”

 (a) Amount recognised in the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss in respect of investment property is as under:

(₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Rental income derived from investment property  49.27  40.01 

Direct operating expenses arising from investment property that generated 
rental income

 16.91  7.88 

Direct operating expenses arising from investment property that did not 
generate rental income

 –    –   

(b) The fair value of the investment property is ₹ 13,097.92 Lakhs (March 31, 2024- ₹ 8,376.43 Lakhs) as on March 31, 2025. 

The fair value has been determined on the basis of valuation carried out at the reporting date by registered valuer as de-

fined under Rule 2 of the Companies (Registered Valuers and Valuation) Rules, 2017, as amended from time to time. The 
main inputs considered by the valuer are government rates, property location, market research and trends, contracted 

rentals, terminal yields, discount rates and comparable values, as appropriate.

10.2 The title deeds of the immovable properties are held in the name of the Company.  

11 Property, plant and equipment

 As at March 31, 2025                                                                                                                                      (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Land- 

freehold

Land and 

building- 

right of use

Building
Plant and 

equipment

Furniture 

and 

Fixtures

Total

Gross block

As at March 31, 2024  14.49  67.74  77.24  14.80  0.12  174.41 

Additions during the year  111.74  –    –    558.39  –    670.13 

Disposals/ adjustments during the year  –    66.75  0.59  0.20  0.01  67.55 

As at March 31, 2025  126.23  0.99  76.65  572.99  0.11  776.99 

Accumulated depreciation

As at March 31, 2024  –    65.89  17.42  7.40  0.10  90.81 

Charge during the year (Refer note no. 28)  –    1.16  2.82  27.99  0.01  31.98 

Disposals/ adjustments during the year  –    66.75  0.48  0.13  –    67.36 

As at March 31, 2025  –    0.30  19.76  35.26  0.11  55.43 

Net block as at March 31, 2025  126.23  0.69  56.89  537.73  –    721.56 

 As at March 31, 2024                                                                                                                                     (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Land- 

freehold

Land and 

building- 

right of use

Building
Plant and 

equipment

Furniture 

and 

Fixtures

Total

Gross block

As at March 31, 2023  14.49  67.74  77.24  14.80  0.12  174.41 

Additions during the year  –    –    –    –    –    –   

Disposals/ adjustments during the year  –    –    –    –    –    –   

As at March 31, 2024  14.49  67.74  77.24  14.80  0.12  174.41 

Accumulated depreciation

As at March 31, 2023  –    52.49  14.60  6.34  0.09  73.52 

Charge during the year (Refer note no. 28)  –    13.40  2.82  1.06  0.01  17.29 

Disposals/ adjustments during the year  –    –    –    –    –    –   

As at March 31, 2024  –    65.89  17.42  7.40  0.10  90.81 

Net block as at March 31, 2024  14.49  1.85  59.82  7.40  0.02  83.60 
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11.1 The title deeds of the immovable properties are held in the name of the Company.

12. Capital work-in-progress                                                                                                                                (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

As at

March 31, 2025

As at

March 31, 2024

Balance as at the beginning of the year  3,606.26  3,388.77 

Additions during the year  190.26  217.49 

Capitalised during the year  (3,796.52)  –   

Balance as at the end of the year  –    3,606.26 

12.1  Ageing of capital work-in-progress      

As at March 31, 2025                                                                                                                                              (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Amount in capital work-in-progress for a period of

Total
Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years

Projects in progress  –    –    –    –    –   

Projects temporarily suspended  –    –    –    –    –   

Total  –    –    –    –    –   

As at March 31, 2024

Particulars
Amount in capital work-in-progress for a period of

Total
Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years

Projects in progress  217.49  474.95  475.81  2,438.01  3,606.26 

Projects temporarily suspended  –    –    –    –    –   

Total  217.49  474.95  475.81  2,438.01  3,606.26 

13 Intangible Assets                                                                                                                                            (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

As at

March 31, 2025

As at

March 31, 2024

Computer software (acquired)

Gross block

Balance as at the beginning of the year  0.54  –   

Additions during the year  –    0.54 

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  –    –   

Balance as at the end of the year  0.54  0.54 

Accumulated amortisation

Balance as at the beginning of the year  0.10  –   

Charge during the year (Refer note no. 28)  0.10  0.10 

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  –    –   

Balance as at the end of the year  0.20  0.10 

Net block as at the end of the year  0.34  0.44 
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14 Other Non Financial Assets                                                                                                                            (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

As at

March 31, 2025

As at

March 31, 2024

Advances other than capital advances

Other advances

Balances with government authorities  59.80  47.07 

Defined benefit plan assets (net) 41  1.80  0.09 

Others  –    0.35 

Total  61.60  47.51 

 

15 Lease Liabilities                                                                                                                                                (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

As at

March 31, 2025

As at

March 31, 2024

At amortised cost

   Lease liabilities 39  0.86  0.87 

Total  0.86  0.87 

       

16 Other Financial Liabilities                                                                                                                               (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

As at

March 31, 2025

As at

March 31, 2024

Unpaid dividend 16.1  4.92  4.81 

Others

Security deposits  10.44  8.13 

Retention money  5.47  16.83 

Others  10.10  2.48 

Total  30.93  32.25 

16.1 There are no amounts due and outstanding to be credited to Investor Education and Protection Fund as at the balance 

sheet date.

9A Current tax liabilities (net)                                                                                                                                 (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer

note no.
As at

March 31, 2025
As at

March 31, 2024

Provision for tax (net of advance tax, including tax deducted at source) 9A.1  30.99  –   

Total  30.99  –   

9A.1  Provision for tax is net of advance tax, including tax deducted at source of ₹ 20.97 Lakhs (March 31, 2024- Nil).

     

17 Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net)                                                                                                                                (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

As at

March 31, 2025

As at

March 31, 2024

Deferred tax liabilities 17.1  520.42  496.39 

Deferred tax assets  –    –   

Deferred tax liabilities (net)  520.42  496.39 
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17.1 Components of Deferred Tax Liabilities/ (Assets) are as follows:

 As at and for the year ended March 31, 2025                                                                                                      (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars As at 

March 31, 

2024 

Charge/ 

(credit) in 

profit or loss 

Charge/ (credit) 

in other 

comprehensive 

income 

 As at 

March 31, 

2025 

Tax effect of items constituting deferred tax liabilities 

Timing difference w.r.t property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets 

 35.58  13.16  –    48.74 

Difference in carrying value and tax base of investments 

and effect of revaluation of assets 

 460.00  8.02  2.26  470.28 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan  0.81  –    0.59  1.40 

Total deferred tax liabilities  496.39  21.18  2.85  520.42 

Deferred tax assets  –    –    –    –   

Total deferred tax assets  –    –    –    –   

Deferred tax liabilities (net)  496.39  21.18  2.85  520.42 

 As at and for the year ended March 31, 2024                                                                                                       (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars As at 

March 31, 

2023 

Charge/ 

(credit) in 

profit or loss 

Charge/ (credit) 

in other 

comprehensive 

income 

 As at 

March 31, 

2024 

 Tax effect of items constituting deferred tax liabilities 

Timing difference w.r.t property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets

 35.34  0.24  –    35.58 

Difference in carrying value and tax base of investments 

and effect of revaluation of assets 

 247.54  (19.84)  232.30  460.00 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan  0.57  –    0.24  0.81 

Total deferred tax liabilities  283.45  (19.60)  232.54  496.39 

Deferred tax assets  –    –    –    –   

Total deferred tax assets  –    –    –    –   

Deferred tax liabilities (net)  283.45  (19.60)  232.54  496.39 

      

18 Other Non Financial Liabilities                                                                                                                         (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

As at

March 31, 2025

As at

March 31, 2024

Income received in advance  2.85  3.22 

Statutory dues (includes TDS, PF, ESI, etc)  0.23  0.48 

Others  3.71  3.71 

Total  6.79  7.41 
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19. Equity share capital                                                                                                                                        (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
As at

March 31, 2025
As at

March 31, 2024

Authorised 

50,00,000 (March 31, 2024- 50,00,000) equity shares of ₹ 10 each  500.00  500.00 

Total  500.00  500.00 

Issued, subscribed & fully paid-up

7,71,429 (March 31, 2024- 7,71,429) equity shares of ₹ 10 each  77.14  77.14 

Total  77.14  77.14 

19.1 Reconciliation of the number of equity shares outstanding

Particulars
For the year ended 

 March 31, 2025
For the year ended 
 March 31, 2024

Number of shares as at the beginning of the year  7,71,429  7,71,429 

Movement during the year  –    –   

Number of shares as at the end of the year  7,71,429  7,71,429 

19.2 Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to each class of equity shares 

 The Company has only one class of equity shares having a face value of ₹ 10 per share. Each holder of equity share is 
entitled to one vote per share. The Company may declare and pay dividends. The dividend, if any proposed by the Board 
of Directors of the Company is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting. In 
the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the 
Company, after distribution of all preferential amounts in proportion to the number of equity shares held by equity 
shareholders.

19.3 Shareholders holding more than 5 % of the equity shares in the Company:

Name of the shareholders As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Number of shares % shareholding Number of shares % shareholding

Ms. Anamika Lodha  2,20,576 28.59%  2,20,576 28.59%

Ms. Simika Lodha  2,20,576 28.59%  2,20,576 28.59%

Mr. H.V.Lodha  43,590 5.65%  43,590 5.65%

19.4 Details of shareholding of promoters 

 As at March 31, 2025

Name of the Promoter  Number of 
shares 

 % of total 
shares* 

 % change 
during the year 

Mr. A.V.Lodha  38,043 4.93%  –   

Mr. H.V.Lodha  43,590 5.65%  –   

Ms. Anamika Lodha  2,20,576 28.59%  –   

Ms. Simika Lodha  2,20,576 28.59%  –   

Mr. Aditya Vikram Lodha [Karta Of Rajendra Singh Aditya Vikram (HUF)]  8,133 1.05%  –   

Jain Industrial And Commercial Services Pvt. Ltd.  38,270 4.96%  –   

Mr. Vardhaman Lodha  6 0.00%  –   

Ms. Samvika  Lodha  299 0.04%  –   

Mr. Vijay Tandon (Trustee Of Iris Family Trust)  1 0.00%  –   

Elsi Services LLP  1 0.00%  –   

Ms. Avni Arya  1 0.00%  –   

Ms. Srishti Lodha  1 0.00%  –   

Ms. Anoushka Lodha  303 0.04%  –   

La Crème De La Crème Services LLP  1 0.00%  –   

City Holdings Private Limited  2 0.00%  –   

Harsh Chemicals Private Limited  2 0.00%  –   

Total  5,69,805 73.86%  –   
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 As at March 31, 2024

Name of the Promoter
 Number of 

shares 
 % of total 

shares* 
 % change 

during the year 

Mr. A.V.Lodha  38,043 4.93%  –   

Mr. H.V.Lodha  43,590 5.65%  –   

Ms. Anamika Lodha  2,20,576 28.59%  –   

Ms. Simika Lodha  2,20,576 28.59%  –   

Mr. Aditya Vikram Lodha [Karta Of Rajendra Singh Aditya Vikram (HUF)]  8,133 1.05%  –   

Jain Industrial And Commercial Services Pvt. Ltd.  38,270 4.96%  –   

Mr. Vardhaman Lodha  6 0.00%  –   

Ms. Samvika  Lodha  299 0.04%  –   

Mr. Vijay Tandon (Trustee Of Iris Family Trust)  1 0.00%  –   

Elsi Services LLP  1 0.00%  –   

Ms. Avni Arya  1 0.00%  –   

Ms. Srishti Lodha  1 0.00%  –   

Ms. Anoushka Lodha  303 0.04%  –   

La Crème De La Crème Services LLP  1 0.00%  –   

City Holdings Private Limited  2 0.00%  –   

Harsh Chemicals Private Limited  2 0.00%  –   

Total  5,69,805 73.86%  –   

 *Aggregate of % of total shares held by promoters considered as 73.86% due to rounding off   
 

20 Other Equity                                                                                                                                                      (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

As at

March 31, 2025

As at

March 31, 2024

Capital reserve 20.2  0.10  0.10 

Capital revaluation reserve 20.3  50.36  50.36 

Statutory reserve 20.4  1,030.81  906.20 

General reserve 20.5  4,000.00  3,900.00 

Retained earnings 20.6  1,848.17  1,478.82 

Other comprehensive income 20.7  3,915.86  4,603.97 

Total  10,845.29  10,939.44 

20.1 Refer Standalone Statement of Changes in Equity for movement in balances of reserves

 Nature and purpose of reserves:    

20.2 Capital Reserve

 Capital reserve is a reserve which is not free for distribution. The balance in this reserve represents the amount of share 
forfeited by the Company.

20.3 Capital Revaluation Reserve

 This represents revaluation of Land at Kolkata and Bangalore and Building at Bangalore.

20.4 Statutory Reserve

 Statutory reserve represents the reserve created pursuant to the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (hereinafter referred to as 
“the RBI Act”) and related regulations applicable to those companies. Under the RBI Act, a Non Banking Financial Company 
is required to transfer an amount not less than 20% of its net profit to a reserve fund before declaring any dividend. 
Appropriation from this reserve fund is permitted only for the purposes specified by the Reserve Bank of India.

20.5 General Reserve

 The general reserve is created from time to time by appropriating profits from retained earnings. The general reserve is 
created by a transfer from one component of equity to another. Accordingly, it is not reclassified to the statement of profit 
and loss.   
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20.6 Retained Earnings

 Retained earnings represent the undistributed profit or accumulated earnings of the Company.

20.7 Other comprehensive income (“OCI”) represents the balance with respect to:

 (a) Re-measurement gains/ (losses) resulting from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions. These 
gains/ (losses) are recognised directly in OCI during the period in which they occur and are subsequently transferred 
to Retained earnings.

 (b) Cumulative gains/ (losses) arising from the fair valuation of non-current equity investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to Retained earnings when those instruments are disposed of.

21 Interest Income                                                                                                                                                     (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

On financial assets measured at amortised cost

Bonds   39.96  46.64 

Others  24.73  0.53 

Total  64.69  47.17 

22 Dividend Income                                                                                                                                             (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Dividend income on equity instruments measured at FVTOCI 7(g)  39.70  35.13 

Total  39.70  35.13 

23 Rental Income                                                                                                                                             (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Rental income  49.64  40.38 

Total  49.64  40.38 

24  Net Gain On Fair Value Changes                                                                                                                      (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Net gain on fair valuation of investments measured at FVTPL 24.1  68.15  72.09 

Total  68.15  72.09 

 

24.1 Details of net gain on fair valuation of investments measured at FVTPL                                                       (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Realised  22.06  15.59 

Unrealised  46.09  56.50 

Total  68.15  72.09 

25   Profit on sale of investment property (net)                                                                                                     (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Profit on sale of investment property (net) 25.1  802.81  –   

Total  802.81  –   
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25.1 During the year ended March 31, 2025, the Company has partially disposed of one of its investment properties, comprising 
of certain portion of building and proportionate share of land appurtenant thereto, and a net profit of ₹ 802.81 Lakhs 
arising thereagainst on such disposal has been recognised under “Profit on sale of investment property (net)” in the 
standalone financial statements.   

26 Other Income                                                                                                                                                  (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Miscellaneous income  0.24  0.28 

Total  0.24  0.28 

 

27 Finance Costs                                                                                                                                                   (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Interest expense on

   Security deposits  0.31  0.28 

   Lease liabilities 39  0.10  1.16 

   Others 27.1  0.96  –   

Total  1.37  1.44 

27.1 Others includes Interest on Shortfall in payment of Advance Income Tax

 

28 Impairment on financial instruments

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Impairment on financial instruments

   Loans  –    0.55 

Total  –    0.55 

29 Employee Benefits Expense                                                                                                                             (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Salaries and wages  52.35  40.40 

Contribution to provident and other funds 41  2.54  3.68 

Staff welfare expense  0.30  0.44 

Total  55.19  44.52 

30 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment                                                                                               (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Depreciation on Investment Property 10  45.68  –   

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 11  31.98  17.29 

Amortisation of intangible assets 12  0.10  0.10 

Total  77.76  17.39 
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31 Other expenses                                                                                                                                                 (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Rent 31.1  49.86  0.14 

Repairs and maintenance

Building  2.80  0.88 

Others  27.30  2.19 

Rates and taxes  20.67  5.95 

Auditor’s remuneration

Statutory audit fees  0.50  0.50 

Certification and other matters  0.42  0.47 

Legal and professional fees  26.28  16.49 

Flat maintenance  2.44  2.19 

Travelling expenses  2.24  1.78 

Postage and telephone  1.51  2.06 

Insurance charges  0.27  0.29 

Directors’ sitting fees  3.25  3.95 

Electricity charges  22.62  11.23 

Security service charges  22.10  21.52 

Motor car expenses  2.50  0.90 

Loss on discard of property, plant and equipment  0.19  –   

Miscellaneous expenditure  10.74  7.90 

Total  195.69  78.44 

31.1 Rent includes:

(i) Expenditure on lease of low value assets  0.09  0.14

(ii) ₹ 49.77 Lakhs (March 31, 2024- Nil) paid to Syama Prasad Mookerjee Port Kolkata- Estate Division towards increase in 
rent in respect of one of the premises taken on lease. 

32 Tax expense                                                                                                                                                     (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Current tax  51.00  –   

Deferred tax  21.18  (19.60)

Income tax for earlier years  –    0.05 

Total tax expense as per Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss  72.18  (19.55)

Reconciliation of tax expense

Profit before tax  695.22  52.71 

Statutory tax rate applicable to the Company 25.17% 25.17%

Computed tax expense  174.99  13.27 

Adjustments for:

Tax exempt income  (10.06)  (11.74)

Income not chargeable to tax  –    –   

Deduction under Chapter VI-A of the Income Tax Act, 1961  (7.77)  (6.80)

Tax at lower rate on sale of immovable property  (58.42)  –   

Income tax for earlier years  –    0.05 

Effect of other adjustments- fair valuation as per Indian Accounting 
Standards, etc.

 (26.56)  (14.33)

Net adjustments  (102.81)  (32.82)

Total tax expense as per Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss  72.18  (19.55)

Effective tax rate 10.38% (37.09%)
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33 Other Comprehensive Income                                                                                                                               (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Net gain on fair valuation of investments in equity instruments measured at 
FVTOCI

 (685.85)  1,635.90 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan  2.37  0.97 

Total  (683.48)  1,636.87 

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Net gain on fair valuation of investments in equity instruments measured at 
FVTOCI

 2.26  232.30 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan  0.59  0.24 

Total  2.85  232.54 

Total other comprehensive income (net of taxes)  (686.33)  1,404.33 

34. Contingent Liabilities and Commitments (to the extent not provided for)

(a) Contingent Liabilities

 As at March 31, 2025    

 In respect of an ongoing litigation concerning the Company’s tenancy for  one of the premises at Ballard Estate, Mumbai, 

pending final decision on the matter and determination of the amount, the interim compensation as directed by the 
Bombay High Court pursuant a petition filed by the Company,  amounting to ₹ 80.68 Lakhs pertaining to the period from 

the date of impugned decree till March 31, 2025 and ₹ 2.31 Lakhs per month thereafter has since been deposited by the 

Company.

 The contentions made by the Landlord in the matter not being based on facts and circumstantial evidences, as advised 

legally, are not valid and an appeal has therefore been filed before the Small Causes [Appellate] Court, Mumbai. Pending 
this, considering the merit involved, amount of the rent for the said premises as applied consistently has been continued 

to be recognized in the books of accounts and no further provision in this respect has been considered necessary.

 As at March 31, 2024

 The Company has since received a demand towards increase in rent (including applicable duties and taxes) aggregating to 

₹ 49.47 Lakhs from Syama Prasad Mookerjee Port Kolkata- Estate Division in respect of one of its premises taken on lease 

from them. The liability towards rent as invoiced as per the lease agreement has been recognised and paid by the Company. 

The matter has been taken up with the Port Trust Authorities and pending final resolution of the matter, no further liability 
in this respect is expected to materialise.

(b) Commitments

 (i) Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for (net of advance)- Nil 

(March 31, 2024- Nil)

 (ii) Other commitments- Nil (March 31, 2024- Nil)

35. Disclosures as required by Indian Accounting Standard 37 “Provisions, Contingent liabilities and Contingent 

assets”    

 Contingent asset

 A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity. During 

the normal course of business, unresolved claims remain outstanding. The inflow of economic benefits, in respect of such 
claims cannot be measured due to uncertainties that surround the related events and circumstances.
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36. Related Party Disclosures

 Information under Ind AS 24 “Related party disclosures” are as follows:    

(I) Name of the related parties and description of relationship

 (a) Enterprises where control exists

  Subsidiary companies 1. Herbert Holdings Limited

   2. Alfred Herbert Limited

 (b) Key management personnel (“KMP”) 1. Mr. A.V.Lodha- Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

   2. Mr. H.V.Lodha- Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

   3. Late Mr. S.S. Jain- Independent Non-Executive Director 
(deceased on November 6, 2023)

   4. Ms. Simika Lodha- Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

   5. Ms. A.Bhandari- Independent Non-Executive Director

   6. Mr. P.K.Madappa- Independent Non-Executive Director

   7. Mr. A.Poddar- Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 
w.e.f December 27, 2023)

   8. Mr. Vikram Matta- Chief Executive Officer (resigned w.e.f May 
31, 2024)

   9. Mr. Partha Pratim Das- Chief Executive Officer (appointed 
w.e.f June 1, 2024)

   10. Ms. Shobhana Sethi- Company Secretary & Chief Financial 
Officer (resigned w.e.f November 8, 2024)

   11. Mr. Ananda Bhattacharyya- Company Secretary & Chief 
Financial Officer (from November 9, 2024 up to May 23, 2025)

 (c) Other related parties with whom the Company had transactions

  (i) Close members of family (“Relatives”) of KMP 1. Ms. Anamika Lodha- spouse of Mr. H.V.Lodha  

   2. Mr. Vardhaman Lodha- son of Mr. A.V.Lodha  

   3. Ms. Avni Arya- daughter of Mr. A.V.Lodha  

   4. Ms. Srishti Lodha- daughter of Mr. A.V.Lodha   

   5. Ms. Samvika Lodha- daughter of Mr. H.V.Lodha  

   6. Ms. Anoushka Lodha- daughter of Mr. H.V.Lodha  

  (ii) Enterprises over which KMP and/or their 1. Mr. Aditya Vikram Lodha [Karta of Rajendra Singh Aditya

       relatives have significant influence  Vikram (HUF)] - Promoter  

   2. Jain Industrial and Commercial Services Pvt. Ltd.- Promoter 

   3. Mr. Vijay Tandon (Trustee of Iris Family Trust)- Promoter

   4. Elsi Services LLP- Promoter

   5. La Crème De La Crème Services LLP- Promoter  

(II) Transactions with related parties                                                                                                                      (₹ in Lakhs)

Sl. 
no.

Nature of transaction/ Name of related party Subsidiary 
companies

Key 
management 

personnel

Other related 
parties

(i) Loans

Loan given to Alfred Herbert Limited  0.55  –    –   

 (–)  (–)  (–) 

(ii) Rental income

La Crème De La Crème Services LLP  –    –    24.63 

 (–)  (–)  (16.56)
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Sl. 
no.

Nature of transaction/ Name of related party Subsidiary 
companies

Key 
management 

personnel

Other related 
parties

(iii) Sitting Fees

Mr. A.V.Lodha  –    0.55  –   

 (–)  (0.60)  (–) 

Mr. H.V.Lodha  –    0.40  –   

 (–)  (0.50)  (–) 

Ms. Simika Lodha  –    0.40  –   

 (–)  (0.50)  (–) 

Late Mr. S.S.Jain  –    –    –   

 (–)  (0.35)  (–) 

Ms. A.Bhandari  –    0.60  –   

 (–)  (0.90)  (–) 

Mr. P.K.Madappa  –    0.80  –   

 (–)  (0.90)  (–) 

Mr. A.Poddar  –    0.50  –   

 (–)  (0.20)  (–) 

(iv) Final dividend paid to equity shareholders (gross)

Mr. A.V.Lodha  –    1.52  –   

 (–)  (1.33)  (–) 

Mr. H.V.Lodha  –    1.74  –   

 (–)  (1.53)  (–) 

Ms. Simika Lodha  –    8.82  –   

 (–)  (7.72)  (–) 

Ms. Anamika Lodha  –    –    8.82 

 (–)  (–)  (7.72)

Mr. Aditya Vikram Lodha [Karta of Rajendra Singh Aditya Vikram (HUF)]  –    –    0.33 

 (–)  (–)  (0.28)

Mr. Vardhaman Lodha*  –    –    –   

 (–)  (–)  (–) 

Jain Industrial and Commercial Services Pvt. Ltd.  –    –    1.53 

 (–)  (–)  (1.34)

Ms. Samvika Lodha  –    –    0.01 

 (–)  (–)  (0.01)

Ms. Anoushka Lodha*  –    –    0.01 

 (–)  (–)  (0.01)

Elsi Services LLP*  –    –    –   

 (–)  (–)  (–) 

Mr. Vijay Tandon (Trustee of Iris Family Trust)*  –    –    –   

 (–)  (–)  (–) 

Ms. Avni Arya*  –    –    –   

 (–)  (–)  (–) 

Ms. Srishti Lodha*  –    –    –   

 (–)  (–)  (–) 

(₹ in Lakhs)



60

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 (Contd.)

Sl. 
no.

Nature of transaction/ Name of related party Subsidiary 
companies

Key 
management 

personnel

Other related 
parties

(v) Remuneration

Mr. Vikram Matta  –    2.32  –   

 (–)  (11.12)  (–) 

Mr. Partha Pratim Das  –    18.43  –   

 (–)  (–)  (–) 

Ms. Shobhana Sethi  –    3.12  –   

 (–)  (3.78)  (–) 

Mr. Ananda Bhattacharyya  –    3.49  –   

 (–)  (–)  (–) 

(vi) Balances outstanding

Investment in equity instruments (net of impairment loss)  70.00  –    –   

 (70.00)  (–)  (–) 

* Figures are below the rounding off norms of the Company

 Footnote:
 Figures in brackets pertain to previous year.

(III) Details of remuneration paid/ payable to KMP                                                                                                   (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2024 

Short-term employee benefits

Salary

Mr. Vikram Matta  2.18  10.30 

Mr. Partha Pratim Das  18.23  –   

Ms. Shobhana Sethi  2.88  3.49 

Mr. Ananda Bhattacharyya  3.49  –   

 26.78  13.79 

Post employment benefits

Contribution to provident fund

Mr. Vikram Matta  0.14  0.82 

Mr. Partha Pratim Das  0.20  –   

Ms. Shobhana Sethi  0.24  0.29 

Mr. Ananda Bhattacharyya  –    –   

 0.58  1.11 

Total  27.36  14.90 

 Note: The above remuneration does not include provision for gratuity, which is determined for the Company as a whole.

(IV) Other notes:

 i) The transactions with related parties have been entered at an amount which are not materially different from those 
on normal commercial terms.    

 ii) The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No provision for bad or doubtful debts has been 
recognised in current year and previous year in respect of the amounts owed by related parties except as disclosed in 
note no. 7.    

(₹ in Lakhs)
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37. Earnings per share

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

(a) Amount used as numerator- Profit after tax as per standalone statement 
of profit and loss (₹ in Lakhs)

 623.04  72.26 

(b) Weighted average number of equity shares used as the denominator 
for computing basic and diluted earnings per share (*)

 7,71,429  7,71,429 

(c) Face value of equity shares (₹)  10  10 

(d) Basic earnings per share (₹)  80.76  9.37 

Diluted earnings per share (₹)  80.76  9.37 

 (*) The Company does not have any dilutive potential equity shares    

38 Segment reporting

 (a) The Company operates mainly in one business segment, viz., investing in immovable properties, fixed deposits, 
securities including equity, bonds, mutual funds, and carrying out other non-banking financial activities, and as such 
there are no other reportable segments as identified by the Chief Operating Decision Maker of the Company in terms 
of requirements under Ind AS 108 “Operating Segments”.

 (b) Geographical information

  The Company operates entirely within India and as such, separate geographical information has not been 
disclosed. 

39. Disclosures for leasing arrangements- Company as a Lessee

(i) Nature of lease: 

 The Company’s significant leasing arrangements are in respect of the following assets: 

 Premises obtained on lease for administrative offices. 

(ii) Amount recognised in the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss in respect of lease of low value assets have been 
disclosed in note no. 31.1. 

(iii) Movement in lease liabilities during the year:

Particulars (₹ in Lakhs)

As at March 31, 2023  18.53 

Finance costs accrued during the year (Refer note no. 27)  1.16 

Payment of lease liabilities during the year  (18.82)

As at March 31, 2024  0.87 

Finance costs accrued during the year (Refer note no. 27)  0.10 

Payment of lease liabilities during the year  (0.11)

As at March 31, 2025  0.86 
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(iv) The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of lease liabilities on an undiscounted basis:

Particulars (₹ in Lakhs)

As at March 31, 2024

Less than one year  1.67 

One to five years  0.45 

More than five years  1.12 

Total  3.24 

As at March 31, 2025

Less than one year  0.11 

One to five years  0.45 

More than five years  1.00 

Total  1.56 

40. Disclosures for leasing arrangements- Company as a Lessor

(i) Nature of lease:

 The Company has given premises on lease. The income from lease recognised in the Standalone Statement of Profit and 
Loss is ₹ 49.27 Lakhs (March 31, 2024- ₹ 40.01 Lakhs).

 The table below provides details regarding contractual maturities of lease receivable by the Company on undiscounted 
basis: 

Particulars (₹ in Lakhs)

As at March 31, 2024

Less than one year  40.01 

One to two years  17.93 

Two to three years  17.93 

Three to four years  20.41 

Four to five years  –   

More than five years  –   

Total  96.28 

As at March 31, 2025

Less than one year  46.64 

One to two years  40.01 

Two to three years  17.93 

Three to four years  17.93 

Four to five years  20.41 

More than five years  –   

Total  142.92 
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41 Post retirement employee benefits

 The disclosures required under Indian Accounting Standard 19 ‘’Employee Benefits’’ are given below:

 Defined contribution plan   

 Employee benefits in the form of provident fund are considered as defined contribution plan.   

 The contributions to the fund are made in accordance with the relevant statute and are recognised as expenses when 
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contribution. The contributions to the defined contribution plan, 
recognised as expense in the standalone statement of profit and loss are as under:

(₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Employer’s contribution to provident fund  0.92  1.53 

Total  0.92  1.53 

 Defined benefit plan

 The Company has a defined benefit gratuity plan. Every employee who has completed five years or more of service is 
entitled to gratuity on terms not less favourable than the provisions of the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. The Company 
makes annual contribution to the gratuity fund for future payment of gratuity to its employees.

 The present value of obligation is determined based on actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method, which 
recognises each period of service as giving rise to additional unit of employee benefit entitlement and measures each unit 
separately to build up the final obligation.

 The following table summarises the components of net defined benefit expense recognised in the standalone statement of 
profit and loss, the funded status and the amount recognised in the standalone balance sheet for the said plan:

 (i) Details of funded post retirement benefit plan are as follows:                                                            (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Gratuity (funded)

As at/ For the year 
ended March 31, 2025

As at/ For the year 
ended March 31, 2024

(I) Expenses recognised in the standalone statement of profit 
and loss

Current service cost  0.67  1.15 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability/ asset  (0.01)  (0.01)

Total  0.66  1.14 

(II) Standalone other comprehensive income

Actuarial (gain)/ loss arising from:

 - changes in financial assumptions  0.13  0.05 

 - changes in experience adjustments  (0.47)  (0.65)

(Returns)/ loss on plan assets  (2.03)  (0.37)

Components of defined benefit costs recognised in standalone 
other comprehensive income

 (2.37)  (0.97)
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(₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars

Gratuity (funded)

As at/ For the year 
ended March 31, 2025

As at/ For the year 
ended March 31, 2024

(III) Change in the present value of defined benefit obligation

Present value of defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the 
year

 20.74  19.70 

Interest expense  1.44  1.40 

Current service cost  0.67  1.15 

Benefits paid  (12.83)  (0.91)

Actuarial (gain)/ loss arising from:

- changes in financial assumptions  0.13  0.05 

- changes in experience adjustments  (0.47)  (0.65)

Present value of defined benefit obligation at the end of the year  9.68  20.74 

(IV) Change in fair value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets as at the beginning of the year  20.83  19.96 

Interest income  1.45  1.41 

Employers’ contributions  –    –   

Benefits paid  (12.83)  (0.91)

Re-measurement (Returns on plan assets excluding amounts included 
in interest income)

 2.03  0.37 

Fair value of plan assets as at the end of the year  11.48  20.83 

(V) Net (liability)/ asset recognised in the standalone balance sheet 
as at the year end

Present value of defined benefit obligation  9.68  20.74 

Fair value of plan assets  11.48  20.83 

Net (liability)/ asset recognised in the standalone balance sheet as 
at the year end

 1.80  0.09 

(VI) Actuarial assumptions

Discount rate (per annum) (in %) 6.35% 6.95%

Expected return on plan assets (per annum) (in %) 6.35% 6.95%

Expected rate of salary increase (in %) 6.00% 6.00%

Withdrawal rate Up to 40 years 42.00% 42.00%

41 to 54 years 18.00% 18.00%

More than 54 
years

22.00% 22.00%

Retirement/ superannuation age (in years)  58  58 

Mortality rates  100% of IALM 
2012–14 

 100% of IALM 
2012–14 
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(₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars

Gratuity (funded)

As at/ For the year 
ended March 31, 2025

As at/ For the year 
ended March 31, 2024

(VII) Major category of plan assets as a % of total plan assets as at 
the year end

Government securities 51.98% 67.01%

Equity shares of listed companies 23.47% 15.76%

Others 24.55% 17.23%

(VIII) Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation

Expected cash flows (valued on undiscounted basis)

Within the next 12 months  5.91  17.00 

Between 2 and 5 years  1.64  0.16 

Between 5 and 10 years  3.77  4.94 

More than 10 years  0.18  3.02 

Total expected payments  11.50  25.12 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at 
the end of the balance sheet date (in years)

3 3

(IX) Sensitivity analysis on present value of defined benefit 
obligation

Discount rates

1.00% Increase  9.48  20.42 

1.00% Decrease  9.92  21.10 

Expected rates of salary increase

1.00% Increase  9.93  21.11 

1.00% Decrease  9.46  20.41 

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on defined benefit 
obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring as at the balance sheet date.

All sensitivities are calculated using the same actuarial method as for the disclosed present value of the defined benefits 
obligation at year end.

Average number of people employed 8 8

(ii) Risks related to defined benefit plans:

 The major risks to which the Company is exposed in relation to defined benefit plans are:

(a) Interest rate risk

 The plan exposes the Company to the risk of fall in interest rates. A fall in interest rates will result in an increase in the 
ultimate cost of providing the above benefit and will thus result in an increase in the value of the liability.

(b) Salary risk

 Higher than expected increases in salary will increase the defined benefit obligation.
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42. Financial instruments- Accounting, Classification and Fair value measurements

(A) The accounting classification of each category of financial instrument, their carrying amount and fair value are as 
follows:                                                                                                                                                           (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Note 
no.

Carrying amount and fair value
Total 

Amortised cost FVTPL FVTOCI

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5  3.91  –    –    3.91 

 (8.30)  (–)  (–)  (8.30)

Other bank balances 6  804.92  –    –    804.92 

 (4.81)  (–)  (–)  (4.81)

Investments (other than investments in 
subsidiary companies measured at cost)

7  411.60  1,127.16  5,228.08  6,766.84 

 (549.97)  (940.66)  (5,913.92)  (7,404.55)

Other financial assets 8  38.10  –    –    38.10 

 (29.99)  (–)  (–)  (29.99)

Total  1,258.53  1,127.16  5,228.08  7,613.77 

 (593.07)  (940.66)  (5,913.92)  (7,447.65)

Financial liabilities

Lease liabilities 15  0.86  –    –    0.86 

 (0.87)  (–)  (–)  (0.87)

Other Financial Liabilities 16  30.93  –    –    30.93 

 (32.25)  (–)  (–)  (32.25)

Total  31.79  –    –    31.79 

 (33.12)  (–)  (–)  (33.12)

 Footnote:

 Figures in brackets pertain to previous year     

(B) Fair value hierarchy

 The fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities are included at an amount at which the instrument could be 
exchanged in an orderly transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

 The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

 (i) Fair value of cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances, other financial assets and other financial liabilities 
approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

 (ii) Investments (other than investments in subsidiary companies) which are quoted in active market are fair valued at 
the reporting date based on the prevailing quote. Investment in unquoted equity shares have been valued based on 
the latest available audited financial statements. Investment in mutual fund are measured using NAV at the reporting 
date.

 The Company uses the following fair value hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 
instruments:

 Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

 Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly.

 Level 3:  Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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 The following table provides the fair value hierarchy of the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis:

 Financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis

(₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Note no. Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Investments in equity instruments (other than 
investment in subsidiaries measured at cost)

7  5,212.21  –    15.87  5,228.08 

 (5,899.64)  (–)  (14.28)  (5,913.92)

Investment in mutual funds 7  –    1,127.16  –    1,127.16 

 (–)  (940.66)  (–)  (940.66)

 Note:

 (i) Figures in brackets pertain to previous year

 (ii) There have been no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 either during the year ended March 31, 2025 or year 
ended March 31, 2024.

 iii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement is as below:

(₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2025 
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Balance as at the beginning of the year  14.28  12.86 

Additions during the year  –    –   

Sale during the year  –    –   

Fair value changes during the year  1.59  1.42 

Balance as at the end of the year  15.87  14.28 

      

43 Financial risk management- objectives and policies

 The Company’s principal financial liabilities includes lease liabilities and other financial liabilities and principal financial 
assets include investments, cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances and other financial assets.

 The Company is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The Company’s senior management under the 
supervision of Board of Directors oversees the management of these risks. The Company’s financial risks are governed by 
appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance with the 
Company’s policies and risk objectives.

 (a) Market risk

  Market risk is the risk or uncertainty arising from possible market fluctuations resulting in variation in the fair value 
or future cash flows of a financial instrument. The major components of market risks are currency risk, interest rate 
risk and other price risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk includes investments, other receivables and 
payables.

 (i) Foreign currency risk

  Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes 
in foreign exchange rates. The Company does not have any foreign currency and accordingly, is not subjected to such 
risk.

 (ii) Interest rate risk

  Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. Since the Company does not have any financial assets or financial liabilities bearing 
floating interest rates, any change in the interest rates at the reporting date would not have any significant impact on 
the standalone financial statements of the Company.

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 (Contd.)
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 (iii) Other price risk

  The Company is exposed to equity price risk arising from investments held by the Company and classified in the 
Balance Sheet at fair value through other comprehensive income.

  To manage its price risk arising from investment in equity securities, the Company diversifies its portfolio. Diversification 
of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Company.

  The majority of the Company’s equity investments are listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) or the National 
Stock Exchange (NSE) in India.

  Sensitivity analysis- equity price risk

  The table below summarises the impact of increase/ decrease of the index on the Company’s equity and total 
comprehensive income for the year. The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity/ index had increased by 
2% or decreased by 2% with all other variables held constant, and that all the Company’s equity investments moved 
in line with the index.

(₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars Impact on other components of equity

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

NSE/ BSE Index- increase by 2%  104.24  117.99 

NSE/ BSE Index- decrease by 2%  (104.24)  (117.99)

      

  Other components of equity would increase/ decrease as a result of gain/ losses on equity securities classified as fair 
value through other comprehensive income.

  The Company’s exposure in subsidiary companies are carried at cost and these are subject to impairment testing as 
per the policy followed in this respect.

 (b) Credit Risk

  Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or 
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities 
(primarily loans). The management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an 
ongoing basis. The Company periodically assesses the financial reliability of amounts outstanding, taking into account 
the financial conditions, current economic trends.

  The carrying amount of respective financial assets recognised in the standalone financial statements represents the 
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

  The Company establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of 
doubtful loans. Receivables are reviewed/ evaluated periodically by the management and appropriate provisions are 
made to the extent recovery there against has been considered to be remote.

  The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents are insignificant as counterparties are banks with high credit ratings.

 (c) Liquidity risk

  Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Company will not be able to settle or meet its obligations on time or at 
a reasonable price. The Company’s objective is to maintain optimum level of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral 
requirements at all times. The Company relies on internal accruals to meet its fund requirement.

  Liquidity Risk Tables

  The following tables detail the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities 
with agreed repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial 
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Company can be required to pay. The tables include both interest 
and principal cash flows as at balance sheet date:
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  Maturity analysis of unamortised financial liabilities

(₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Carrying 

value
Contractual 
cash flows

Maturity analysis of contractual cash flows

Less than 1 
year

Between 1 
to 5 years

More than 5 
years

(A) As at March 31, 2025

(i) Lease obligation (Refer note no. 15)  0.86  1.56  0.11  0.45  1.00 

(ii) Other financial liabilities (Refer note no. 16)  30.93  30.93  30.93  –    –   

Total  31.79  32.49  31.04  0.45  1.00 

(B) As at March 31, 2024

(i) Lease obligation (Refer note no. 15)  0.87  3.24  1.67  0.45  1.12 

(ii) Other financial liabilities (Refer note no. 16)  32.25  32.25  32.25  –    –   

Total  33.12  35.49  33.92  0.45  1.12 

  The Company has financial assets which will be realised in ordinary course of business. Further it has significant 
retained surplus lying invested in realisable securities and the Company ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand 
to meet expected operational expenses and obligations.

44 Capital Management

 (a) Risk management

  The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a healthy capital ratio in 
order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. The Company’s objective when managing capital is to 
safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern so that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and 
benefits for other stake holders. The Company is focused on keeping strong total equity base to ensure independence, 
security, as well as a high financial flexibility for potential future borrowings.    

 (b) Dividend

Particulars
For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Year to which final dividend relates 2023-2024 2022-2023

Final dividend paid per equity share (₹)  4.00  3.50 

Gross amount of final dividend (₹ in Lakhs)  30.86  27.00 

45 Maturity Analysis Of Asset And Liabilities

 The table below shows  an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected  to be recovered 
or settled.                                                                                                                                                             (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Within 12 
months

After 12 
months

Total
Within 12 
months

After 12 
months

Total

Assets

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  3.91  –    3.91  8.30  –    8.30 

Other Bank Balances  –    804.92  804.92  –    4.81  4.81 

Investments  1,127.16  5,709.68  6,836.84  940.66  6,533.89  7,474.55 

Other Financial Assets  21.70  16.40  38.10  3.56  26.43  29.99 

Total Financial Assets (A)  1,152.77  6,531.00  7,683.77  952.52  6,565.13  7,517.65 
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Particulars

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Within 12 
months

After 12 
months

Total
Within 12 
months

After 12 
months

Total

Non-Financial Assets

Current Tax Assets (Net)  –    2.88  2.88  –    13.78  13.78 

Investment Property  –    3,042.27  3,042.27  –    284.26  284.26 

Property, Plant And Equipment  –    721.56  721.56  –    83.60  83.60 

Capital Work-In-Progress  –    –    –    –    3,606.26  3,606.26 

Intangible Assets  –    0.34  0.34  –    0.44  0.44 

Other Non Financial Assets  –    61.60  61.60  –    47.51  47.51 

Total Non Financial Assets (B)  –    3,828.65  3,828.65  –    4,035.85  4,035.85 

Total Assets (A+B)  1,152.77  10,359.65  11,512.42  952.52  10,600.98  11,553.50 

Liabilities

Financial Liabilities

Lease Liabilities  0.03  0.83  0.86  0.86  0.01  0.87 

Other Financial Liabilities  –    30.93  30.93  –    32.25  32.25 

Total Financial Liabilities (A)  0.03  31.76  31.79  0.86  32.26  33.12 

Non Financial Liabilities

Current tax liabilities (net)  30.99  –    30.99  –    –    –   

Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net)  –    520.42  520.42  –    496.39  496.39 

Other Non Financial Liabilities  6.79  –    6.79  7.41  –    7.41 

Total Non Financial Liabilities (B)  37.78  520.42  558.20  7.41  496.39  503.80 

Total Liabilities (A+B)  37.81  552.18  589.99  8.27  528.65  536.92 

46 Ratio Analysis and its Elements

Ratio Numerator Denominator
Ratio (%) Percentage 

varianceMarch 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

Capital to risk-weighted assets ratio Total Capital (Tier I 
Capital + Tier II Capital) 

Risk weighted 
assets 

69.66% 58.22% 19.64%

Tier I CRAR  Tier I Capital  Risk weighted 
assets 

68.33% 56.99% 19.90%

Tier II CRAR*  Tier II Capital  Risk weighted 
assets 

1.33% 1.23% 7.76%

 Note: Based on the requirements mentioned in RBI Circular no. RBI/2019-20/88 DOR.NBFC (PD) CC.No.102/03.10.001/2019-20 
dated November 4, 2019, liquidity coverage ratio is not applicable to the Company and hence, the same has not been 
disclosed. 

47  The Company is in the category of NBFC-BL in accordance with the guidelines issued by the RBI. Necessary disclosures 
in accordance with Circular RBI/2022-23/26 DOR.ACC.REC.No.20/21.04.018/2022-23 dated April 19, 2022, to the 
extent applicable to the Company are as follows:      

(A) Exposure 

 Exposure to capital market                                                                                                                             (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Current year Previous year

Direct investment in quoted equity shares  5,212.21  5,899.64 

Total exposure to capital market  5,212.21  5,899.64 
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(B) Related party disclosure                                                                                                                                (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Subsidiaries Directors
Relatives of 

Directors

Key management 
personnel (other 
than Directors)

Others Total

Loans given  –    –    –    –    –    –   

 (0.55) (–) (–) (–) (–)  (0.55)

Rental income  –    –    –    –    24.63  24.63 

(–) (–) (–) (–)  (16.56)  (16.56)

Sitting fees  –    3.25  –    –    –    3.25 

(–)  (3.95) (–)  (–) (–)  (3.95)

Dividend paid  –    12.08  8.84  –    1.86  22.78 

(–)  (10.58)  (7.74)  (–)  (1.62)  (19.94)

Remuneration  –    –    –    27.36  –    27.36 

 (–) (–)  (–)  (14.90)  (–)  (14.90)

Balances outstanding 

Investments  160.00  –    –    –    –    160.00 

 (160.00) (–) (–) (–) (–)  (160.00)

 Footnote:

 (a) Figures in brackets pertain to previous year

 (b) The disclosure herein provided is gross exposure i.e. without considering the impact of impairment allowance.  
      

48 Disclosures as required by Regulation 34(3) of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (as amended from time to time)

 As at March 31, 2025                                                                                                                                        (₹ in Lakhs)

Name of the party Relationship

Amount of loan Investments 
outstanding as 
at the end of 

reporting period

Outstanding 
as at 

 March 31, 2025

Maximum amount 
outstanding during 

the year

Herbert Holdings Limited Subsidiary company  –    –    70.00 

Alfred Herbert Limited Subsidiary company  –    –    90.00 

 As at March 31, 2024                                                                                                                                  (₹ in Lakhs)

Name of the party Relationship

Amount of loan Investments 
outstanding as 
at the end of 

reporting period

Outstanding 
as at 

 March 31, 2024

Maximum amount 
outstanding during 

the year

Herbert Holdings Limited Subsidiary company  –    –    70.00 

Alfred Herbert Limited Subsidiary company  –    0.55   90.00 

 Footnote:

 The value of investments as disclosed hereinabove is without considering the impact of impairment allowance

49A. The Company, neither had any transactions during the years ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 with companies, 

which have been struck off by the Registrar of Companies nor any balance is outstanding from such companies as at the 

end of respective reporting period.

49B. No funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or securities premium or any other sources 

or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”) with 

the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly, 

lend or invest in party identified by or on behalf of the Company (Ultimate Beneficiaries). The Company has not received 
any fund from any party(s) (Funding Party) with the understanding that the Company shall whether, directly or indirectly 
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lend or invest in other persons or entities identified by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or 
provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

50A. In respect of the year ended March 31, 2025, the Board of Directors has proposed a final dividend of ₹ 5 (50%) per share to 

be paid on fully paid equity shares. The said dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting 

and accordingly, has not been included as a liability in these standalone financial statements. The proposed equity dividend 
is payable to all holders of fully paid equity shares.

50B. The Company’s land at Whitefield, Bengaluru has since been sold pursuant to the deed of conveyance executed on May 
8, 2025 for an agreed consideration of ₹ 48,590.00 Lakhs. The transaction being entered into subsequent to the balance 

sheet date, necessary adjustment in this respect will be given effect to in the subsequent period.

51. The standalone financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on May 23, 2025 for 
issue to the shareholders for their adoption.

52. Schedule of a non-deposit taking non-banking financial company

 [as required in terms of Para 19 of Non-Banking Financial Company Non-Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking 

Company (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016, as amended from time to time]                                                         (₹ in Lakhs)

Sl. 
No.

Particulars Current year Previous year

Amount 
outstanding

Amount 
overdue

Amount 
outstanding

Amount 
overdue

Liabilities side

1 Loans and advances availed by the non-banking financial 
company inclusive of interest accrued thereon but not paid:

(a)  Debentures: Secured  –    –    –    –   

            Unsecured  –    –    –    –   

(other than falling within the meaning of public deposits)

(b) Deferred credits  –    –    –    –   

(c) Term loans  –    –    –    –   

(d) Inter-corporate loans and borrowing  –    –    –    –   

(e) Commercial paper  –    –    –    –   

(f) Public deposits  –    –    –    –   

(g) Other loans  –    –    –    –   

(₹ in Lakhs) 

Sl. 
No.

Particulars
Current year Previous year

Amount outstanding Amount outstanding

Assets side

2 Break-up of loans and advances including bills receivables

[other than those included in (3) below]

(a) Secured – – 

(b) Unsecured – – 

3 Break-up of leased assets and stock on hire and other assets 
counting towards asset financing activities

(i) Lease assets including lease rentals under sundry debtors:

(a) Finance lease – – 

(b) Operating lease – – 

(ii) Stock on hire including hire charges under sundry debtors:

(a) Assets on hire – – 

(b) Repossessed assets – – 

(iii) Other loans counting towards asset financing activities
(a) Loans where assets have been repossessed – – 

(b) Loans other than (iii)(a) above – – 
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Sl. 
No.

Particulars
Current year Previous year

Amount outstanding Amount outstanding

4 Breakup of Investments

Current investments

(I) Quoted

(i) Shares

(a) Equity – – 

(b) Preference – – 

(ii) Debentures and bonds – – 

(iii) Units of mutual funds – –

(iv) Government securities – – 

(v) Others – – 

(II) Unquoted

(i) Shares

(a) Equity – – 

(b) Preference – – 

(ii) Debentures and bonds – – 

(iii) Units of mutual funds  1,127.16  940.66 

(iv) Government securities – – 

(v) Others – – 

Long-term Investments

(I) Quoted

(i) Shares

(a) Equity  5,212.21  5,899.64

(b) Preference – – 

(ii) Debentures and bonds  411.60  549.97 

(iii) Units of mutual funds – – 

(iv) Government securities – – 

(v) Others – – 

(II) Unquoted

(i) Shares

(a) Equity  85.87  84.28

(b) Preference – – 

(ii) Debentures and bonds – – 

(iii) Units of mutual funds – – 

(iv) Government securities – – 

(v) Others - - 
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5 Borrower group-wise classification of assets financed as in (2) and (3) above                                              (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars

Amount net of provisions

Current year Previous year

Secured Unsecured Total Secured Unsecured Total

1 Related parties

(a) Subsidiaries  –    –    –    –    –    –   

(b) Companies in the same group  –    –    –    –    –    –   

(c) Other related parties  –    –    –    –    –    –   

2 Other than related parties  –    –    –    –    –    –   

Total  –    –    –    –    –    –   

        

6 Investor group-wise classification of all investments (current and long-term) in shares and securities (both quoted 
and unquoted)                                                                                                                                               (₹ in Lakhs) 

Category

Current year Previous year

Market value/ 
 Break-up or fair 

value or NAV

Book value (net 
of provisions)

Market value/  
Break-up or fair 

value or NAV

Book value (net 
of provisions)

1 Related parties

(a) Subsidiaries  966.78  70.00  684.36  70.00 

(b) Companies in the same group  –    –    –    –   

(c) Other related parties  –    –    –    –   

2 Other than related parties  6,812.09  6,766.84  7,472.19  7,404.55 

Total  7,778.87  6,836.84  8,156.55  7,474.55 

        

7 Other information                                                                                                                                                (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars Current year Previous year

(i) Gross Non-Performing Assets

(a) Related parties  –    –   

(b) Other than related parties  –    –   

(ii) Net Non-Performing Assets

(a) Related parties  –    –   

(b) Other than related parties  –    –   

(iii) Assets acquired in satisfaction of debt  –    –   

As per our report of even date attached    
For A L P S & CO. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s Registration No.: 313132E
A. K. Khetawat    H. V. Lodha
Partner  Director
Membership No. 052751    DIN- 00394094

 Partha Pratim Das P. K. Madappa
Place: Kolkata Chief Executive Officer Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To

The Members of

ALFRED HERBERT (INDIA) LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

OPINION

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of Alfred Herbert (India)Limited (hereinafter referred to 

as “the Holding Company”) and its subsidiary companies (the Holding Company and its subsidiary companies together referred 

to as “ the Group”), which comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025, and the Consolidated Statement 

of Profit and Loss (Including Other Comprehensive Income),Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and Consolidated 

Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, including a summary 

of significant accounting policies and Other Explanatory Notes for the year ended on that date (hereinafter referred to as 

“Consolidated Financial Statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid  Consolidated 

Financial Statements give the information required by the Companies Act 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give 

a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under section 133 of the Act read with 

the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, (“Ind AS”) and the accounting principles generally 

accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Group as at March 31, 2025, and its profit (including Other comprehensive 

income), changes in equity and its cash flows for the year ended on that date.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statement in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs), as 

specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the Auditors’ 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the group 

in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical 

requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements under the provisions of the Act and the 

Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of 

Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on 

the consolidated financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Based 

on the audit procedure performed including assessment of risk of material misstatement We have considered the matters 

described below to be the key audit matters for incorporation in our report.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements” section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of 

procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements. 

The result of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our 

opinion on the accompanying standalone financial statements.



77

Key Audit Matters Addressing the Key Audit Matters

Compliance with the guidelines issued by the Reserve 

Bank of India

Our audit procedures based on which we arrived at the 

conclusion regarding reasonableness of the compliances 

by the Company with respect to the various guidelines 

issued by the RBI includes the following:

The Company is a Non-Banking Financial Company 

registered with the Reserve Bank of India (RBI) as Non-

Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking Company vide 

Registration No. 05.04665 dated 29th November, 2001. The 

Company is in the category of “Base Layer” in accordance 

with the “Scale Based Regulation: A Revised Regulatory 

Framework”.

In accordance with the above rules and regulations, the 

Company is required to file necessary returns within 

stipulated time, ensure compliance with the Prudential 

Guidelines, maintain net owned fund, make necessary 

disclosures in the standalone financial statements, and 

others as applicable to the Company.

We considered this to be a key audit matter since the 

compliances of the RBI are widespread, stringent and 

technical in nature, and the impact of non-compliance, if 

any, can be material to the standalone financial statements.

• Assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 

controls and policies relating to filing of necessary returns, 

applicable to the Company, as specified by the RBI;

• Tested the adherence of the minimum provisioning and 

other requirements and required compliances as per the 

Prudential Guidelines and other Directions and Regulations;

• Re-calculated the net owned fund and ensured that the 

same is being maintained as per the guidelines in this 

respect; and

Assessed adequacy of the compliances with respect to the 

disclosures made and effect being given in the standalone 

financial statements as specified by the RBI and applicable to 

the Company.

Information other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Annual report but does not include the Consolidated Financial Statements, Standalone Financial 
Statements, and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Consolidated Financial Statements or our 
knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act with respect 
to the preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements that give a true and fair view of the consolidated state of 
affairs (financial position), Consolidated Profit or Loss (financial performance including other comprehensive income), 
Consolidated changes in equity and Consolidated cash flows of the Group in accordance with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, including the Indian accounting Standards specified under section 133 of the Act.

This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the 
Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection 
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and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively 
for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements by 
the Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, the respective Boards of Directors of the companies included in 
the group are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the group are also responsible for overseeing the 
financial reporting process of the group.

Auditors’ Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Consolidated Financial Statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Standard on Auditing 
(SAs) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 
the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Consolidated Financial Statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control;

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the 
grouphas adequate internal financial controls system with reference to Consolidated Financial Statements in place and the 
operating effectiveness of such controls;

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management;

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the Consolidated Financial Statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern; and

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Consolidated Financial Statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the Consolidated Financial Statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the Consolidated Financial Statements that, individually or in aggregate, makes 
it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the Consolidated Financial Statements may 
be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in 
evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.
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We communicate with those charged with governance of the Holding Company regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance of the Holding Company with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by the Central Government of India in 
terms of sub-section (11) of Section 143 of the Act, based on our audit of group companies, incorporated in India, we give 
in the Annexure A” a statement on the matters specified in paragraph 3(xxi) of the Order.

2. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

 a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief 
were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated financial statements;

 b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of aforesaid consolidated financial 
statements have been kept so far as appears from our examination of those books;

 c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive 
Income), the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows dealt with 
by this Report are in agreement with the books of account maintain for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated 
financial statement;

 d) In our opinion, the aforesaid Consolidated Financial Statements comply with the Indian Accounting Standards specified 
under Section 133 of the Act;

 e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company as on March 31, 2025 
and taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and the reports of the statutory auditor of its 
subsidiary company, none of the directors of the Group companies is disqualified as on March 31, 2025, from being 
appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act;

 f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting and the operating effectiveness 
of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure B” which is based on the Auditor’s reports of the Holding 
company and its subsidiary companies. Our report expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditors’ Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations 
given to us:

  i. The Consolidated Financial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations on the consolidated financial 
position of the Group – Refer Note 39 of the Consolidated Financial Statements;

  ii. The Group did not have any long-term contracts, including derivative contracts as at March 31,2025, for which 
there were any material foreseeable losses.

  iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts required to be transferred to the Investor Education and 
Protection Fund by the Holding Company. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the 
investor education and protection fund by the subsidiaries during the year.

  iv. a) The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries which are companies incorporated 
in India whose financial statements have been audited under the Act have represented to us that, to the 
best of its knowledge and belief, as stated in Note No.52 of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, 
no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any 
other sources or kind of funds) by the Holding Company or any of such subsidiaries to or in any other person 



80

or entity, including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing 
or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or 
entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the respective Holding Company or any of 
such subsidiaries (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the 
Ultimate Beneficiaries;

   b) The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries which are companies incorporated 
in India whose financial statements have been audited under the Act have represented to us that, to the 
best of its knowledge and belief, as stated in Note No.52 of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, no 
funds have been received by the respective Holding Company or any of such subsidiaries from any person or 
entity, including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing 
or otherwise, that the Holding Company or any of such subsidiaries shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend 
or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding 
Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate 
Beneficiaries; and

   c) Based on the audit procedures that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances 
performed by us, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the representations 
under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any material mis-statement.

  v. As stated in Note No. 48(b) to the consolidated financial statement, the dividend paid by the Holding Company 
during the year in respect of the same declared for the previous year is in accordance with Section 123 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 to the extent it applies for payment of dividend.

   As stated in Note No. 53 of Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statement, the Board of Directors of the Holding 
Company have proposed dividend for the year which is subject to the approval of the members at the ensuing 
Annual General Meeting. The dividend declared is in accordance with Section 123 of the Act to the extent it 
applies to declaration of dividend.

  vi. Based on our examination which included test checks, the Group Companies, has used accounting software for 
maintaining its books of accounts having feature of recording audit trail facility and is operated throughout 
the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software. Further, we did not come across any instance of 
the audit trail features have been tempered with and it has been preserved by the Group Companies as per the 
statutory requirements for record retention.

3. With respect to the reporting under Section 197 (16) of the Act to be included in the Auditors’ Report, in our opinion and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, the Remuneration (including Sitting fees), as applicable, paid 
by the Holding and its Subsidiary Companies to its Directors during the current year is in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 197 of the Act and is not in excess of the limit laid down therein.

For A L P S & Co.

Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No.: 313132E

A.K.Khetawat

(Partner)

Membership No. 052751

Udin: 25052751BMKNQX3469

Place: Kolkata

Date: May 23, 2025
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ANNEXURE “A” TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

(Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our report of even 

date)

According to the information and explanations given to us, following companies incorporated in India and included in the 

consolidated financial statements, have certain remarks included in their reports under Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 

2020 (“CARO”), which have been reproduced as per the requirements of the Guidance Note on CARO:

Name of Entities CIN No. Holding/Subsidiary Companies Clause No of the CARO report

Alfred Herbert Limited U32109WB1987PLC043261 Subsidiary Clause No. (IX) and (XIX)

ANNEXURE “B” TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”).

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidate financial statements of the Group as of and for the year ended March 31, 

2025, we have audited the internal financial controls with reference to the financial statements of Alfred Herbert (India) 

Limited(hereinafter referred to as the “Holding Company”) and its subsidiary companies as of that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company and Subsidiary Company incorporated in India are responsible 

for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal controls over financial reporting criteria 

established by the holding company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note 

on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) issued by the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants of India. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial 

controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to 

holding company policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and 

completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the holding company internal financial controls over financial reporting based on 

our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial 

reporting (“the Guidance Notes”) and the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under Section 

143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable to an audit of internal 

financial controls and, both issued by the ICAI.   Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls 

over financial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls system 

over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting 

included obtaining an understanding of such internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material 

weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed 

risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 

of the Consolidated Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on 

the Covered Entities internal financial controls with reference to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to Consolidated Financial Statements

A Company’s internal financial control with reference to Financial Statements is a process designed to provide reasonable 

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of Financial Statements for external purposes in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A Company’s internal financial control with reference to Financial 

Statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 

that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of  Financial Statements in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorisations 

of management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 

of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the  Financial 

Statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference to Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to Financial Statements, including the possibility 

of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be 

detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to Financial Statements to future 

periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control with reference to Financial Statements may become inadequate 

because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the Group has, in all material 

respects, an adequate internal financial controls with reference to Financial Statements and such internal financial controls with 

reference to Financial Statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2025, based on the internal financial controls with 

reference to Financial Statements criteria established by the holding company considering the essential components of internal 

control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Control with reference to financial statement issued by the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

For A L P S & Co.

Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No.: 313132E

A.K.Khetawat

(Partner)

Membership No. 052751

Udin: 25052751BMKNQX3469

Place: Kolkata

Date: May 23, 2025
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at March 31, 2025

(₹ in Lakhs) 
Particulars

Note
Number

 As at
31st March, 

2025 

 As at
31st March, 

2024 
Assets
Financial Assets
Cash And Cash Equivalents 5  11.55  11.28 
Other Bank Balances 6  951.92  120.81 
Investments 7  8,232.08  8,637.28 
Other Financial Assets 8  43.96  35.68 

Total Financial Assets  9,239.51  8,805.05 
Non Financial Assets
Inventories 9  0.20  2.02 
Current Tax Assets (Net) 10  2.88  13.80 
Investment Property 11  3,042.27  284.26 
Property, Plant And Equipment 12  721.56  84.12 
Capital Work-In-Progress 13  –    3,606.26 
Intangible Assets 14  0.34  0.44 
Other Non Financial Assets 15  61.97  50.62 

Total Non Financial Assets  3,829.22  4,041.52 
Total Assets  13,068.73  12,846.57 

Liabilities And Equity
Liabilities
Financial Liabilities
Payables
(I) Trade Payables 16
(i) Total Outstanding Dues of Micro Enterprises And Small Enterprises  –    –   
(ii) Total Outstanding Dues of Creditors Other Than Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises  0.58  0.53 
Lease Liabilities 17  0.86  0.87 
Other Financial Liabilities 18  33.12  34.44 

Total Financial Liabilities  34.56  35.84 
Non Financial Liabilities
Current tax liabilities (Net) 19  31.08  –   
Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net) 20  714.34  734.64 
Other Non Financial Liabilities 21  37.99  12.62 

Total Non Financial Liabilities  783.41  747.26 
Equity
Equity Share Capital 22  77.14  77.14 
Other Equity 23  12,173.62  11,986.33 

Total Equity Attributable To The Owners Of The Parent  12,250.76  12,063.47 
Non Controlling Interest  –  – 

Total Liabilities  817.97  783.10 
Total Liabilities And Equity  13,068.73  12,846.57 

Accompanying Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements 1 - 56
These notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements    
As per our report of even date attached    
For A L P S & CO. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s Registration No.: 313132E
A. K. Khetawat    H. V. Lodha
Partner  Director
Membership No. 052751    DIN- 00394094

 Partha Pratim Das P. K. Madappa
Place: Kolkata Chief Executive Officer Director
Date: May 23, 2025  PAN- ADEPD0664L DIN- 00058822
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Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss
for the year ended March 31, 2025                                                                                                                             (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Note 
no.

For the year 
ended

March 31, 2025

For the year 
ended

March 31, 2024
Revenue from operations
(i)   Interest income 24  73.42  53.79 
(ii)  Dividend income 25  40.10  35.49 
(iii) Rental income 26  49.64  40.38 
(iv) Net gain on fair value changes 27  77.61  79.87 
(v) Sale of products 28  –    7.75 
(vi)  Profit on sale of investment property (net) 29  802.81  –   
(vii) Other operating revenue 30  –    2.49 

(I) Total revenue from operations  1,043.58  219.77 
(II) Other income 31  2.20  1.91 
(III) Total income (I + II)  1,045.78  221.68 

Expenses
(i)   Finance costs 32  1.37  3.70 

 (ii) Changes in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress 33  –    4.80 
(iii)  Employee benefits expense 34  55.19  44.52 

 (iv)  Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 35  77.76  17.39 
(v) Other expenses 36  199.99  99.84 

(IV) Total expenses  334.31  170.25 
(V) Profit before tax (III - IV)  711.47  51.43 
(VI) Tax expense

(i)  Current tax 37  53.18  1.68 
(ii) Deferred tax- charge/ (credit)  23.56  (17.76)
(iii) Income tax for earlier years  0.01  0.04 
Total tax expense  76.75  (16.04)

(VII) Profit for the year (V - VI)  634.72  67.47 
(VIII) Other comprehensive income

(i) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 38  (460.43)  1,754.55 
(ii) Income tax relating to above
Current tax  –   
Deferred tax  (43.86)  254.37 
Total other comprehensive income for the year (i - ii)  (416.57)  1,500.18 

(IX) Total comprehensive income for the year (Comprising of profit and 
other comprehensive income for the year) (VII + VIII)

 218.15  1,567.65 

(X) Profit for the year attributable to 
(i) Owners of Alfred Herbert (India) Limited  634.72  67.47 
(ii) Non controlling interest  –    –   

(XI) Other comprehensive income for the year attributable to 
(i) Owners of Alfred Herbert (India) Limited  (416.57)  1,500.18 
(ii) Non controlling interest  –    –   

(XII) Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to 
(i) Owners of Alfred Herbert (India) Limited  218.15  1,567.65 
(ii) Non controlling interest  –    –   

(XIII) Earnings per equity share (Face value of ₹ 10 each)
Basic (₹) 42  82.28  8.75 
Diluted (₹)  82.28  8.75 

Accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 1 - 56
These notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements 
As per our report of even date attached    
For A L P S & CO. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s Registration No.: 313132E
A. K. Khetawat    H. V. Lodha
Partner  Director
Membership No. 052751    DIN- 00394094

 Partha Pratim Das P. K. Madappa
Place: Kolkata Chief Executive Officer Director
Date: May 23, 2025  PAN- ADEPD0664L DIN- 00058822
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended March 31, 2025                                                                                                                             (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2024 

A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax 711.47  51.43 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expense 77.76  17.39 

Finance costs 1.37  3.70 

Balances written off (net)  –    0.94 

Rental income as per EIR method  (0.37)  (0.37)

Net gain on fair value changes  (77.61)  (79.87)

Profit on sale of investment property (net)  (802.81)  –   

Loss on discard of property, plant and equipment 0.71  –   

Obsolete inventories written off 1.82  –   

Liabilities/ provisions no longer required written back  –    (1.63)

Operating (loss)/ profit before working capital changes  (87.66)  (8.41)

Movement in working capital:

Decrease/ (increase) in inventories  –    4.80 

Decrease/ (increase) in trade and other receivables  (17.26)  (8.15)

Increase/ (decrease) in trade and other payables  35.42  (5.04)

Cash generated from/ (utilised in) operations  (69.50)  (16.80)

Taxes refund/ (paid)  (12.15)  0.26 

Net cash generated from/ (utilised in) operating activities (A)  (81.65)  (16.54)

B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to investment property, property, plant and equipment, 
capital work-in-progress and intangible assets 

 (313.37)  (227.12)

Proceeds from sale of investment property  1,237.25  –   

Purchase of investments  (557.01)  (469.72)

Proceeds from sale of investments  577.02  757.24 

Fixed deposits redeemed from/ (placed with) banks  (831.00)  0.28 

Net cash generated from/ (utilised in) investing activities (B)  112.89  60.68 

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payment of lease liabilities  (0.11)  (18.82)

Interest paid  –    (2.26)

Dividend paid  (30.86)  (27.00)

Net cash generated from/ (utilised in) financing activities (C)  (30.97)  (48.08)

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  0.27  (3.94)

Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the year  11.28  15.22 

Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the year  11.55  11.28 
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Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows:
(i) The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in the Indian 

Accounting Standard 7 “Statement of Cash Flows”.   

(ii) Cash and cash equivalents do not include any amount which is not available to the Group for its use.  

(iii) Cash and cash equivalents (Refer note no. 5) as at the Balance Sheet date consists of:

(₹ in Lakhs)

                              Particulars As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Cash on hand  0.21  0.04 

Balances with banks

In current accounts  11.34  11.24 

Total  11.55  11.28 

(iv) Change in Company’s liabilities arising from financing activities:

Particulars  Amount (₹ in Lakhs) 

Lease liabilities (Refer note no. 17)

As at March 31, 2023  18.53 

Cash flows  (18.82)

Non cash flows  1.16 

As at March 31, 2024  0.87 

Cash flows  (0.11)

Non cash flows  0.10 

As at March 31, 2025  0.86 

(v) Additions to investment property, property, plant and equipment, capital work-in-progress and intangible assets include 
movement in capital advances and creditors for capital expenditure (retention money).

(vi) Direct taxes paid is treated as arising from operating activities and is not bifurcated between investing and financing 
activities.

Accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements               1-56

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Contd.)
for the year ended March 31, 2025                                                                                                                    

As per our report of even date attached    

For A L P S & CO. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm’s Registration No.: 313132E

A. K. Khetawat    H. V. Lodha

Partner  Director

Membership No. 052751    DIN- 00394094

 Partha Pratim Das P. K. Madappa

Place: Kolkata Chief Executive Officer Director

Date: May 23, 2025  PAN- ADEPD0664L DIN- 00058822
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025

1 Corporate Information

 The Alfred Herbert (India) Limited is a Non-Banking Finance Company (NBFC) having the registered office at Herbert House 
13/3, Strand Road, Kolkata-700 001 , engaged in non-banking financial activities financial service activities. It has been 
registered with the Reserve Bank of India (RBI) as a Non-Banking Finance Company (NBFC) and is therefore governed by 
directions and laws issued for NBFC by RBI.

 The consolidated financial statements relate to Alfred Herbert (India) Limited (hereinafter referred to as “the Parent 
Company” and its subsidiaries (collectively hereinafter referred to as “Group”) as detailed below: 

 Investment in subsidiaries

Name of the subsidiary Principal 
activity

Place of 
incorporation and 
Principal Place of 

Business

Proportion of ownership interest/voting 
rights held by the Parent Company 

 As at March 31, 2025  As at March 31, 2024

Alfred Herbert Limited Manufacturing India 100% 100%

Herbert Holdings Limited Investment India 100% 100%

2 Statement of Compliance with Ind AS and Recent Pronouncements

 2.1 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian 
Accounting Standards (“Ind AS”) prescribed under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act” 
read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended from time to time). 
Ind ASs issued and notified by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015 (as amended) till the financial statements approved for issue by the Board of Directors have been considered 
in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Accounting policies have been consistently applied except where 
a newly issued Indian Accounting Standard is initially adopted or a revision to an existing Indian Accounting Standard 
requires a change in the accounting policy hitherto in use.”

 2.2 Application of new and revised standards

 On March 31, 2023, Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) has made certain amendments to existing Indian Accounting 
Standards vide Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2023. These amendments to the extent 
relevant to the Group’s operations were relating to:

 Ind AS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” which requires the entities to disclose their material accounting policies 
rather than their significant accounting policies, 

 Ind AS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” whereby definition of ‘accounting estimates’ 
has been introduced and include amendments to help entities distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in 
accounting estimates. 

 Further, consequential amendments with respect to the concept of material accounting policies have also been made in Ind 
AS 107 “”Financial Instruments: Disclosures”” and Ind AS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”.

 There are other amendments in various standards including Ind AS 101 “”First-time Adoption of Indian Accounting 
Standards””, Ind AS 103 “”Business Combinations”, Ind AS 109 “”Financial Instruments””, Ind AS 115 “Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers”, Ind AS 12 “Income Taxes” which has narrowed the scope of the initial recognition exemption 
so that it does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences and Ind AS 102 “Share-
based Payment” which have not been listed herein above since these are either not material or relevant to the Group.

 Revision in these standards did not have material impact on the profit/ loss and earnings per share for the year.

 2.3 Recent accounting pronouncements

 Standards issued but not yet effective

 Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) has not issued, under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, any new 
standards or made amendments to the existing standards under the said Rule, which are effective from April 1, 2024 and 
applicable to the Group.

3 Significant Accounting Policies

 3.1 Basis of Preparation

 The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention on accrual basis excepting 
certain financial instruments which are measured in terms of relevant Ind AS at fair value/ amortized costs at the end of 
each reporting period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 (Contd.)

 Historical cost convention is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

 The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Indian Rupees and all values are rounded off to the nearest Lakhs 
upto two decimal places, except otherwise stated.

 3.2 Fair Value Measurement

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions.

 The Company categorizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value into one of three levels depending on the ability to 
observe inputs employed for such measurement: 

 Level 1: Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable either directly or indirectly for the asset 
or liability.

 Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability which are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

 The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. This includes a finance 
team that has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value measurements who regularly review significant 
unobservable inputs, valuation adjustments and fair value hierarchy under which the valuation should be classified.

 3.3 Principles of Consolidation

 The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Parent Company and entities controlled 
by the Parent Company i.e., its subsidiaries. 

 Control is achieved when the Parent Company is exposed to, or has rights to the variable returns of the entity and the ability 
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

 Subsidiary Companies 

 The Group combines the financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiary companies line-by-line adding 
together like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses. The intra group balances and intra group transactions 
between the entities within the Group are fully eliminated.

 Non Controlling Interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the Consolidated Statement of 
Profit and Loss, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and Consolidated Balance Sheet respectively. 

 The difference between the costs of investment in the subsidiaries, over the net assets at the time of acquisition of shares 
in the subsidiaries is recognised in the consolidated financial statements as Goodwill or Capital reserve as the case may 
be. 

 3.4 Property Plant and Equipment

 Property, Plant and Equipment are stated at cost of acquisition, construction and subsequent improvements thereto 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. For this purpose cost include deemed cost on the date of 
transition and comprises purchase price of assets or its construction cost including duties and taxes, inward freight and 
other expenses incidental to acquisition or installation and adjustment for exchange differences wherever applicable and 
any cost directly attributable to bring the asset into the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating 
in the manner intended for its use.

 Parts of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment having different useful lives and material value and subsequent 
expenditure on Property, Plant and Equipment arising on account of capital improvement or other factors are accounted 
for as separate components.

 The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it 
is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured 
reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the income statement 
when incurred.

 3.5 Investment Property

 Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, or both. Investment properties 
are measured initially at their cost of acquisition. The cost comprises purchase price, borrowing cost, if capitalisation 
criteria are met and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for the intended use. 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group. All other repair and 
maintenance costs are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss as incurred.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 (Contd.)

 3.6 Intangible Assets

 Intangible assets are stated at cost comprising of purchase price inclusive of duties and taxes less accumulated amount of 
amortization and impairment losses. Such assets, are amortised over a period of five years and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication of the same. 

 Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each reporting date.

 3.7 Derecognition of Tangible Assets, Investment Property and Intangible Assets

 An item of Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment Property and Intangible Assets is de-recognised upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from its use or disposal. Gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
retirement of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment Property and Intangible Assets is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss.

 3.8 Impairment of Tangible Assets, Investment Property and Intangible Assets

 Tangible assets, Investment Property and Intangible Assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date for impairment. In 
case events and circumstances indicate any impairment, recoverable amount of assets is determined. An impairment 
loss is recognized in the statement of profit and loss, whenever the carrying amount of assets either belonging to Cash 
Generating Unit (CGU) or otherwise exceeds recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of asset’s fair value 
less cost of disposal and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows from the use of the assets 
are discounted to their present value at appropriate rate.

 Impairment losses recognized earlier may no longer exist or may have come down. Based on such assessment at each 
reporting period the impairment loss is reversed and recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss. In such cases the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the lower of its recoverable amount and the carrying amount that have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.

 3.9 Capital work in Progress and Capital Advances

 Cost of assets not ready for intended use, as on the Balance Sheet date, is shown as Capital work in progress. Advances 
given towards acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment outstanding at each Balance Sheet date are disclosed in Other 
Non Financial Assets. 

 3.10 Inventories

 Inventories are valued at lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost of the inventories is generally ascertained on weighted 
average basis. Materials and other supplies held for use in the production of inventories are not written down below cost 
if the finished product in which they will be incorporated are expected to be sold at or above cost. Cost for the purpose 
of valuation of work-in-progress and stock-in-trade includes materials, labour and appropriate portion of production 
overheads. 

 3.11 Foreign Currency Transactions

 Transactions in foreign currencies are accounted for at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. Foreign 
currency assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the year end. The loss or gain thereon and 
also on the exchange differences on settlement of the foreign currency transaction during the year are recognized in the 
Statement of Profit & Loss, except in the cases where any fixed asset acquired from a country outside India, in such case, 
these are adjusted to the cost of respective fixed assets.

 3.12 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (financial instruments) are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments.

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial Liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as 
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in the Statement of Profit and Loss. However, trade 
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are measured at transaction price.

 The classification of financial instruments whether to be measured at Amortized Cost, at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 
(FVTPL) or at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI) depends on the objective and contractual terms to 
which they relate. Classification of financial instruments are determined on initial recognition.



91

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 (Contd.)

 (i) Cash and cash equivalents

 All highly liquid financial instruments, which are readily convertible into determinable amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value and are having original maturities of three months or less from the 
date of purchase, are considered as cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents includes balances with banks which are 
unrestricted for withdrawal and usage.

 (ii) Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

 Financial Assets held within a business whose objective is to hold these assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and 
the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding are measured at amortized cost.

 The above Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities subsequent to initial recognition are measured at amortized cost using 
Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method.

 The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including all fees and points 
paid or received, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the Financial Asset or 
Financial Liability to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

 (iii) Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

 Financial assets are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if these financial assets are held within 
a business whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and the 
contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and 
changes therein are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

 (iv) For the purpose of para (ii) and (iii) above, principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and 
interest consists of consideration for the time value of money and associated credit risk.

 (v) Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

 Financial Instruments which does not meet the criteria of amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, 
as applicable in each case, are classified as Fair Value through Profit or loss. These are recognised at fair value and changes 
therein are recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

 (vi) Impairment of financial assets

 A financial asset is assessed for impairment at each balance sheet date. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if 
objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that 
asset.

 The Group measures the loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the 
credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the company measures the loss allowance for that 
financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses.

 However, for trade receivables or contract assets that result in relation to revenue from contracts with customers, the 
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

 (vii) Derecognition of financial instruments

 The Group derecognizes a financial asset or a group of financial assets when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
to another party.

 On derecognition of a financial asset (except for equity instruments designated as FVTOCI), the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable are recognized in statement of profit and 
loss.

 On derecognition of assets measured at FVTOCI the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

 Financial liabilities are derecognized if the Group’s obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled. 
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable 
is recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 (Contd.)

 3.13 Equity Share Capital

 An equity instrument is a contract that evidences residual interest in the assets of the company after deducting all of 
its liabilities. Par value of the equity shares is recorded as share capital and the amount received in excess of par value is 
classified as Securities Premium.

 Costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

 3.14 Provisions, Contingent liabilities and Contingent assets

 Provisions involving substantial degree of estimation in measurement are recognized when there is a legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events and it is probable that there will be an outflow of resources and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of obligation. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. The amount recognized as 
a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting 
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

 Contingent liabilities are not recognized and are disclosed by way of notes to the consolidated financial statements when 
there is a possible obligation arising from past events, the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group or when there is a 
present obligation that arises from past events where it is either not probable that an outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the same or a reliable estimate of the amount in this respect cannot be made.

 Contingent assets are not recognised but disclosed in the Consolidated Financial Statements by way of notes to accounts 
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

 3.15 Employee Benefits

 Employee benefits are accrued in the year in which services are rendered by the employees. Short term employee benefits 
are recognized as an expense in the statement of profit and loss for the year in which the related service is rendered.  
 
Contribution to defined contribution plans such as Provident Fund etc, are recognised as and when incurred.” 

 (i) Gratuity (Defined benefit plan) :

 Parent Company : The Parent Company has a Gratuity Fund administered by the Trustees, which is independent of the Parent 
Company’s finance. The liability in respect of Gratuity has been determined by actuarial valuation following Projected Unit 
Credit Method.

 (ii) Leave encashment : 

 Parent Company: According to the prevailing practice of the Parent Company, the employees are allowed to enjoy the leave 
within the year. No encashment of leave is allowed.

 iii) Provident fund (Defined contribution scheme) :

 Accounted for on accrual basis based on the monthly contribution made to the appropriate authorities.

 3.16 Revenue recognition

 Recognition of dividend and interest income

 Dividend Income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established, it is probable 
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the entity and the amount of dividend 
can be measured reliably. This is generally when the shareholders or Board of Directors approve the dividend. 
Under Ind AS 109, interest income is recorded using the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method for all financial instruments 
measured at amortised cost. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected 
life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
The EIR (and therefore the amortised cost of the asset) is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition, fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR.

 Sale of products and sale of services

 Revenue is measured based on the considerations specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected 
on behalf of third parties. The revenue from sales is recognised when control over a product or service has been transferred 
and/or products/services are delivered/provided to the customers. The delivery occurs when the product has been shipped 
or delivered to the specific location as the case may be and the customer has either accepted the products in accordance 
with contract or the Group has sufficient evidence that all the criteria for acceptance has been satisfied. Returns, discounts 
and rebates collected, if any, are deducted from sales.
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 3.17 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing cost comprises of interest paid and other costs in connection with the borrowing of the funds. All borrowing 
costs are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss using the effective interest method except to the extent attributable 
to qualifying Property, Plant and Equipment which are capitalised to the cost of related assets. A qualifying PPE is an asset, 
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. 

 3.18 Leases

 As a lessee

 A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration. The Group’s lease asset class primarily consist of leases for Land and building. At the 
inception of the contract, group assess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To 
assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the group assesses whether: 

 (i) the contract involves the use of an identified asset

 (ii) group has substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset through the period of the lease and

 (iii) group has the right to direct the use of the asset

 At the date of commencement of the lease, group recognizes a right-of-use asset (“”ROU””) and a corresponding 
lease liability for all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for leases with a term of twelve 
months or less (short-term leases) and low-value leases. For these short-term or low-value leases, the group 
recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date of the lease plus any initial direct cost 
less any lease incentives. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Certain lease arrangements includes the options to extend or terminate the lease before the end of the lease term. 
ROU assets and lease liabilities include these options when it is reasonably certain that they will be exercised. 
The lease liability is initially measured at amortized cost at the present value of the future lease payments. The lease 
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily determinable, using the 
incremental borrowing rates. Lease liabilities are remeasured with a corresponding adjustment to the related right 
of use asset if the group changes its assessment if whether it will exercise an extension or a termination option. 
On the Balance Sheet, ROU assets have been included in property, plant and equipment and lease liabilities have been 
disclosed separately.

 3.19 Taxes on income

 Income tax expense representing the sum of current tax expense and the net charge of the deferred taxes is recognized 
in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive 
income.

 Current tax is provided on the taxable income and recognized at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the 
tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period.

 Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all 
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those 
deductible temporary differences can be utilized. 

 Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability 
is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilized.

 3.20 Earnings per share

 Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing the net profit attributable to the equity shareholders of the Parent 
Company by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share 
is computed by dividing the net profit attributable to the equity shareholders of the Parent Company by the weighted 
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average number of equity shares considered for deriving basic earnings per share and also the weighted average number 
of equity shares that could have been issued upon conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares 

4 Critical accounting judgments, assumptions and key sources of estimation and uncertainty

 The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with the measurement principle of Ind AS requires 
management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions. These estimates, judgments and assumptions affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. 
Accounting estimates could change from period to period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Appropriate 
changes in estimates are made as management becomes aware of changes in circumstances surrounding the estimates. 
Differences between the actual results and estimates are recognized in the year in which the results are known / materialized 
and, if material, their effects are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

 Application of accounting policies that require significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgments and the 
use of assumptions in the financial statements have been disclosed below. The key assumptions concerning the future and 
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

 4.1 Depreciation/amortisation and impairment on property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible 
assets

 Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives in accordance 
with Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013, taking into account the estimated residual value, wherever applicable.  
Intangible assets are amortised over a period of five years.

 The Group reviews its carrying value of its Tangible Assets, Investment Property and Intangible Assets whenever there is 
objective evidence that the assets are impaired. In such situation Asset’s recoverable amount is estimated which is higher 
of asset’s or cash generating units (CGU) fair value less cost of disposal and its value in use. In assessing value in use 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted using pre-tax discount rate which reflect the current assessment of time 
value of money. In determining fair value less cost of disposal, recent market realisations are considered or otherwise in 
absence of such transactions appropriate valuations are adopted. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of the 
assets regularly in order to determine the amount of depreciation/amortisation and amount of impairment expense to be 
recorded during any reporting period. This reassessment may result in change estimated in future periods.

 4.2 Current Tax and Deferred Tax

 Significant judgment is required in determination of taxability of certain income and deductibility of certain expenses 
during the estimation of the provision for income taxes. 

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused losses (carry forward of prior years’ losses) and unused tax credit to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit would be available against which the losses could be utilised. Significant 
management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the 
likely timing and the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

 4.3 Defined Benefit Obligations (DBO)

 Critical estimate of DBO involves a number of critical underlying assumptions such as standard rates of inflation, mortality, 
discount rate, anticipation of future salary increases, etc as estimated by Independent Actuary appointed for this purpose 
by the Management. Variation in these assumptions may significantly impact the DBO amount and the annual defined 
benefit expenses. 

 4.4 Provisions and contingencies

 Provisions and liabilities are recognized in the period when it becomes probable that there will be a future outflow of 
funds resulting from past operations or events and the amount of cash outflow can be reliably estimated. The timing of 
recognition and quantification of the liability requires the application of judgement to existing facts and circumstances, 
which can be subject to change.

 Management judgment is required for estimating the possible outflow of resources, if any, in respect of contingencies/
claim/litigations/ against the Company as it is not possible to predict the outcome of pending matters with accuracy.

 The carrying amounts of provisions and liabilities and estimation for contingencies are reviewed regularly and revised to 
take account of changing facts and circumstances.
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5 Cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                                             (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars Refer
note no.

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Cash on hand  0.21  0.04 

Balances with banks :

      In current accounts  11.34  11.24 

Total  11.55  11.28 

6 Other bank balances                                                                                                                                       (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars Refer
note no.

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Earmarked balances with banks in unpaid dividend account  4.92  4.81 

Fixed deposits with bank  947.00  116.00 

Total  951.92  120.81 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 (Contd.)

7 Investments                                                                                                                                                    (₹ in Lakhs) 

Sl. 
No. Particulars As at

March 31, 2025
As at

March 31, 2024

I Amortised cost

i) Bonds  411.60  549.97 

 411.60  549.97 

II Fair value through other comprehensive income

i) Quoted equity shares  5,323.31  6,032.85 

ii) Unquoted equity shares  1,241.83  995.08 

Less: Allowance for impairment loss  (1.00)  (1.00)

 6,564.14  7,026.93 

III Fair value through profit or loss

i) Debt oriented mutual funds  1,256.34  1,060.38 

 1,256.34  1,060.38 

Total  8,232.08  8,637.28 

Note :

a) The scrip wise details of the investments are given in note 7.1

b) All investments are within India

c) Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investment 1.00  1.00  

d) The Group has elected an irrevocable option to designate its investment in equity instruments through FVTOCI, as these 
investments are not held for trading and the Group continues to invest in these securities on long term basis. This includes 
investments made in equity of the companies which are leaders in their respective sectors and the Group believes that these 
investments have potential to remain accretive over the long term.

e) The Group’s investments in unquoted equity shares have been valued based on latest available audited financial state-
ments.      

f) Out of the total dividend recognised during the year from investment in equity instruments designated at FVTOCI, Nil 
(March 31, 2024- Nil) is relating to investments derecognised during the year and ₹ 40.10 Lakhs (March 31, 2024- ₹ 35.49 
Lakhs) pertains to investments held at the end of the reporting period (Also refer note no. 25).
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g) During the year, pursuant to issue of bonus shares in the ratio of 1:1, the Group has received 1,22,667 equity shares of ₹ 
10 each of Reliance Industries Limited, taking the total shareholding of the Group to 2,45,334 equity shares of ₹ 10 each 
as on March 31, 2025.      

h) During the year, pursuant to demerger of hotels business of ITC Limited, the Group has been allotted, in the ratio of 1:10, 
9,000 equity shares of ₹ 1 each of ITC Hotels Limited for 90,000 fully paid-up equity shares of ₹ 1 each held by the Group 
in ITC Limited.

i) The other disclosures regarding fair value and risk arising from financial instruments are explained in note no. 46 & 47.

j) Movement in allowance for impairment loss.

(₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Balance as at the beginning of the year 1.00 1.00

Recognised during the year – –

Written back/ adjusted during the year – –

Balance as at the end of the year 1.00 1.00
 

7.1 Details of investments                                                                                                                                        (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 
note 
no.

Face value as 
on March 31, 

2025

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Number/ 
units Amount Number/ 

units Amount

Investment in mutual funds- Unquoted

Measured at fair value through profit or loss

Bandhan Banking & PSU Debt Fund- Regular Plan- Growth
(erstwhile IDFC Banking & PSU Debt Fund- Growth)

10  5,35,904.864  129.18  5,35,904.864  119.72 

HDFC Low Duration Fund- Regular Plan- Growth –  –    –    91,762.730  48.32 

HDFC Banking and PSU Debt Fund- Regular Plan- Growth 10  5,40,554.099  121.70  5,40,554.099  112.59 

ICICI Prudential Banking and PSU Debt Fund- Growth 10  17,22,786.721  552.07  17,22,786.721  510.91 

ICICI Prudential Short Term Fund- Regular Plan- Growth 10  4,50,381.241  264.95  –    –   

ICICI Prudential Bluechip Fund- Growth 10  1,83,090.171  188.44  –    –   

Axis Overnight Fund- Regular Plan- Growth –  –    –    18,905.624  238.78 

Baroda BNP Paribas Overnight Fund- Regular Plan- Growth –  –    –    2,397.721  30.06 

(a) Total investment in mutual funds  1,256.34  1,060.38 

Investment in bonds- Quoted

Measured at amortised cost

8.30% NHAI Tax Free Bonds –  –    –    3,743  38.37 

8.50% NHAI Tax Free Bonds 1000  20,000  200.00  30,000  300.00 

8.75% NHAI Tax Free Bonds 1000  21,200  211.60  21,200  211.60 

(b) Total investment in bonds  411.60  549.97 
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Particulars
Refer 
note 
no.

Face value as 
on March 31, 

2025

As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Number/ 
units Amount Number/ 

units Amount

Investment in equity instruments (fully paid-up)- Quoted

Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Grasim Industries Limited 2  157  4.10  157  3.59 

HDFC Bank Limited 1  10,900  199.31  10,900  157.85 

Hindalco Industries Limited 1  45,750  312.18  45,750  256.41 

Reliance Industries Limited 7(g) 10  2,45,334  3,128.01  1,22,667  3,651.16 

Jio Financial Services Limited 10  1,22,667  278.95  1,22,667  433.99 

ITC Limited 1  90,000  368.82  90,000  385.70 

ITC Hotels Limited 7(h) 1  9,000  17.78  -    -   

Vedanta Limited 1  6,012  27.90  6,012  16.33 

Birla Corporation Limited 10  50,000  527.60  50,000  712.20 

ICICI Bank Limited 2 25,000 337.10  25,000  273.96 

Nestle India Limited 1  5,400  121.56  5,400  141.66 

Sub-total- investment in quoted equity instruments (i)  5,323.31  6,032.85 

Investment in equity instruments (fully paid-up)- Unquoted

Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Woodlands Multispeciality Hospital Limited 10  1,780  15.87  1,780  14.28 

Lodha Capital Markets Limited 10  2,43,000  1,224.96  2,43,000  979.80 

Kirloskar Computer Services Limited 10  10,000  1.00  10,000  1.00 

Less: Allowance for impairment loss 7(i)  (1.00)  (1.00)

Sub-total- investment in unquoted equity instruments (ii)  1,240.83  994.08 

(c) Total investment in equity instruments (i+ii)  6,564.14  7,026.93 

Total (a+b+c)  8,232.08  8,637.28 

  (₹ in Lakhs)
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8. Other Financial Assets                                                                                                                                       (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Refer
note no.

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

At amortised cost

Security Deposits  17.25  27.28 

Interest accrued but not due on financial assets measured at amortised 
cost

 26.71  8.40 

Total  43.96  35.68 
    

9 Inventories                                                                                                                                                      (₹ in Lakhs)
 (Value at lower of cost for net realisable value)

Particulars Refer
note no.

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Raw materials  –    2.02 

Stores & spares*  0.20  –   

Total  0.20  2.02 
* Discarded inventory    

10 Current tax assets (net)                                                                                                                                  (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Refer
note no.

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Advance tax including tax deducted at source (net of provision for tax) 10.1  2.88  13.80 

Total  2.88  13.80 

10.1 Advance tax including tax deducted at source is net of provision for tax of ₹ 0.18 Lakhs (March 31, 2023- ₹ 1.86 Lakhs).  
    

11.  Investment property
 As at March 31, 2025                                                                                                                                          (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Land Building Total

Gross Block

As at March 31, 2024  21.75  262.51  284.26 

Additions during the year  –    3,238.13  3,238.13 

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  3.01  435.35  438.36 

As at March 31, 2025  18.74  3,065.29  3,084.03 

Accumulated depreciation

As at March 31, 2024  –    –    –   

Charge during the year  –    45.68  45.68 

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  –    3.92  3.92 

As at March 31, 2025  –    41.76  41.76 

Net block as at March 31, 2025  18.74  3,023.53  3,042.27 
    

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 (Contd.)
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 As at March 31, 2024                                                                                                                                     (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Land Building Total

Gross Block

As at March 31, 2023  21.75  262.51  284.26 

Additions during the year  –    –    –   

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  –    –    –   

As at March 31, 2024  21.75  262.51  284.26 

Accumulated depreciation

As at March 31, 2023  –    –    –   

Charge during the year  –    –    –   

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  –    –    –   

As at March 31, 2024  –    –    –   

Net block as at March 31, 2024  21.75  262.51  284.26 
    

11.1 Disclosure pursuant to Ind AS 40 “Investment Property”

 (a) Amount recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss in respect of investment property is as under:

(₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Rental income derived from investment property  49.27  40.01 

Direct operating expenses arising from investment property that generated 
rental income

 16.91  7.88 

Direct operating expenses arising from investment property that did not 
generate rental income

– –  

(b) The fair value of the investment property is ₹ 13,097.92 Lakhs (March 31, 2024- ₹ 8,376.43 Lakhs) as on March 31, 2025. 
The fair value has been determined on the basis of valuation carried out at the reporting date by registered valuer as 
defined under Rule 2 of the Companies (Registered Valuers and Valuation) Rules, 2017, as amended from time to time. 
The main inputs considered by the valuer are government rates, property location, market research and trends, contracted 
rentals, terminal yields, discount rates and comparable values, as appropriate.

11.2 The title deeds of the immovable properties are held in the name of the companies included in the Group.
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12 Property, plant and equipment

 As at March 31, 2025                                                                                                                                      (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Land- 

freehold

Land and 
building- 

right of use
Building

Plant and 
equipment

Furniture 
and 

Fixtures

Office 
equipment

Computers Total

Gross block

As at March 31, 2024  14.49  67.74  77.24  14.97  1.07  0.57  0.62  176.70 

Additions during the year  111.74  –    –    558.39  –    –    –    670.13 

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  –    66.75  0.59  0.36  0.95  0.57  0.62  69.84 

As at March 31, 2025  126.23  0.99  76.65  573.00  0.12  –    –    776.99 

Accumulated depreciation

As at March 31, 2024  –    65.89  17.43  7.47  0.94  0.33  0.52  92.58 

Charge during the year  –    1.16  2.82  27.99  0.01  –    –    31.98 

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  –    66.75  0.48  0.20  0.85  0.33  0.52  69.13 

As at March 31, 2025  –    0.30  19.77  35.26  0.10  –    –    55.43 

Net block as at March 31, 2025  126.23  0.69  56.88  537.74  0.02  –    –    721.56 

 As at March 31, 2024                                                                                                                                     (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Land- 

freehold

Land and 
building- 

right of use
Building

Plant and 
equipment

Furniture 
and 

Fixtures

Office 
equipment

Computers Total

Gross block

As at March 31, 2023  14.49  67.74  77.24  14.97  1.07  0.57  0.62  176.70 

Additions during the year  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

As at March 31, 2024  14.49  67.74  77.24  14.97  1.07  0.57  0.62  176.70 

Accumulated depreciation

As at March 31, 2023  –    52.49  14.61  6.41  0.93  0.33  0.52  75.29 

Charge during the year  –    13.40  2.82  1.06  0.01  –    –    17.29 

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

As at March 31, 2024  –    65.89  17.43  7.47  0.94  0.33  0.52  92.58 

Net block as at March 31, 2024  14.49  1.85  59.81  7.50  0.13  0.24  0.10  84.12 
       

12.1 The title deeds of the immovable properties are held in the name of the Parent company and its subsidiaries, as applicable.

13 Capital work-in-progress                                                                                                                                (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer note 

no.
As at

March 31, 2025

As at

March 31, 2024

Balance as at the beginning of the year  3,606.26  3,388.77 

Additions during the year  190.26  217.49 

Capitalised during the year  (3,796.52)  –   

Balance as at the end of the year  –    3,606.26 
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13.1  Ageing of capital work-in-progress      

As at March 31, 2025                                                                                                                                          (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Amount in capital work-in-progress for a period of

Total
Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years

Projects in progress  –    –    –    –    –   

Projects temporarily suspended  –    –    –    –    –   

Total  –    –    –    –    –   

As at March 31, 2024

Particulars
Amount in capital work-in-progress for a period of

Total
Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years

Projects in progress  217.49  474.95  475.81  2,438.01  3,606.26 

Projects temporarily suspended  –    –    –    –    –   

Total  217.49  474.95  475.81  2,438.01  3,606.26 

14. Intangible Assets                                                                                                                                            (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
As at

March 31, 2025

As at

March 31, 2024

Computer software (acquired)

Gross block

Balance as at the beginning of the year  0.54  –   

Additions during the year  –    0.54 

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  –    –   

Balance as at the end of the year  0.54  0.54 

Accumulated amortisation

Balance as at the beginning of the year  0.10  –   

Charge during the year  0.10  0.10 

Disposal/ adjustments during the year  –    –   

Balance as at the end of the year  0.20  0.10 

Net block as at the end of the year  0.34  0.44 

15. Other Non Financial Assets                                                                                                                            (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Refer 
note no.

As at
March 31, 2025

As at

March 31, 2024

Advances other than capital advances

Other advances

Balances with government authorities  63.38  58.54 

Less: Provision for doubtful balances with government authorities  15.1  (3.21)  (8.36)

 60.17  50.18 

Defined benefit plan assets (Net) 45  1.80  0.09 

Others –   0.35 

Total  61.97  50.62 
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15.1 Movement in provision for doubtful balances with government authorities                                                     (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars Refer 
note no.

For the year ended 
March 31, 2025 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024 

Balance as at the beginning of the year  8.36  –   

Recognised during the year (Refer note no. 36)  –    8.36 

Written back/ adjusted during the year (Refer note no. 36)  (5.15)  –   

Balance as at the end of the year  3.21  8.36 

16 Trade payables                                                                                                                                                (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
As at

March 31, 2025

As at

March 31, 2024

At amortised cost

For goods and services

    Dues to micro enterprises and small enterprises 16.1  –    –   

    Dues to others  0.58  0.53 

Total  0.58  0.53 

16.1 There are no dues to micro enterprises and small enterprises based on the confirmation and information available with the 
Group regarding the status of suppliers.

16.2 Ageing of trade payables

 As at March 31, 2025                                                                                                                                  (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Outstanding for following periods from date of posting

TotalLess than
1 year

1 - 2 years 2 - 3 years
More than

3 years

Undisputed, micro enterprises and small 
enterprises

 –    –    –    –    –   

Undisputed, others  0.58  –    –    –    0.58 

Total  0.58  –    –    –    0.58 

      

 As at March 31, 2024                                                                                                                                (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Outstanding for following periods from date of posting

TotalLess than
1 year

1 - 2 years 2 - 3 years
More than

3 years

Undisputed, micro enterprises and small 
enterprises

 –    –    –    –    –   

Undisputed, others  0.53  –    –    –    0.53 

Total  0.53  –    –    –    0.53 

17 Lease Liabilities                                                                                                                                                (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
As at

March 31, 2025
As at

March 31, 2024

At amortised cost

Lease liabilities 44  0.86  0.87 

Total  0.86  0.87 
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18 Other Financial Liabilities                                                                                                                               (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars Refer 
note no.

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

At amortised cost

Unpaid dividend  18.1  4.92  4.81 

Others

Security deposits  10.44  8.13 

Retention money  5.47  16.83 

Others  12.29  4.67 

Total  33.12  34.44 

18.1 There are no amounts due and outstanding to be credited to Investor Education and Protection Fund as at the balance 
sheet date.

19  Current tax liabilities (net)                                                                                                                                (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
As at

March 31, 2025
As at

March 31, 2024

Provision for tax (net of advance income tax, including tax deducted at source)  31.08  –   

Total  31.08  –   

19.1 Provision for tax is net of advance tax, including tax deducted at source of ₹ 23.06 Lakhs (March 31, 2024- Nil).

20 Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net)                                                                                                                                (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
As at

March 31, 2025
As at

March 31, 2024

Deferred Tax Liabilities  20.1  714.06  734.36 

Less: Deferred Tax Assets  20.1  (0.28)  (0.28)

Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net)  714.34  734.64 

       
20.1 Components of Deferred Tax Liabilities/ (Assets) are as follows:

 As at March 31, 2025                                                                                                                                          (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars As at 
March 31, 

2024 

 Charge/ 
(credit) 

recognised in 
profit or loss

 Charge/ 
(credit) 

recognised 
in OCI

 As at 
March 31, 

2025 

Tax effect of items constituting deferred tax liabilities 

Timing difference w.r.t property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 

 39.43  13.16  –    52.59 

Difference in carrying value and tax base of investments 
and effect of revaluation of asset 

 694.12  10.40  (44.45)  660.07 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan  0.81  –    0.59  1.40 

Total deferred tax liabilities  734.36  23.56  (43.86)  714.06 

Tax effect of items constituting deferred tax assets 

Expenses allowed on payment basis u/s 43B of Income Tax 
Act, 1961 

 (0.28)  –    –    (0.28)

Total deferred tax assets  (0.28)  –    –    (0.28)

Deferred tax liabilities (net)  734.64  23.56  (43.86)  714.34 
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 As at March 31, 2024                                                                                                                                          (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars As at 
March 31, 

2023 

 Charge/ 
(credit) 

recognised in 
profit or loss

 Charge/ 
(credit) 

recognised 
in OCI

 As at 
March 31, 

2024 

Tax effect of items constituting deferred tax liabilities 

Timing difference w.r.t property, plant and equipment  39.31  0.12  –    39.43 

Difference in carrying value and tax base of investments 
and effect of revaluation of asset 

 457.87  (17.88)  254.13  694.12 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan  0.57  –    0.24  0.81 

Total Deferred tax Liabilities  497.75  (17.76)  254.37  734.36 

Tax effect of items constituting deferred tax assets 

Expenses allowed on payment basis u/s 43B of Income Tax 
Act, 1961 

 (0.28)  –    –    (0.28)

Total deferred tax assets  (0.28)  –    –    (0.28)

Deferred tax liabilities (net)  498.03  (17.76)  254.37  734.64 

21. Other Non Financial Liabilities                                                                                                                         (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
As at

March 31, 2025
As at

March 31, 2024

Security deposits  25.96  –   

Income received in advance  2.85  3.22 

Statutory dues (includes TDS, PF, ESI, etc)  0.47  0.69 

Others  8.71  8.71 

Total  37.99  12.62 

22. Equity share capital                                                                                                                                        (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Refer 
note no.

As at
March 31, 2025

As at
March 31, 2024

Authorised 
50,00,000 (March 31, 2024-50,00,000) equity shares of ₹ 10 each  500.00  500.00 

Total  500.00  500.00 

Issued, subscribed & fully paid-up
7,71,429 (March 31, 2024- 7,71,429) equity shares of ₹ 10 each  77.14  77.14 

Total  77.14  77.14 

22.1 Reconciliation of the number of equity shares outstanding

Particulars For the year ended 
 March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
 March 31, 2024

Number of shares as at the beginning of the year  7,71,429  7,71,429 

Movement during the year  –    –   

Number of shares as at the end of the year  7,71,429  7,71,429 
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22.2 Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to each class of equity shares

 The Parent company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of ₹ 10 per share. Each holder of equity share 

is entitled to one vote per share. The Parent company may declare and pay dividends. The dividend, if any proposed by 

the Board of Directors of the Parent company is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General 

Meeting. In the event of liquidation of the Parent company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining 

assets of the Parent company, after distribution of all preferential amounts in proportion to the number of equity shares 

held by equity shareholders.

22.3 Shareholders holding more than 5 % of the equity shares in the Parent Company:

Name of the shareholders As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Number of shares % shareholding Number of shares % shareholding

Ms. Anamika Lodha  2,20,576 28.59%  2,20,576 28.59%

Ms. Simika Lodha  2,20,576 28.59%  2,20,576 28.59%

Mr. H.V.Lodha  43,590 5.65%  43,590 5.65%

22.4 Details of shareholding of promoters 
 As at March 31, 2025

Name of the Promoter  Number of 
shares 

 % of total 
shares* 

 % change 
during the year 

Mr. A.V.Lodha  38,043 4.93%  –   

Mr. H.V.Lodha  43,590 5.65%  –   

Ms. Anamika Lodha  2,20,576 28.59%  –   

Ms. Simika Lodha  2,20,576 28.59%  –   

Mr. Aditya Vikram Lodha [Karta Of Rajendra Singh Aditya Vikram (HUF)]  8,133 1.05%  –   

Jain Industrial And Commercial Services Pvt. Ltd.  38,270 4.96%  –   

Mr. Vardhaman Lodha  6 0.00%  –   

Ms. Samvika  Lodha  299 0.04%  –   

Mr. Vijay Tandon (Trustee Of Iris Family Trust)  1 0.00%  –   

Elsi Services LLP  1 0.00%  –   

Ms. Avni Arya  1 0.00%  –   

Ms. Srishti Lodha  1 0.00%  –   

Ms. Anoushka Lodha  303 0.04%  –   

La Crème De La Crème Services LLP  1 0.00%  –   

City Holdings Private Limited  2 0.00%  –   

Harsh Chemicals Private Limited  2 0.00%  –   

Total  5,69,805 73.86%  –   
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 As at March 31, 2024

Name of the Promoter  Number of 
shares 

 % of total 
shares* 

 % change 
during the year 

Mr. A.V.Lodha  38,043 4.93%  –   
Mr. H.V.Lodha  43,590 5.65%  –   
Ms. Anamika Lodha  2,20,576 28.59%  –   
Ms. Simika Lodha  2,20,576 28.59%  –   
Mr. Aditya Vikram Lodha [Karta Of Rajendra Singh Aditya Vikram (HUF)]  8,133 1.05%  –   
Jain Industrial And Commercial Services Pvt. Ltd.  38,270 4.96%  –   
Mr. Vardhaman Lodha  6 0.00%  –   
Ms. Samvika  Lodha  299 0.04%  –   
Mr. Vijay Tandon (Trustee Of Iris Family Trust)  1 0.00%  –   
Elsi Services LLP  1 0.00%  –   
Ms. Avni Arya  1 0.00%  –   
Ms. Srishti Lodha  1 0.00%  –   
Ms. Anoushka Lodha  303 0.04%  –   
La Crème De La Crème Services LLP  1 0.00%  –   
City Holdings Private Limited  2 0.00%  –   
Harsh Chemicals Private Limited  2 0.00%  –   
Total  5,69,805 73.86% –

 *Aggregate of % of total shares held by promoters considered as 73.86% due to rounding off   
 

23 Other Equity                                                                                                                                                      (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
As at

March 31, 2025
As at

March 31, 2024

Capital reserve 23.2  0.60  0.60 

Capital revaluation reserve 23.3  50.37  50.37 

Statutory reserve 23.4  1,074.94  947.63 

General reserve 23.5  4,052.89  3,952.89 

Retained earnings 23.6  1,952.45  1,574.12 

Other comprehensive income 23.7  5,042.37  5,460.72 

Total  12,173.62  11,986.33 

23.1 Refer Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for movement in balances of reserves
 Nature and purpose of reserves:    

23.2 Capital Reserve
 Capital reserve is a reserve which is not free for distribution. The balance in this reserve represents the amount of share 

forfeited by the Parent company.

23.3 Capital Revaluation Reserve
 This represents revaluation of Land at Kolkata and Bangalore and Building at Bangalore.

23.4 Statutory Reserve
 Statutory reserve represents the reserve created pursuant to the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (hereinafter referred to as 

“the RBI Act”) and related regulations applicable to those companies. Under the RBI Act, a Non Banking Financial Company 
is required to transfer an amount not less than 20% of its net profit to a reserve fund before declaring any dividend. 
Appropriation from this reserve fund is permitted only for the purposes specified by the Reserve Bank of India.

23.5 General Reserve
 The general reserve is created from time to time by appropriating profits from retained earnings. The general reserve is 

created by a transfer from one component of equity to another. Accordingly, it is not reclassified to the statement of profit 
and loss.   
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23.6 Retained Earnings
 Retained earnings represent the undistributed profit or accumulated earnings of the Group.

23.7 Other comprehensive income (“OCI”) represents the balance with respect to:
 (a) Re-measurement gains/ (losses) resulting from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions. These 

gains/ (losses) are recognised directly in OCI during the period in which they occur and are subsequently transferred 
to Retained earnings.

 (b) Cumulative gains/ (losses) arising from the fair valuation of non-current equity investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to Retained earnings when those instruments are disposed of.

24 Interest Income                                                                                                                                                     (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

On financial assets measured at amortised cost

Bonds   39.96  46.64 

Others- fixed deposits, etc.  33.46  7.15 

Total  73.42  53.79 

25 Dividend Income                                                                                                                                             (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Dividend income on equity instruments measured at FVTOCI 7(f)  40.10  35.49 

Total  40.10  35.49 

26 Rental Income                                                                                                                                             (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Rental income  49.64  40.38 

Total  49.64  40.38 

27  Net Gain On Fair Value Changes                                                                                                                      (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Net gain on fair valuation of investments measured at FVTPL  27.1  77.61  79.87 

Total  77.61  79.87 
 

27.1 Details of net gain on fair valuation of investments measured at FVTPL                                                       (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Realised  22.06  15.59 

Unrealised  55.55  64.28 

Total  77.61  79.87 
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28 Sale of products                                                                                                                                              (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Sale of products- machinery for rubber and tyre industries and 
related spare parts, etc

–  7.75 

Total –  7.75 

29. Profit on sale of investment property (net)                                                                                                   (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Profit on sale of investment property (net) 29.1  802.81  –   

Total  802.81  –   

29.1 During the year ended March 31, 2025, the Parent Company has partially disposed of one of its investment properties, 
comprising of certain portion of building and proportionate share of land appurtenant thereto, and a net profit of ₹ 802.81 
Lakhs arising thereagainst on such disposal has been recognised under “Profit on sale of investment property (net)” in the 
consolidated financial statements.

30. Other operating revenue                                                                                                                                 (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Sale of scrap  –    2.49 

Total  –    2.49 
 

31. Other income                                                                                                                                                  (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Liabilities/ provisions no longer required written back  –    1.63 

Miscellaneous income  2.20  0.28 

Total  2.20  1.91 
 

32. Finance Costs                                                                                                                                                   (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Interest expense

Security deposits  0.31  0.28 

Lease liabilities 44  0.10  1.16 

Others  0.96  2.26 

Total  1.37  3.70 
 

33. Changes in inventories of work-in-progress and finished goods                                                                  (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Opening inventories
       Work-in-progress  –    4.80 

 –    4.80 
Closing inventories
      Work-in-progress  –    –   

 –    –   
Decrease in Inventories of Work-in-Progress  –    4.80 
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34. Employee Benefits Expense                                                                                                                             (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Salaries and wages  52.35  40.40 

Contribution to provident and other funds 45  2.54  3.68 

Staff welfare expense  0.30  0.44 

Total  55.19  44.52 

35. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment                                                                                               (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Depreciation on investment property 11  45.68  –   

Depreciation on Property, Plant and Equipment 12  31.98  17.29 

Amortisation of intangible assets 14  0.10  0.10 

Total  77.76  17.39 

36. Other expenses                                                                                                                                                 (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
Refer 

note no.
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2025
For the year ended 

March 31, 2024

Rent 36.1  49.86  0.14 

Freight outward  0.17  –   

Repairs and maintenance

     Building  2.97  0.88 

     Others  27.30  2.19 

Rates and taxes  21.03  17.74 

Insurance charges  0.27  0.29 

Electricity charges  22.62  11.23 

Flat maintenance  2.44  2.19 

Postage and telephone  1.65  2.15 

Printing and stationery  0.02  0.02 

Legal and professional fees  26.55  16.60 

Motor car expenses  2.50  0.90 

Consultancy charges  0.14  7.13 

Directors' sitting fees  3.25  3.95 

Security service charges  22.10  21.52 

Traveling and conveyance  2.31  1.91 

Auditors' remuneration

     Audit fees  0.80  0.80 

     Certification and other services  0.42  0.47 

Compensation paid to ex-employees  –    0.47 

Balances written off (net)  –    0.94 

Obsolete inventories written off  1.82  –   

Loss on discard of property, plant and equipment  0.52  –   

Miscellaneous expenditure  11.25  8.32 

Total  199.99  99.84 
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36.1 Rent includes :

(i)   Expenditure on lease of low value assets  0.09  0.14 

 (ii)   ₹ 49.77 Lakhs (March 31, 2024- Nil) paid to Syama Prasad Mookerjee Port Kolkata- Estate Division towards increase in 
rent in respect of one of the premises taken on lease.   

37. Tax Expense                                                                                                                                                     (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Current tax  53.18  1.68 

Deferred tax  23.56  (17.76)

Income tax for earlier years  0.01  0.04 

Total tax expense as per Consolidated Profit or Loss  76.75  (16.04)

Reconciliation of tax expense

Profit before tax 711.47  51.43 

Statutory tax rate 25.17% 25.17%

Computed tax expense  179.08  12.94 

Adjustments for:

Tax exempt income  (10.06)  (11.74)

Income not chargeable to tax/ adjustment of brought forward losses  0.47  2.20 

Deduction under Chapter VI-A of the Income Tax Act, 1961  (7.77)  (6.80)

Tax at lower rate on sale of immovable property  (58.42)  –   

Income tax for earlier years  0.01  0.04 

Effect of other adjustments- fair valuation as per Indian Accounting 
Standards, etc.

 (26.56)  (12.68)

Net adjustments  (102.33)  (28.98)

Total tax expense as per Consolidated Profit or Loss  76.75  (16.04)

38. Other Comprehensive Income                                                                                                                               (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Net gain on fair valuation of investments in equity instruments measured at 
FVTOCI

 (462.80)  1,753.58 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan  2.37  0.97 

Total  (460.43)  1,754.55 

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Net gain on fair valuation of investments in equity instruments measured at 
FVTOCI

 (44.45)  254.13 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan  0.59  0.24 

Total  (43.86)  254.37 

Total other comprehensive income (net of taxes)  (416.57)  1,500.18 
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39. Contingent Liabilities and Commitments (to the extent not provided for)
(a) Contingent Liabilities

Particulars As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

In respect of the Parent company  Refer note (b) below  Refer note (b) below 

In respect of one of the subsidiary company- Alfred Herbert Limited

Claims against the subsidiary company not acknowledged as debts

 Excise/ Service Tax Authorities  20.06  20.06 

 Goods and Services Tax Authorities  165.51 –

 Customs Authorities  12.88  12.88 

 Demand from ex-employees  Amount not ascertainable  Amount not ascertainable 

 Interest/ penalty in respect of above demands  Amount not ascertainable  Amount not ascertainable 
 

 The amounts shown above represent the best possible estimates arrived at on the basis of available information. The 
uncertainties and timing of cash flows are dependent on the outcome of different legal processes which have been 
invoked by the respective companies included in the Group or the claimants, as the case may be, and therefore, cannot 
be estimated accurately. The respective companies included in the Group does not expect any reimbursement in respect 
of above contingent liabilities. In the opinion of the management, no provision is considered necessary for the disputes 
mentioned above on the ground that there are fair chances of successful outcome of the appeals/ litigations.

 
(b) As at March 31, 2025
 In respect of an ongoing litigation concerning the Parent company’s tenancy for  one of the premises at Ballard Estate, Mumbai, 

pending final decision on the matter and determination of the amount, the interim compensation as directed by the Bombay 
High Court pursuant to a petition filed by the Parent company,  amounting to ₹ 80.68 Lakhs pertaining to the period from the date 
of impugned decree till March 31, 2025 and ₹ 2.31 Lakhs per month thereafter has since been deposited by the Parent company. 
The contentions made by the Landlord in the matter not being based on facts and circumstantial evidences, as advised 
legally, are not valid and an appeal has therefore been filed before the Small Causes [Appellate] Court, Mumbai. Pending 
this, considering the merit involved, amount of the rent for the said premises as applied consistently has been continued to 
be recognized in the books of accounts and no further provision in this respect has been considered necessary.

 As at March 31, 2024
 The Parent Company has since received a demand towards increase in rent (including applicable duties and taxes) 

aggregating to ₹ 49.47 Lakhs from Syama Prasad Mookerjee Port Kolkata- Estate Division in respect of one of its premises 
taken on lease from them. The liability towards rent as invoiced as per the lease agreement has been recognised and paid 
by the Parent company. The matter has been taken up with the Port Trust Authorities and pending final resolution of the 
matter, no further liability in this respect is expected to materialise.

(c) Commitments
 The Group does not have any commitment outstanding as at the balance sheet date.

40. Disclosures as required by Indian Accounting Standard 37 “Provisions, Contingent liabilities and Contingent assets”

 A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity. During 
the normal course of business, unresolved claims remain outstanding. The inflow of economic benefits, in respect of such 
claims cannot be measured due to uncertainties that surround the related events and circumstances.
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41. Related Party Disclosures

 Information under Ind AS 24 “Related party disclosures” are as follows:

(I) Name of the related parties and description of relationship

 (a) Key management personnel (“KMP”) 1. Mr. A.V.Lodha- Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

   2. Mr. H.V.Lodha- Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 

   3. Late Mr. S.S.Jain- Independent Non-Executive Director 
(deceased on November 6, 2023)  

   4. Ms. Simika Lodha- Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

   5. Ms. A.Bhandari- Independent Non-Executive Director

   6. Mr. P.K.Madappa- Independent Non-Executive Director

   7. Mr. A.Poddar- Independent Non-Executive Director 
(appointed w.e.f December 27, 2023)

   8. Mr. Vikram Matta- Chief Executive Officer (resigned w.e.f 
May 31, 2024)

   9. Mr. Partha Pratim Das- Chief Executive Officer (appointed 
w.e.f June 1, 2024)

   10. Ms. Shobhana Sethi- Company Secretary & Chief Financial 
Officer (resigned w.e.f November 8, 2024)

   11. Mr. Ananda Bhattacharyya- Company Secretary & Chief 
Financial Officer (from November 9, 2024 up to May 23, 
2025)

 (b) Other related parties with whom the Groups had transactions

  (i) Close members of family (“Relatives”) of KMP 1. Ms. Anamika Lodha- spouse of Mr. H.V.Lodha

   2. Mr. Vardhaman Lodha- son of Mr. A.V.Lodha

   3. Ms. Avni Arya- daughter of Mr. A.V.Lodha

   4. Ms. Srishti Lodha- daughter of Mr. A.V.Lodha 

   5. Ms. Samvika Lodha- daughter of Mr. H.V.Lodha

   6. Ms. Anoushka Lodha- daughter of Mr. H.V.Lodha

  (ii) Enterprises over which KMP and/or their 1. Mr. Aditya Vikram Lodha [Karta of Rajendra Singh Aditya
       relatives have significant influence  Vikram (HUF)] - Promoter

   2. Jain Industrial and Commercial Services Pvt. Ltd.- Promoter 

   3. Mr. Vijay Tandon (Trustee of Iris Family Trust)- Promoter

   4. Elsi Services LLP- Promoter

   5. La Crème De La Crème Services LLP- Promoter



113

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 (Contd.)

(II) Transactions with related parties                                                                                                                      (₹ in Lakhs)

Sl. 
no. Nature of transaction/ Name of related party

Key 
management 

personnel

Other related 
parties

(i) Rental income
La Crème De La Crème Services LLP  –    24.63 

 (–)  (16.56)
(ii) Sitting Fees

Mr. A.V.Lodha  0.55  –   
 (0.60)  (–) 

Mr. H.V.Lodha  0.40  –   
 (0.50)  (–) 

Ms. Simika Lodha  0.40  –   
 (0.50)  (–) 

Late Mr. S.S.Jain –   –   
 (0.35)  (–) 

Ms. A.Bhandari  0.60  –   
 (0.90)  (–) 

Mr. P.K.Madappa  0.80  –   
 (0.90)  (–) 

Mr. A.Poddar  0.50  –   
 (0.20)  (–) 

(₹ in Lakhs)

Sl. 
no.

Nature of transaction/ Name of related party Key 
management 

personnel

Other related 
parties

(iii) Final dividend paid to equity shareholders (gross)

Mr. A.V.Lodha  1.52  –   

 (1.33)  (–) 

Mr. H.V.Lodha 1.74  –   

 (1.53)  (–) 

Ms. Simika Lodha  8.82  –   

 (7.72)  (–) 

Ms. Anamika Lodha  –    8.82 

 (–)  (7.72)

Mr. Aditya Vikram Lodha [Karta of Rajendra Singh Aditya Vikram (HUF)]  –    0.33 

 (–)  (0.28)

Mr. Vardhaman Lodha*  –    –   

 (–)  (–) 

Jain Industrial and Commercial Services Pvt. Ltd.  –    1.53 

 (–)  (1.34)

Ms. Samvika Lodha  –    0.01 

 (–)  (0.01)

Ms. Anoushka Lodha*  –    0.01 

 (–)  (0.01)
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Sl. 
no.

Nature of transaction/ Name of related party Key 
management 

personnel

Other related 
parties

Elsi Services LLP*  –    –   

 (–)  (–) 

Mr. Vijay Tandon (Trustee of Iris Family Trust)*  –    –   

 (–)  (–) 

Ms. Avni Arya*  –    –   

 (–)  (–) 

Ms. Srishti Lodha*  –    –   

 (–)  (–) 

(iv) Remuneration

Mr. Vikram Matta  2.32  –   

 (11.12)  (–) 

Mr. Partha Pratim Das  18.43  –   

 (–)  (–) 

Ms. Shobhana Sethi  3.12  –   

 (3.78)  (–) 

Mr. Ananda Bhattacharyya  3.49  –   

 (–)  (–) 

 Footnote:
 Figures in brackets pertain to previous year.

 * Figures are below the rounding off norms of the Group

(III) Details of remuneration paid/ payable to KMP                                                                                                   (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Short-term employee benefits

Salary

Mr. Vikram Matta  2.18  10.30 

Mr. Partha Pratim Das  18.23  –   

Ms. Shobhana Sethi  2.88  3.49 

Mr. Ananda Bhattacharyya  3.49  –   

 26.78  13.79 

Post employment benefits

Contribution to provident fund

Mr. Vikram Matta  0.14  0.82 

Mr. Partha Pratim Das  0.20  –   

Ms. Shobhana Sethi  0.24  0.29 

Mr. Ananda Bhattacharyya  –    –   

 0.58  1.11 

Total  27.36  14.90 

 Note: The above remuneration does not include provision for gratuity, which is determined for the Parent Company as a whole.
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(IV) Other notes:
 i) The transactions with related parties have been entered at an amount which are not materially different from those 

on normal commercial terms.

 ii) The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No provision for bad or doubtful debts has been 
recognised in current year and previous year in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.   

42. Earnings per share

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

(a) Amount used as numerator- Profit after tax as per consolidated 
statement of profit and loss (₹ in Lakhs)

 634.72  67.47 

(b) Weighted average number of equity shares used as the denominator 
for computing basic and diluted earnings per share (*)

 7,71,429  7,71,429 

(c) Face value of equity shares (₹)  10  10 

(d) Basic earnings per share (₹)  82.28  8.75 

Diluted earnings per share (₹)  82.28  8.75 

 (*) The Parent company does not have any dilutive potential equity shares

43. Segment reporting

(a) The Group operates mainly in one business segment, viz., investing in immovable properties, fixed deposits, securities 
including equity, bonds, mutual funds, and carrying out other non-banking financial activities, and therefore, the segment 
reporting in accordance with Indian Accounting Standard 108 “Operating Segments” is not applicable to the Group.

(b) Geographical information

 The Group operates entirely within India and as such, separate geographical information has not been disclosed.

    

44 . Disclosures for leasing arrangements

(A) Group as a Lessee

(i) Nature of lease: 

 The Group’s significant leasing arrangements are in respect of the following assets:

 Premises obtained on lease for administrative offices.  

(ii) Amount recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss in respect of lease of low value assets have been 
disclosed in note no. 36.1. 

(iii) Movement in lease liabilities during the year:

Particulars (₹ in Lakhs)

As at March 31, 2023  18.53 

Finance costs accrued during the year (Refer note no. 32)  1.16 

Payment of lease liabilities during the year  (18.82)

As at March 31, 2024  0.87 

Finance costs accrued during the year (Refer note no. 32)  0.10 

Payment of lease liabilities during the year  (0.11)

As at March 31, 2025  0.86 
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(iv) The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of lease liabilities on an undiscounted basis:

Particulars (₹ in Lakhs)

As at March 31, 2024

Less than one year  1.67 

One to five years  0.45 

More than five years  1.12 

Total  3.24 

As at March 31, 2025

Less than one year  0.11 

One to five years  0.45 

More than five years  1.00 

Total  1.56 

(B) Group as a Lessor

(i) Nature of lease:

 The Parent company has given premises on lease. The income from lease recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit 
and Loss is ₹ 49.27 Lakhs (March 31, 2024- ₹ 40.01 Lakhs).

 The table below provides details regarding contractual maturities of rent receivable by the Parent company on undiscounted 
basis:

Particulars (₹ in Lakhs)

As at March 31, 2024

Less than one year  40.01 

One to two years  17.93 

Two to three years  17.93 

Three to four years  20.41 

Four to five years  –   

More than five years  –   

Total  96.28 

As at March 31, 2025

Less than one year  46.64 

One to two years  40.01 

Two to three years  17.93 

Three to four years  17.93 

Four to five years  20.41 

More than five years  –   

Total  142.92 
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45. Post retirement employee benefits

 The disclosures required under Indian Accounting Standard 19 ‘’Employee Benefits’’ are given below:

 Defined contribution plan   

 Employee benefits in the form of provident fund are considered as defined contribution plan.

 The contributions to the respective fund are made in accordance with the relevant statute and are recognised as expenses 
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contribution. The contributions to the defined contribution 
plan, recognised as expense in the consolidated statement of profit and loss are as under:

(₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Employer’s contribution to provident fund  0.92  1.53 

Total  0.92  1.53 

 Defined benefit plan   

 The Parent company has a defined benefit gratuity plan. Every employee who has completed five years or more of service 
is entitled to gratuity on terms not less favourable than the provisions of the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. The Parent 
company makes annual contribution to the gratuity fund for future payment of gratuity to its employees.

 The present value of obligation is determined based on actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method, which 
recognises each period of service as giving rise to additional unit of employee benefit entitlement and measures each unit 
separately to build up the final obligation.

 The following table summarises the components of net defined benefit expense recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit and loss, the funded status and the amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet for the said plan:

 (i) Details of funded post retirement benefit plan are as follows:                                                            (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Gratuity (funded)

As at/ For the year 
ended March 31, 2025

As at/ For the year 
ended March 31, 2024

(I) Expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
and loss

Current service cost  0.67  1.15 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability/ asset  (0.01)  (0.01)

Total  0.66  1.14 

(II) Consolidated other comprehensive income

Actuarial (gain)/ loss arising from:

 - changes in financial assumptions  0.13  0.05 

 - changes in experience adjustments  (0.47)  (0.65)

(Returns)/ loss on plan assets  (2.03)  (0.37)

Components of defined benefit costs recognised in consolidated 
other comprehensive income  (2.37)  (0.97)
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(₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars
Gratuity (funded)

As at/ For the year 
ended March 31, 2025

As at/ For the year 
ended March 31, 2024

(III) Change in the present value of defined benefit obligation

Present value of defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the 
year

 20.74  19.70 

Interest expense  1.44  1.40 

Current service cost  0.67  1.15 

Benefits paid  (12.83)  (0.91)

Actuarial (gain)/ loss arising from:

- changes in financial assumptions  0.13  0.05 

- changes in experience adjustments  (0.47)  (0.65)

Present value of defined benefit obligation at the end of the year  9.68  20.74 

(IV) Change in fair value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets as at the beginning of the year  20.83  19.96 

Interest income  1.45  1.41 

Employers’ contributions  –    –   

Benefits paid  (12.83)  (0.91)

Re-measurement (Returns on plan assets excluding amounts included 
in interest income)

 2.03  0.37 

Fair value of plan assets as at the end of the year  11.48  20.83 

(V) Net (liability)/ asset recognised in the consolidated balance 
sheet as at the year end

Present value of defined benefit obligation  9.68  20.74 

Fair value of plan assets  11.48  20.83 

Net (liability)/ asset recognised in the consolidated balance sheet 
as at the year end

 1.80  0.09 

(VI) Actuarial assumptions

Discount rate (per annum) (in %) 6.35% 6.95%

Expected return on plan assets (per annum) (in %) 6.35% 6.95%

Expected rate of salary increase (in %) 6.00% 6.00%

Withdrawal rate Up to 40 years 42.00% 42.00%

41 to 54 years 18.00% 18.00%

More than 54 
years

22.00% 22.00%

Retirement/ superannuation age (in years)  58  58 

Mortality rates  100% of IALM 
2012-14 

 100% of IALM 
2012-14 
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(₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars

Gratuity (funded)

As at/ For the year 
ended March 31, 2025

As at/ For the year 
ended March 31, 2024

(VII) Major category of plan assets as a % of total plan assets as at 
the year end

Government securities 51.98% 67.01%

Equity shares of listed companies 23.47% 15.76%

Others 24.55% 17.23%

(VIII) Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation

Expected cash flows (valued on undiscounted basis)

Within the next 12 months  5.91  17.00 

Between 2 and 5 years  1.64  0.16 

Between 5 and 10 years  3.77  4.94 

More than 10 years  0.18  3.02 

Total expected payments  11.50  25.12 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end 
of the balance sheet date (in years)

3 3

(VIII) Sensitivity analysis on present value of defined benefit 
obligation

Discount rates

1.00% Increase  9.48  20.42 

1.00% Decrease  9.92  21.10 

Expected rates of salary increase

1.00% Increase  9.93  21.11 

1.00% Decrease  9.46  20.41 

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on defined 
benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring as at the balance sheet date. 
All sensitivities are calculated using the same actuarial method as for the disclosed present value of the defined benefits 
obligation at year end.

Average number of people employed 8 8

 Note: The above figures do not include disclosure in respect of the following entities included in the consolidated financial 
statements since the same is not applicable to the respective entities:

 Subsidiaries:

 (a) Herbert Holdings Limited

 (b) Alfred Herbert Limited   

(ii) Risks related to defined benefit plans:

 The major risks to which the Parent company is exposed in relation to defined benefit plans are:

(a) Interest rate risk

 The plan exposes the Parent company to the risk of fall in interest rates. A fall in interest rates will result in an increase in 
the ultimate cost of providing the above benefit and will thus result in an increase in the value of the liability.

(b) Salary risk

 Higher than expected increases in salary will increase the defined benefit obligation.
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(A) The accounting classification of each category of financial instrument, their carrying amount and fair value are as 
follows:                                                                                                                                                           (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Note 
no.

Carrying amount and fair value
Total 

Amortised cost FVTPL FVTOCI

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5  11.55  –    –    11.55 

 (11.28)  (–)  (–)  (11.28)

Other bank balances 6  951.92  –    –    951.92 

 (120.81)  (–)  (–)  (120.81)

Investments 7  411.60  1,256.34  6,564.14  8,232.08 

 (549.97)  (1,060.38)  (7,026.93)  (8,637.28)

Other financial assets 8  43.96  –    –    43.96 

 (35.68)  (–)  (–)  (35.68)

Total  1,419.03  1,256.34  6,564.14  9,239.51 

 (717.74)  (1,060.38)  (7,026.93)  (8,805.05)

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 16  0.58  –    –    0.58 

 (0.53)  (–)  (–)  (0.53)

Lease liabilities 17  0.86  –    –    0.86 

 (0.87)  (–)  (–)  (0.87)

Other Financial Liabilities 18  33.12  –    –    33.12 

 (34.44)  (–)  (–)  (34.44)

Total  34.56  –    –    34.56 

 (35.84)  (–)  (–)  (35.84)

 Footnote:
 Figures in brackets pertain to previous year     

(B) Fair value hierarchy
 The fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities are included at an amount at which the instrument could be 

exchanged in an orderly transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

 The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:
 (i) Fair value of cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances, other financial assets, trade payables and other financial 

liabilities approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

 (ii) Investments which are quoted in active market are fair valued at the reporting date based on the prevailing quote. 
Investment in unquoted equity shares have been valued based on the latest available audited financial statements. 
Investment in mutual fund are measured using NAV at the reporting date.

 The Group uses the following fair value hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:
 Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.    

 Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly.    

 Level 3:  Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as at March 31, 2025 (Contd.)
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 The following table provides the fair value hierarchy of the Group’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on 
a recurring basis:

 Financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis                                                                         (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars Note no. Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Investments in equity instruments 7  5,323.31  –    1,240.83  6,564.14 

 (6,032.85)  (–)  (994.08)  (7,026.93)

Investment in mutual funds 7  –    1,256.34  –    1,256.34 

 (–)  (1,060.38)  (–)  (1,060.38)

 Note:
 (i) Figures in brackets pertain to previous year    

 (ii) There have been no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 either during the year ended March 31, 2025 or year 
ended March 31, 2024.    

 (iii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement is as below:

(₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2025 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Balance as at the beginning of the year  994.08  914.95 

Additions during the year  –    –   

Sale during the year  –    –   

Fair value changes during the year  246.75  79.13 

Balance as at the end of the year  1,240.83  994.08 
      

47. Financial risk management- objectives and policies

 The Group’s principal financial liabilities includes trade payables, lease liabilities and other financial liabilities and principal 
financial assets include investments, cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances, and other financial assets.

 The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk . The Group’s senior management under the supervision of 
Board of Directors oversees the management of these risks. The Group’s financial risks are governed by appropriate policies 
and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance with the Group’s policies and 
risk objectives.

 (a) Market risk     
  Market risk is the risk or uncertainty arising from possible market fluctuations resulting in variation in the fair value 

or future cash flows of a financial instrument. The major components of market risks are currency risk, interest rate 
risk and other price risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk includes investments, other receivables, trade 
payables and other payables.

 (i) Foreign currency risk     
  Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes 

in foreign exchange rates. The Group does not have any foreign currency exposure and accordingly, is not subject to 
such risk.

 (ii) Interest rate risk     
  Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in market interest rates. Since the Group does not have any financial assets or financial liabilities bearing 
floating interest rates, any change in the interest rates at the reporting date would not have any significant impact on 
the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

 (iii) Other price risk
  The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from investments held by the Group and classified in the balance 

sheet at fair value through other comprehensive income.
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  To manage its price risk arising from investment in equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification 
of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

  The majority of the Group’s equity investments are listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) or the National Stock 
Exchange (NSE) in India.

  Sensitivity analysis- equity price risk

  The table below summarises the impact of increase/ decrease of the index on the Group’s equity and total comprehensive 
income for the year. The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity/ index had increased by 2% or decreased 
by 2% with all other variables held constant, and that all the Group’s equity investments moved in line with the index.                                                                                                                                          

(₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars Impact on other components of equity

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

NSE/ BSE Index- increase by 2%  106.47  120.66 

NSE/ BSE Index- decrease by 2%  (106.47)  (120.66)
      

  Other components of equity would increase/ decrease as a result of gain/ losses on equity securities classified as fair 
value through other comprehensive income.

 (b) Credit Risk

  Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or 
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily 
other receivables). The management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an 
ongoing basis. The Group periodically assesses the financial reliability of amounts outstanding, taking into account 
the financial conditions, current economic trends.

  The carrying amount of respective financial assets recognised in the consolidated financial statements represents the 
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

  The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of doubtful 
loans. Receivables are reviewed/ evaluated periodically by the management and appropriate provisions are made to 
the extent recovery there against has been considered to be remote.

  The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents, and investment in fixed deposits are insignificant as counterparties are 
banks with high credit ratings.

 (c) Liquidity risk

  Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group will not be able to settle or meet its obligations on time or at 
a reasonable price. The Group’s objective is to maintain optimum level of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral 
requirements at all times. The Group relies on internal accruals to meet its fund requirement.

  Liquidity Risk Tables

  The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with 
agreed repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal 
cash flows as at balance sheet date:
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  Maturity analysis of unamortised financial liabilities                                                                             (₹ in Lakhs) 

Particulars Carrying 
value

Contractual 
cash flows

Maturity analysis of contractual cash flows

Less than 1 
year

Between 1 
to 5 years

More than 5 
years

(A) As at March 31, 2025

(i) Trade Payable (Refer note no. 16)  0.58  0.58  0.58  –    –   

(ii) Lease liabilities (Refer note no. 17)  0.86  1.56  0.11  0.45  1.00 

(iii) Other financial liabilities (Refer note no. 18)  33.12  33.12  33.12  –    –   

Total  34.56  35.26  33.81  0.45  1.00 

(B) As at March 31, 2024

(i) Trade payables (Refer note no. 16)  0.53  0.53  0.53  –    –   

(ii) Lease liabilities (Refer note no. 17)  0.87  3.24  1.67  0.45  1.12 

(iii) Other financial liabilities (Refer note no. 18)  34.44  34.44  34.44  –    –   

Total  35.84  38.21  36.64  0.45  1.12 

  The Group has financial assets which will be realised in ordinary course of business. Further it has significant retained 
surplus lying invested in realisable securities and the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet 
expected operational expenses and obligations.

48. Capital management

 (a) Risk management

  The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a healthy capital ratio in order 
to support its business and maximise shareholder value. The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard 
their ability to continue as a going concern so that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits 
for other stake holders. The Group is focused on keeping strong total equity base to ensure independence, security, as 
well as a high financial flexibility for potential future borrowings.    

 (b) Dividend

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2025

For the year ended 
March 31, 2024

Year to which final dividend relates 2023-2024 2022-2023

Final dividend paid per equity share (₹) 4.00 3.50

Gross amount of final dividend (₹ in Lakhs) 30.86  27.00 
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49. Additional information as required under Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013
As at March 31, 2025                                                                                                                                             (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars

 Net assets i.e., total assets 
minus total liabilities Share in profit or loss Share in other 

comprehensive income
Share in total comprehensive 

income

As a % of 
consolidated 

net assets
 Amount 

As a % of 
consolidated 
profit or loss

 Amount 

As a % of 
consolidated other 

comprehensive 
income

 Amount 

As a % of 
consolidated total 

comprehensive 
income

 Amount 

Parent company

Alfred Herbert (India) Limited 89.16%  10,922.43 98.16%  623.04 164.76%  (686.33) (29.01%)  (63.29)

Subsidiaries

Indian

Alfred Herbert Limited (3.54%) (434.04) (0.29%)  (1.82)  –    –   (0.83%)  (1.82)

Herbert Holdings Limited 11.43%  1,400.83 2.13%  13.50 (64.76%)  269.76 129.85%  283.26 

Elimination 2.95%  361.54  –    –    –    –    –    –   

Total 100.00%  12,250.76 100.00%  634.72 100.00%  (416.57) 100.00%  218.15 

As at March 31, 2024                                                                                                                                               (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars

 Net assets i.e., total assets 
minus total liabilities Share in profit or loss Share in other 

comprehensive income
Share in total comprehensive 

income

As a % of 
consolidated 

net assets
 Amount 

As a % of 
consolidated 
profit or loss

 Amount 

As a % of 
consolidated other 

comprehensive 
income

 Amount 

As a % of 
consolidated total 

comprehensive 
income

 Amount 

Parent company

Alfred Herbert (India) Limited 91.32%  11,016.59 107.10%  72.26 93.61%  1,404.33 94.19%  1,476.59 

Subsidiaries

Indian

Alfred Herbert Limited (3.58%) (432.23) (24.00%)  (16.19)  –    –   (1.03%)  (16.19)

Herbert Holdings Limited 9.26%  1,117.57 16.08%  10.85 6.39%  95.85 6.81%  106.70 

Elimination 3.00%  361.54 0.82%  0.55  –    –   0.04%  0.55 

Total 100.00%  12,063.47 100.00%  67.47 100.00% 1,500.18 100.00%  1,567.65 
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50. Maturity Analysis Of Asset And Liabilities
 The table below shows  an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected  to be recovered 

or settled.                                                                                                                                                             (₹ in Lakhs)

Particulars
As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024

Within 12 
months

After 12 
months Total Within 12 

months
After 12 
months Total

Assets

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  11.55  –    11.55  11.28  –    11.28 

Other bank balances  –    951.92  951.92  –    120.81  120.81 

Investments  1,256.34  6,975.74  8,232.08  1,060.38  7,576.90  8,637.28 

Other financial assets  26.71  17.25  43.96  8.40  27.28  35.68 

Total Financial Assets (a)  1,294.60  7,944.91  9,239.51  1,080.06  7,724.99  8,805.05 

Non Financial Assets

Inventories  0.20  –    0.20  2.02  –    2.02 

Current tax assets (net)  –    2.88  2.88  –    13.80  13.80 

Investment property  –    3,042.27  3,042.27  –    284.26  284.26 

Property, plant and equipment  –    721.56  721.56  –    84.12  84.12 

Capital work-in-progress  –    –    –    –    3,606.26  3,606.26 

Intangible assets  –    0.34  0.34  –    0.44  0.44 

Other non financial assets  –    61.97  61.97  –    50.62  50.62 

Total Non Financial Assets (b)  0.20  3,829.02  3,829.22  2.02  4,039.50  4,041.52 

Total Assets (a+b)  1,294.80  11,773.93  13,068.73  1,082.08  11,764.49  12,846.57 

Liabilities

Financial Liabilities

Trade payables  0.58  –    0.58  0.53  –    0.53 

Lease Liabilities  0.03  0.83  0.86  0.86  0.01  0.87 

Other Financial Liabilities  4.92  28.20  33.12  4.81  29.63  34.44 

Total Financial Liabilities (a)  5.53  29.03  34.56  6.20  29.64  35.84 

Non Financial Liabilities

Current tax liabilities (net)  31.08  –    31.08  –    –    –   

Deferred Tax Liabilities (net)  –    714.34  714.34  –    734.64  734.64 

Other Non Financial Liabilities  12.03  25.96  37.99  12.62  –    12.62 

Total Non Financial Liabilities (b)  43.11  740.30  783.41  12.62  734.64  747.26 

Total Liabilities (a+b)  48.64  769.33  817.97  18.82  764.28  783.10 

51. The Parent company and its subsidiaries, neither had any transactions with companies, which have been struck off by the 
Registrar of Companies, during the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 nor any balance is outstanding as at 
the end of respective reporting period.

         
52. No funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources 

or kind of funds) by the Parent company and its subsidiaries to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign 
entities (“Intermediaries”) with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall 
lend or invest in party identified by or on behalf of the Parent company and its subsidiaries (Ultimate Beneficiaries). The 
Parent company and its subsidiaries have not received any fund from any party(s) (Funding Party) with the understanding 
that the Parent company and its subsidiaries shall whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities 
identified by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on 
behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.        
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53. In respect of the year ended March 31, 2025, the Board of Directors of the Parent company has proposed a final dividend 
of ₹ 5 (50%) per share to be paid on fully paid equity shares. The said dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting and accordingly, has not been included as a liability in these consolidated financial statements. 
The proposed equity dividend is payable to all holders of fully paid equity shares.

54. The Parent company’s land at Whitefield, Bengaluru has since been sold pursuant to the deed of conveyance executed 
on May 8, 2025 for an agreed consideration of ₹ 48,590.00 Lakhs. The transaction being entered into subsequent to the 
balance sheet date, necessary adjustment in this respect will be given effect to in the subsequent period.

55. Comparative figures of the previous year have been regrouped/ rearranged wherever considered necessary to make them 
comparable with those of the current year’s figures.

56. The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors of the Parent company on May 23, 
2025 for issue to the shareholders for their adoption.

As per our report of even date attached    

For A L P S & CO. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm’s Registration No.: 313132E

A. K. Khetawat    H. V. Lodha

Partner  Director

Membership No. 052751    DIN- 00394094

 Partha Pratim Das P. K. Madappa

Place: Kolkata Chief Executive Officer Director

Date: May 23, 2025  PAN- ADEPD0664L DIN- 00058822
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ALFRED HERBERT (INDIA) LIMITED

Form AOC-1
(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of
subsidiaries/associate companies/joint ventures

Part “A”: Subsidiaries
(Information in respect of each subsidiary to be presented with amounts in Rs. lakhs)

Sl. No. Particulars Details

1. Name of the subsidiary Alfred Herbert Limited

Herbert Holdings Limited

2. Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if 

different from the holding company’s reporting 

period

N.A.  

3. Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the last 

date of the relevant Financial year in the case of 

foreign subsidiaries

N.A.

4. Share capital Alfred Herbert Limited – Rs.90.00

Herbert Holdings Limited – Rs.22.00

5. Reserves & Surplus Alfred Herbert Limited – (Rs.524.04)

Herbert Holdings Limited – Rs.1378.82

6. Total Assets Alfred Herbert Limited – Rs.6.13

Herbert Holdings Limited – Rs.1620.91

7. Total Liabilities Alfred Herbert Limited – Rs.440.17

Herbert Holdings Limited – Rs.220.09

8. Investments Alfred Herbert Limited – Nil

Herbert Holdings Limited – Rs.1465.24

9. Turnover Alfred Herbert Limited – Rs.1.96

Herbert Holdings Limited – Rs.18.59

10. Profit before Taxation Alfred Herbert Limited – Rs.(1.82)

Herbert Holdings Limited – Rs.18.07

11. Provision for Taxation Alfred Herbert Limited – Rs. Nil

Herbert Holdings Limited – Rs.4.57

12. Profit after Taxation Alfred Herbert Limited – Rs.(1.82)

Herbert Holdings Limited – Rs.13.50

13. Proposed Dividend Nil in the case of both the Companies

14. % of shareholding 100% in the case of both the Companies

For A L P S & CO. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s Registration No.: 313132E
A. K. Khetawat    H. V. Lodha
Partner  Director
Membership No. 052751    DIN- 00394094

 Partha Pratim Das P. K. Madappa
Place: Kolkata Chief Executive Officer Director
Date: May 23, 2025  PAN- ADEPD0664L DIN- 00058822


